

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

5-17-2024

High School Teacher Perceptions About Reading Strategies That Support African American and Hispanic Students

Sherrie Sudler Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Sherrie Sudler

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Cathryn Walker, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Amy White, Committee Member, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

High School Teacher Perceptions About Reading Strategies That Support African

American and Hispanic Students

by

Sherrie J. Sudler

MA, Wilmington University, 2018

BS, Neumann University, 2004

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

May 2024

Abstract

The problem addressed by the study was African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores remain the lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in a district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. Using Freire's theory of critical pedagogy, high school teachers' perceptions of their implementation of instructional strategies in reading were explored. Data were collected using semistructured interviews of 10 participants who met the inclusion criteria and volunteered to participate in interviews. Data analysis included a priori coding and open descriptive coding identifying codes, categories, and themes. The emergent themes included findings about (a) culturally relevant and differentiated practices, (b) engagement opportunities that promote social/emotional development and social justice, (c) support from stakeholders providing professional learning and culturally relevant resources, and (d) school and community partnerships. The resulting project, a white paper project with recommendations, was created to inform stakeholders of the study findings and propose actions for consideration. Understanding high school teachers' perceptions of how they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students could inform leaders' decision making regarding how to strengthen instructional practices along with parent and community engagement for this population of students, thereby resulting in improved student achievement and positive social change.

High School Teacher Perceptions About Reading Strategies That Support African American and Hispanic Students.

by

Sherrie J. Sudler

MA, Wilmington University, 2018 BS, Neuman University, 2004

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

May 2024

Dedication

To my parents, Gloria J. Brown, Benjamine J. Brown, Sr. and Edward H. Sudler, Sr. You have all shown the accomplishments of drive, determination, and perseverance for your children to show us a better life and that education is your key to the world. Your time and sacrifice are unmatched. This accomplishment reflects all that you have instilled in me—faith, service, and social justice. I love you!

Acknowledgments

Many people have contributed to my personal and professional growth. The completion of this dissertation reflects the love and support shown to me. First, I would like to thank my parents for serving as a guide in acting to support one's community. You have shown that through action, faith, and persistence, many positive changes happen in life. Your prayers have covered, protected, and uplifted me. Thank you for continuing to uplift me and entertain me with your comedy. My brothers, Edward, Sean, BJ, and Brandon, have shown me unlimited support through encouraging words. Words cannot describe what it is like being the youngest and only girl. To my sisters-in-love, Amber and Erin, you both have been such a strong and encouraging woman for our family as a whole. I know you all have my back.

My extended family—grandmothers, Margaret, Ozella, and Mary; aunts, Dorothy, Phyllis, Margaret Ellen, and Joyce; and first my cousins, particularly Coli and Nina—is an amazing example of what a passionate, powerful, and strong woman can accomplish. Your individuality and strengths in various aspects of life are a constant source of my foundation. My nieces, Alexis, Aftin, Jasmine, Eris, and Natalia, and my nephews, Darnell, Jonah, Benjamin, and Kaden, have been the reason I continue to strive in deepening my social voice and showing our future there are amazing things life has to offer.

My friends and colleagues, in FAME Delaware, and beyond, have stretched my thinking, held me accountable, and continued to reshape my thinking about education and uplifting society.

My awesome committee members, Dr. Cathryn Walker and Dr. Amy White, have given endless encouragement and wisdom through their sisterly correction and communication. Both gave me concepts to think about related to and well beyond my study. They have continued to show dedication and persistence supporting me and the field of education.

Last, but not least, my dear Sorors from the National Sorority of Phi Delta Kappa, Incorporated and Zeta Phi Beta Sorority, Incorporated have guided and uplifted me to the direction of my personal and professional growth. My sisters have encouraged and inspired me beyond belief to not only give back to my community, but to be the change in my community.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	V1
Se	ction 1: The Problem	1
	The Local Problem	1
	Rationale	4
	District Initiatives for Reading Instructional Strategies	4
	SAT Scores in Reading	5
	Conclusion and Summary of Rationale	7
	Definition of Terms	7
	Significance of the Study	9
	Research Question	10
	Review of the Literature	11
	Conceptual Framework	. 11
	Review of the Broader Problem	. 18
	Implications	43
	Summary	44
Se	ction 2: The Methodology	45
	Qualitative Research Design and Approach	45
	Participants	47
	Criteria	. 48
	Sample Size	. 49
	Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants	. 50
	Researcher–Participant Working Relationship	. 51

Protection of Participants' Rights	52
Data Collection	53
Interview Protocol	54
Data Gathering	56
Data Tracking and Storage	58
Access to Participants	59
Role of the Researcher	59
Data Analysis Methods	60
Coding	60
Evidence of Quality	62
Data Analysis Results	65
Compiling	68
Disassembling	69
Reassembling	71
Interpreting	73
Concluding	74
Field Journal	75
Findings Aligned With Research Problem and Questions	76
Theme 1: Teachers' Use of Culturally Relevant Pedagogy and	
Differentiated Practices	77
Theme 2: Teachers Emphasize the Need for Opportunities for Student	
Engagement	84

Theme 3: Teachers' Need of Support From District and Campus	
Stakeholders	92
Theme 4: Teacher Support Needed in Developing and Promoting Family	
and Community Partnerships	98
Discrepant Cases	102
Evidence of Quality	103
Member Checking	105
Summary of Findings	106
RQ	107
Project Deliverable	112
Conclusion	114
Section 3: The Project	115
Description and Goals of a White Paper Project	116
Conceptual Framework	117
Rationale	118
Review of the Literature	119
White Papers in Education to Support Positive Change	120
Findings Aligned With Writing A White Paper	121
PLCs	124
Teacher PD: Differentiation	125
PD: Data Analysis	127
PD: Culturally Relevant Supplemental Resources	129
PD: Teaching Reading in All Core Content Areas	131

Stakeholder Advisory Boards	133
Annual Needs Assessment/ Program Evaluation	136
School to Family Collaboration	138
Community Partnerships	141
Summary of Literature Review	144
Project Description	145
Needed Resources and Supports	147
Potential Barriers	148
Proposal for Implementation and Timeline	149
Project Evaluation Plan	154
Description of Key Stakeholders	156
Project Implications	157
Summary of Positive Social Change Implications	157
Importance of Project to Local Stakeholders and in a Larger Context	157
Conclusion	158
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	159
Project Strengths and Limitations	160
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	162
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	163
Reflection on Importance of the Work	164
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	165
Conclusion	166

References	169
Appendix A: The Project	201
Appendix B: Interview Questions	226
Appendix C: A Priori Codes Connected to Freire's Theory and Scholarly	
Definition	228
Appendix D: Sample of Text Excerpts and a Priori Codes	229
Appendix E: Coding Table	230

List of Tables

Table 1. Mean SAT Reading Scores by Race in High Schools at the Study District, by	
School Year	6
Table 2. Percentage of Students Meeting Proficiency on the SAT in Reading by Race for	<u>.</u>
the Study District and State, by School Year	6
Table 3. Paulo Freire's Theory of Critical Pedagogy Aligned to District Instructional	
Principles1	7
Table 4. Participant Demographics	.9
Table 5. Theme Number, Description, and Count of Codes by Theme	'3
Table 6. Timeline for Implementation of Project	2
Table 7. Roles and Responsibilities	3

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

In a northeastern state with a rural, suburban mixed community, standardized test scores have been lower for African American and Hispanic high school students than for their peers of other ethnicities. The problem addressed by the study is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. The problem is meaningful at the local study district. For example, campus educators (a) implemented campus-adopted instructional principles, (b) implemented a new curriculum with embedding reading in all content areas, (c) invested in additional assessment platforms to assess student areas for growth, (d) focused on the use of instructional strategies in professional learning communities (PLCs), (e) implemented response to intervention (RTI) and multitiered systems of support (MTSS) classes, (f) provided reading professional development (PD) opportunities focused on strategies for diverse populations, and (g) built a trauma-informed school team aimed at supporting the Hispanic and African American students' needs. The gap in practice is that despite literacy initiatives implemented by district and campus personnel to support African American and Hispanic students, the achievement gap has persisted for these students compared to European American and Asian Americans (College Board SAT Scores for study district 2017-2022). It is possible that the gap in practice is also reflected in the lack of appropriate literacy strategies used in the high school classroom that would benefit African American and Hispanic students, despite literature that reflects the effectiveness

of using culturally relevant pedagogy (J. Kaiser et al., 2017; Kelly et al., 2021; D. Thomas & Dyches, 2019). In addition, the gap in practice could reflect the absence of appropriate relationship-building strategies that would benefit African American and Hispanic students, despite the literature that reflects the importance of building positive, trusting relationships to support student engagement, motivation, and a sense of community (D. Thomas & Dyches, 2019), hence the need to further investigate this problem in the local study district. This problem is also relevant at the national level.

On the national level, the gap in performance on literacy assessments for African American and Hispanic students compared to European and Asian American students has persisted. The performance of African American and Hispanic students has been below the average or proficient performance expected on these literacy assessment measures, and this low performance affects the educational opportunities available to these groups, such as access to Advanced Placement courses and college admittance (Medina Coronado & Nagamine Miyashiro, 2019; Peterson et al., 2016). Nam (2023) noted that African American and Hispanic student's college entrance exams were an average of 100 points to 200 points below their European American and Asian American counterparts. Therefore, there is still further need to understand and implement strategies for diverse student populations.

As there is more of a need to focus on reading strategies for diverse learners, there should be a continued focus on culturally responsive pedagogy and culturally responsive resources in the classroom. Researchers have shown multiple-approaches to the problem on a broader scale that are reflected in pedagogical practice to support diverse student

populations in the classroom using various instructional strategies to close reading gaps (Gay, 2002; Marzano, 2004; D. Thomas & Dyches, 2019). When teachers understand and appreciate cultural diversity, they develop high expectations for diverse learners, supporting Hispanic and African American students (Freedson & Eastman, 2016). Teachers with high expectations and responsiveness to cultural differences reflect higher student achievement across all ethnic groups (Peterson et al., 2016). Therefore, culturally responsive teachers who celebrate student diversity prepare students for academic and societal success.

As teachers prepare students for academic and societal success, it is important to for them to understand how to gain professional practices in culturally relevant instruction. Researchers have also reported that teachers want support and PD in instructional strategies to promote student success in reading (Goddard et al., 2000; J. Kaiser et al., 2017; Keyes, 2019). Students with diverse backgrounds gain a better understanding of themselves and others when teachers consider the students' connection to content and needs while planning and delivering instruction. However, differentiated academic support that includes culturally competent strategies is not often included in instructional plans to support students of color (J. Kaiser et al., 2017; Kelly et al., 2021). Therefore, this study was needed to investigate the instructional strategies used to support reading skill development for African American and Hispanic high school students.

Rationale

District Initiatives for Reading Instructional Strategies

The problem addressed by the study was that African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained the lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms from 2016 through 2024. District and campus educators implemented curriculum and instructional initiatives in 2016 to close the achievement gap for African American and Hispanic students in the local district. District-wide, direct instruction principles were implemented and must be used in lesson design and implementation. The principles include (a) warm-up, (b) connection before content, (c) chunking instruction, (d) responsive instruction, (e) student discourse, (f) feedback, (g) evidence of learning, (h) distributed summarizing, (i) student clarity, and (j) closure. According to both the curriculum director and the principal at the study district, all educators in the study district are expected to use these strategies for best practices for reading instruction. The curriculum director also shared that instructional principles are a common language among this educational group in the high schools in the district, and teachers can plan research-based lessons with a solid foundation. Therefore, many of the instructional principles provide a framework for how direct instruction should be planned and implemented to increase student engagement, student discourse, and student academic success.

District and campus leaders have also implemented a technology tool to analyze and track how student and teacher discourse shapes student direct instruction. The

leading technological platform, TeachFX, is used to assess and analyze classroom discourse. TeachFX is an analytical program that provides support for teachers to assess engagement levels, equity of instructional strategies, and student voice.

For struggling readers, schools have transitioned from RTI programming to MTSS. Like RTI, MTSS uses three tiers of support to reach students (Bender, 2012). With the transition from RTI to MTSS style practices to address student engagement and academic achievement, two key platforms have been adopted: Dreambox for mathematics and iLit for reading. The platforms are used to address each students' learning level. Both platforms are accessible during enrichment time or regular class instruction as a warm-up or exit ticket. Using these platforms, the school leaders have aimed to support teachers and their effectiveness in engaging students, providing equity of instructional strategies, and facilitating student voice.

SAT Scores in Reading

Despite the initiatives outlined above, SAT reading scores reflect a gap based on student race. The focus on improving literacy scores through the various strategies was noted in the study district's 2016–2021 and 2022-2027 strategic plan, 2016-2021 district Teaching and Learning Department meeting minutes, 2021-2022 content-area PLC meeting minutes from the three high schools, and 2019 content-area PD plans from the three high schools. Significant disparities continue in average SAT scores between African American and Hispanic students compared to their European American and Asian American peers (see Table 1).

Table 1

Mean SAT Reading Scores by Race in High Schools at the Study District, by School Year

Student race	2021-2022	2019–2020	2018–2019	2017–2018
African American	472	481	469	471
Hispanic	495	500	467	471
European American	535	530	530	540
Asian American	570	563	543	592

Note. Data from the College Board database of SAT scores.

Another measure other than scores is the percentage of students achieving proficiency in reading on the SAT. Table 2 shows the disparities between proficiency percentages among diverse student groups. Proficiency levels are determined by a score of 480 and higher on the SAT in evidence-based reading.

Table 2Percentage of Students Meeting Proficiency on the SAT in Reading by Race for the Study District and State, by School Year

Student race	2021-2022		2019–2020		2018–2019		2017–2018	
	Study	State	Study	State	Study	State	Study	State
	district		district		district		district	
African	38	28	49	36	46	36	47	41
American								
Hispanic	41	33	57	41	47	39	41	43
European	57	55	71	66	77	73	76	74
American								
Asian	79	75	86	81	71	81	89	86
American								

Note. Data source: The College Board database of SAT scores.

Whereas 71% of European American students and 86% of Asian American students at high schools in the district scored at the proficient level in SAT reading in 2020, only 49% of African American students and 57% of Hispanic students did. Similar gaps are observed across school years, as shown in Table 2. The problem is not limited to the study district; state scores also showed a disparity (see Table 2).

Conclusion and Summary of Rationale

With a deficit between reading scores on the SAT based on student race and over 1,700 students currently enrolled in the study district, despite a plethora of initiatives, educators need more information to help Hispanic and African American students in reading achievement. According to Nam (2023), African American and Hispanic students are scoring on average 100 points to 200 points below their European American and Asian American peers. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement.

Definition of Terms

The following definition of terms includes key terms critical to the comprehension of the study. Terms are specific to the study of high school teachers' perceptions of how they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement.

Equity or equitable practice: In teaching, equity is ensuring all students have the resources they need to propel them forward into academic and societal success. Kafele (2013) outlined explicitly how educators' mindsets shape students' self-perception.

Equitable practice sets a tone for positive culture and engagement to build connection with students to promote individualized and equitable learning.

Evidence-based reading: In this part of the SAT reading test, students read passages in the effort to extract citations to analyze common themes in one or various texts. Evidence-based reading is a form of reading used in standardized testing such as the SAT as well as reading instruction (College Board, 2021).

Instructional principles: Instructional principles are an instructional guide developed by administrative team and instructional coaches to identify the instructional focus as outlined in the strategic plan. The instructional principles from Kagan and Kagan (2015) also outlined examples of what each focal area looks like during classroom instruction.

Multitiered systems of support (MTSS): This three-tiered system of supports for student academic, behavioral, and socioemotional success is typically identified by a school-based or district-based team. Tier 1 is universal instruction, Tier 2 is more targeted for students who need additional help, and Tier 3 is more intensive. A connection between academic, community, and social emotional supports is made to promote student academic success (J. Lee et al., 2023; Texas Education Agency, 2021).

Professional learning communities (PLCs): PLCs serve as a team of educators at the building or district level to discuss student progress and outcomes and determine the best resources to support effective instructional practices (J. Jones & Vari, 2019).

Proficiency levels: Proficiency levels are the levels at which students meet educational benchmarks based on the national standards (College Board, 2021).

Proficiency levels are noted as whole numbers for scores; percentages of students achieving proficiency is also a useful metric.

Response to intervention (RTI): RTI is a three-tiered system of supports for student academic and behavioral success identified by a school-based or district-based team. Like MTSS, Tier 1 is universal, Tier 2 is more targeted, and Tier 3 is particularly intensive and differentiated for struggling students (Bender, 2012).

Significance of the Study

The findings of this study are significant because findings reveal further insight about the district stakeholders may consider the study findings to support instructional principles modeling instructional strategies that strengthen African American and Hispanic students' reading skills, including increased accountability to stakeholders, continuous improvement of reading interventions for learners, and social change in addressing achievement gaps. The administrative team promotes student success by continuously discussing student achievement and comparing student data across schools, the state, and the country. Educators, lawmakers, and the community become informed on the practices that support students and the areas of need within the learning organization to support improving the education of all students. Closing academic achievement gaps is not instantaneous. However, educators and scholar-practitioners can take direct actions to quickly narrow such gaps (Carey, 2019; Freedson & Eastman, 2016).

With the findings of this study, secondary school educators in the northeastern state may revise practices in reading instruction to better support all students. Improved

reading instruction for all students leads to overall school success. School success from better readers leads to students more likely staying in school and higher graduation rates, which lead to better opportunities in college and as a result promote access to employment. Consequently, as students learn and educators collaboratively plan instruction, data are the key to setting a firm foundation to support the educational community (Miller- Jones & Rubin, 2020). None of the instructional strategies at the local study district have addressed how the use of continual learner-centered strategies inform reading instruction, and materials must be chosen to reflect a diverse population. Reading strategies for diverse learners and academic achievement have the potential to inform the practices of the school community, and, therefore, reflect those ideas into society to promote positive social change. Therefore, gaining more information on teachers' perceptions of the instructional support and resources needed to support African American and Hispanic students could strengthen literacy and reading instruction and improve graduation outcomes.

Research Question

The research question was designed to address the problem of African American and Hispanic reading scores being lower than the scores of other student populations, while understanding the perceptions of teachers who provide reading instruction and their instructional supports and techniques. Understanding teacher perceptions of their instruction could provide some insight into why certain student demographics comprehend the reading curricula while others struggle. Examining high school teachers' perceptions of how they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African

American and Hispanic students' achievement could impact instructional practices and reflection in the future. A single research question (RQ) guided this study.

RQ: How do high school teachers perceive they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district?

Review of the Literature

The literature in this section provides a review of research that was analyzed related to teachers' instruction in reading to support to African American and Hispanic students. As the gaps in reading achievement were analyzed between African American and Hispanic students versus their European American and Asian American peers, it is clear that some strategies have worked well to further develop students reading skills and some have not. The literature in this section provides a review of the considerations and strategies implemented to further African American and Hispanic students reading success. The conceptual framework of Freire's (1970) critical pedagogy is centered in teachers using instructional materials to engage students in their academic success and societal success. In this theory, teachers engage students with concepts and curriculum and relate to them, and students collaborate with their teachers and peers to make a meaningful influence on their academic future.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study consisted of social and cultural awareness and strategies for educators to promote success in diverse populations of students. Freire (1970) stressed that pedagogy was not about using techniques on students

to strengthen learning but is a process of helping students develop critical thinking as a way of supporting self-determination and civic engagement. Freire (1970) influenced ways that teachers thought about and provided instruction to students. For example, Freire's critical pedagogy focused on concepts to build engagement of students; the educator and student collaborate to critically reflect on their environment to transform it. Freire shared that in critical pedagogy theory, it is important to recognize the ideas of teachers and students both as learners, developing critical literacy to identify equity and encouraging active inquiry. With teachers and students being learners in Freire's theory, there is a focus on collaboration and consideration of the power dynamics in the classroom. Critical literacy is an act of learners reading to understand in a critical way how the text is used and resources provided contribute to or take away from equity (Freire, 1970). Freire also encouraged active inquiry and participation to provide learners with opportunities to make autonomous decisions as they critically reflect and make decisions. Furthermore, Freire shared that a positive learning environment includes care, equity, and trust. Keeping Freire's theory in mind, educators can plan instruction based on providing students with real-life connections and engaging them in discourse. Freire also emphasized the importance of owning mistakes as a teacher, admitting that as teachers, one does not know everything, and that students have knowledge that may be used to help others in the classroom (Freire, 1970). In terms of materials selection, Freire noted that using materials that appeal to the student and connect to their backgrounds and reflected diversity is critical. In addition, Freire noted the importance of giving choice, allowing students to conduct their own research and to consider dialogue with students

around social justice issues to build awareness and critical literacy skills (Freire, 1970). Giroux (2010) described Freire's theory as a way to prepare students for life after their formal schooling and to be active participants in society and a commitment to their future. This means educators should focus on scaffolding their instruction to start with smaller concepts to more in-depth concepts for students to analyze on critical real-world level. Also, education is described as directive in teaching students to inhabit a particular mode of agency, enabling them to understand society and to understand their role and relationship in the world (Giroux, 2010). There was also further reflection on learners continuing to question the norms in society and stand up for social justice (Bauman & Tester, 2001; Cegielski et al., 2023). Freire's critical pedagogy served as a foundation to further explore how teachers can further engage African American and Hispanic students to increase their reading skills. Similarly, Ladson-Billings (2021a) described how educators using student background knowledge develops higher order thinking and leads to better academic outcomes. This further connects to why it is important to research teacher perceptions about reading strategies that support African American and Hispanic students.

Further, Ladson-Billings (2021b) described how Freire's theory on critical pedagogy also addresses multiculturalism in education creates unity and diversity in a social reconstructionist view. For my basic qualitative research, the phenomenon is the academic achievement gap of African American and Hispanic students in reading.

Reading strategies for diverse learners include establishing a collective efficacy between various stakeholders, such as district and building administration, parents, specialists, and

teachers. Educating ethnically diverse students relates to the phenomenon of this study that is to understand the gap in achievement of African American and Hispanic students in reading. Thus, understanding teacher perception on their implementation of reading strategies used to support African American and Hispanic students was critical to close the identified gap in practice. Also, Ladson-Billings (2021b) explained that basic pedagogical attributes of instruction include teachers mastering content knowledge and pedagogical skills. However, to appeal to a diverse student population, educators must understand the cultural characteristics and contributions of different ethnic groups (Freire, 1970; Ladson-Billings, 2021a). Diversity in education requires educators to practice cultural competency, which is an awareness of what each group of people believes, thinks, and feels based on their interactions with others (Freire, 1970; Moule, 2012). The research outcomes of all of these studies showed that human development and models of instruction are used and include examining one's own practices and chosen supports and materials used in the classroom as an educator. Therefore, using Freire's framework, the basic qualitative study of understanding teacher perceptions about reading strategies used to support the development of reading skills for African American and Hispanic to support student achievement served as a lens to view the information obtained in basic qualitative study. Conducting semistructured interviews of high school teachers to better understand their perceptions provided information that may serve to inform district leaders regarding guiding practices and strategies to close the gap in reading for African American and Hispanic students compared to their European American peers.

Freire's theory of pedagogy of the oppressed and the emphasis of equity, active inquiry, collaboration, student discourse, and student's backgrounds were used to develop the self-developed interview protocol and to analyze the information obtained through interviews. The director of teaching and learning at the study site explained that based on classroom walkthrough trends, district leaders from the teaching and learning department shared a common direct instruction theme of students not being engaged during instruction and with the content. As a result of students not being engaged during instruction and with the content during direct instruction, school leaders have worked toward building an instructional principal framework that promotes student engagement, cognitive-based teaching strategies, and visible learning (see Decristan et al., 2023; McDermott, 2021; Storm et al., 2010). Thus, as there is a focus on the use of direct instruction strategies through the instructional principles, there is a direct correlation to some of the instructional principles that district officials have required teachers use and Freire's pedagogy of the oppressed. For example, Freire's (1970) critical theory of pedagogy aligns with many of the instructional strategies promoted by the study district. Table 3 shows the correlation between how the key attributes of the critical theory of pedagogy aligns with the current instructional principles of the district. For instance, the key attributes of discourse about real world concepts and connection to content and collaboration of teachers and students in Freire's theory aligns with student discourse because students and teachers sharing responsibility for talking in carefully planned, discussion-based lessons. Students are actively involved in the learning of concepts through explaining, questioning, reflecting, synthesizing, and debating. Also, social

justice and restorative practice that creates a sense of community and using culturally relevant resources and instruction representative of students in classroom in Freire's key attributes align with responsive instruction from the instructional principles. Responsive instruction includes research-based instructional tools and practices based on diverse needs, desires, and interests. They align because teachers are using resources relevant to student population during instruction and as support resources. Lastly, preteaching students background information about a concept such as vocabulary or topical issues and information and student voice and student choice from Freire's critical theory of pedagogy aligns with the instructional principle connection before content. Connection before content defines intentional activities throughout the lesson that build relationships, clarify relevance, and promote rigor to allow all students participate equitably. Connection before content aligns because students and teachers make connections with various activities that build a positive classroom environment, therefore engaging students and maximizing instructional time. Hence, as the district stakeholders worked to close academic achievement gaps, the leaders have looked toward aligning direct instruction methods with already researched and developed educational theory to promote the academic achievement of each student.

Table 3Paulo Freire's Theory of Critical Pedagogy Aligned to District Instructional Principles

Freire's key attributes	District instructional principle	Points of alignment
Discourse about real world	Student discourse is defined as	Students are actively
concepts and connection to	students and teachers sharing	involved in the learning
content	responsibility for talking in carefully planned, discussion-	of concepts through explaining, questioning,
Collaboration (teachers and students)	based lessons.	reflecting, synthesizing, and debating.
Social justice and restorative practice that creates a sense of community	Responsive instruction includes research-based instructional tools and practices based on diverse needs, desires, and interests.	Using resources relevant to student population during instruction and as support resources.
Culturally relevant resources and instruction representative of students in classroom		
Preteaching students background information about a concept such as vocabulary or topical issues and information	Connection before content defines intentional activities throughout the lesson that build relationships, clarify relevance, and promote rigor to allow all	Students and teachers make connections with various activities that build a positive classroom environment;
Student voice and student choice around assignments and how they complete the work	students participate equitably.	therefore, engaging students and maximizing instructional time.

Note: Created to compare Freire (1970) and study district Instructional Principles (2021).

By means of the direct instructional focus shifted to student discourse and engagement of students in the content as they are being instructed, the principal at the study site reported that this shift has boosted student learning based on standardized testing data. The principal also shared that in the study district, using materials and teaching strategies that support active engagement and student inquiry, dialogue, and collaboration have been established as instructional strategies to promote student learning

and achievement, and district leaders have required that they are used in classrooms to support instruction. The study is focused on the gap in practice of teachers engaging African American and Hispanic students in instruction, and the instructional strategies they use to strengthen reading skills and achievement to address the purpose of the study and provide insights into the gap in practice identified in the study district (see Freire, 1970). Data analysis included the use of a Priori coding, a deductive coding approach, using the conceptual framework, Freire's theory of critical pedagogy. Content analysis was used for qualitative data analysis. Content analysis is "A research technique for the objective, systematic, and quantitative description of the manifest content of communication" (Berelson, 1952, p. 18). By employing content analysis, using both deductive, a Priori coding, and inductive, open coding, to analyze the information obtained from participants, I obtained insights into the gap in reading practice pertaining to African American and Hispanic students compared to European American peers in the study district. Using inductive and deductive reasoning, I used predetermined codes based on the possible relationships of the phenomenon being studied with the framework, in this case; using inductive codes is a way of exploring new information that may be shared by the participants and assigning meaning based on the researcher's analysis of the intended meaning of the participant during the interview (see Peterson et al., 2016).

Review of the Broader Problem

The literature search strategy is important to obtain current peer-reviewed literature that informs the researcher regarding the present state of research related to the phenomenon being studied. In review of the literature, the topics explored included

concepts focused on reading assessments, reading interventions, instructional strategies and practices, PD, and student engagement. The review procedures included using various electronic databases, such as Google alert and RSS feed to receive up-to-date articles about reading interventions and academic achievement of diverse learners. In addition, EBSCO, ERIC, and Sage Publications provided published academic articles and books based on the topics searched, such as reading achievement for diverse learners, curriculum resources to increase reading scores for diverse learners, increasing African American and Hispanic reading scores, increasing African American and Hispanic student engagement, instructional practices for cultural competency, and student collaboration, just to name a few. Keywords related to the phenomenon being studied were used and included diverse student achievement, diverse student learning, barriers to diverse student learning, reading skill development, African American students, Hispanic students, Latino students, learner-centered literacy strategies, self-esteem and belonging + diverse students, high school, gap in reading scores, students of color, equity, student engagement, historical factors influencing African American achievement gap, teacherstudent relationships, grading, assessment, and culturally responsive pedagogy/instruction. In the next section, I review the topics identified in the literature that inform the state of the educational field related to the phenomenon that was explored in this study.

Learner-Centered Strategies to Engage Students

Research-based instructional strategies provide a solid foundation for reading instruction. As a focus for vocabulary instruction, Banditvilai (2020) and Dietrichson et

al. (2020) both investigated the implementation of learner-centered strategies in reading comprehension and stated that teaching vocabulary as a way to build background engages African American and Hispanic students with the content. Banditvilai researched the importance of literacy in lifelong learning using two instructional methods of building background knowledge and making connections with the content. Cognitive and sociocultural theorists such as Vygotsky (1978) and Erikson (1963) laid the foundation for the best instructional practices of children in elementary schools, according to Banditvilai. The findings were that 57% of the students in the study preferred student-centered literacy instruction over skills-based instruction.

Researchers have noted the importance of using varied teaching strategies for diverse student populations. Chiles (2019), Colwell et al. (2021), and Thomas et al. (2019) explored the topic of supporting diverse students. Thomas et al. focused their research on communities in honors programs by consistently incorporating culturally appropriate instruction. The results showed that institutional practices must meet students at their current academic and social needs. Chiles focused on providing student-centered instruction to promote student success. Chiles suggested that with the mandates schools and educators face during the instructional day, many educators are forced to teach students so they can earn a proficient score on standardized testing. However, Chiles stated that educators must do more to educate themselves on their students' interests and develop standards-based instruction projecting student interest.

Student perception and engagement are important to consider when designing instruction to strengthen student learning. In the Colwell et al. (2021) study, teacher

perception was used as a data tool to understand how students received instruction based on their interests, not the teachers' interests or what has been traditionally taught. In comparison, Coss (2019) conducted a quantitative study examining the relationship between student-centered approaches used in the music education classroom and student engagement and success. Coss shared how learner-centered instructional techniques increase student participation and student connectedness to core content areas. The findings of the study were how student interest used during instruction engaged students and pushed them to participate in their learning. Music and related arts classrooms are specific places students can take risks and include a variety of problem-solving, critical-thinking, and collaborative skills needed for success in society. Coss shared insight into the creative thinking process and how students are comfortable enough in the music class to become divergent thinkers, which is sharing and understanding various viewpoints on a specific issue.

As educators seek to increase learner-centered instruction, students tend to develop higher-order thinking and a deeper knowledge depth. Banditvilai (2020), Castro-Alonso et al. (2021), and Farmer et al. (2019) described the collaborative strategies that promote student understanding and connection to the content, furthering student analysis and relationship to real-world concepts and ideals. Ngoc Diep et al. (2022) and Wetzel et al. (2019) examined the choice of learning activities leading to students solving real-world problems and gaining skills needed to attain societal success. Critical thinking, communication, and metacognition are increased as collaborative learning strategies are used within the classroom. Researchers have explicitly used the terms *inquiry-based*,

problem-solving, hands-on, and participatory opportunities to promote students interacting more with the content (Baldock & Murphrey, 2020; Karan & Brown, 2022; Mao, 2023). As students investigate and participate, they are developing skills for creativity, critical thinking, collaboration, communication, and problem-solving.

Student Collaboration and Cooperative Learning

As a basis for research, compositional and improvisational literature provides support for various student activities for exploratory learning. Listening walks, doodles, and explorations are strategies used to introduce students to peer-assessments and shared learning experiences through lesson assessments, observations, and self-reflection. Coss (2019), Keyes (2019), and Mahur et al. (2019) analyzed the independence of students in solving problems, thinking creatively, and knowing when a good time is to collaborate with peers. Keyes investigated the factors that contribute to graduation rates and student engagement of high school students. The factors included classroom management strategies, time management, students' and teachers' academic mindsets, and teachers collaborating to establish a sense of community among students. Educators fostered relationships among students and employed instructional strategies incorporating consistent culturally appropriate examples to solicit and maintain student engagement (Cherng & Davis, 2019; Keyes, 2019). Making connections with students is imperative to promoting academic success.

The most effective classroom includes grouping students heterogeneously to support one another's logical progression through lessons and create a positive classroom environment (Ladson-Billings, 2021). Mahur et al. (2019) and Maslow (1970) posited

how educators can incorporate student engagement into instructional practices to increase student achievement. The researchers explored questions about cooperative learning, learning structures, lesson planning, team building, collaborative projects and presentations, assessment and grading, and student motivation and competition. As a basic principle, the authors explored the ideas of positive interdependence, individual accountability, equal participation, and simultaneous interaction to promote a learner-centered classroom. Mahur et al. explicitly provided research-based samples from experimental studies and research on cooperative learning to create examples of instructional practices. In addition, the researchers compared achievement gains between a cooperative learning classroom and the traditional classroom. As a result of using cooperative learning to promote a learner-centered classroom, educators can create a space of safety, security, and confidence in the school. Cooperative learning is a staple in students' learning 21st-century skills to prepare them for the future.

Similarly to Mahur et al. (2019), Dukes et al. (2023) explored and reflected on using collaboration as a format to encourage student participation and critical thinking. The ideas analyzed within the text included how to accommodate students of different abilities using team and role management, a reflection of grading options and choice of evaluation, and student engagement to promote a learner-centered classroom. Dukes et al. stated teachers guided and facilitated students in a learner-centered environment by teaching the skills of debate and connecting them to issues in everyday life.

Truckenmiller and Brehmer (2021) analyzed the importance and rationale for teaching vocabulary to students and how instructional practices should reflect student

need. The traditional method of teaching students the vocabulary word along with them searching for the definition was not working in tiered reading class, so a research study developed using various vocabulary-building strategies to increase student knowledge and usage of the words in their assignments and conversation. The strategies focused on mainly creating vocabulary notebooks to have students make real-life connections with the words on the weekly vocabulary list. To research vocabulary building strategies, Truckenmiller and Brehmer discovered students showed they were able to incorporate the words in their everyday conversation and build insight and skill on becoming a life-long learner and applying these skills to everyday life.

Grading and Assessment Practices

Grading and assessment processes influence how the instructional and evaluation process is perceived by students. M. Knight and Cooper (2019) researched ways grading can be restructured to reflect student achievement and comprehension based on student-centered experiences. M. Knight and Cooper more explicitly shared a grading manifesto incorporating rubrics, grading terms and principles, grade book entry samples, and grading policy and impacts of grading on student behaviors and attitudes. This information is used to rethink grading altogether. The grading paradigm needs a positive change, and the researchers compared the traditional grading paradigm with the standards-based grading paradigm to create a more student-centered approach to grading practices.

Teachers' use of equitable practices is critical to students' experiences in educational settings. Hite and Donohoo (2021) and Aguilar (2021) similarly outlined

equitable practices in assessing student academic achievement. Both resources explained the importance of continuing a conversation and dialogue on how to propel students of color forward academically and inevitably socially. Hite and Donohoo examined perceptions of equity through PLCs in which educators discussed their reflection and perception of their instructional practices. On the contrary, Aguilar focused on one-on-one efforts for equitable change in instruction. Aguilar shared stories from the author's role as an equity coach to enlighten classroom educators.

Equitable Instruction

Educators' self-reflection in the education arena is a priority to raise awareness of how one is perceived by the students they serve. Giles and Yazan (2023) and J. Jones et al. (2021) also shared that through collaborative efforts, both one-on-one and in a PLC, a shift in thinking on instructional practices occurs in which educators are motivated to become more self-reflective on their practices to strengthen the impact they have on all students. Through continued PD, dialogue that ensures equitable practice is more likely to change instructional practice and the perception on instructional practice.

Part of that integration of equitable practices includes connecting universal design to culturally responsive practices. Kieran and Anderson (2019) shared the similarities in culturally responsive instruction and universal design. The inclusion or merging of both practices provides better academic support and cultural connections to students of diverse ethnic backgrounds. Similarly, Abacioglu et al. (2020), Kafele (2022), Khalifa (2018), and Banwo et al. (2022) shared insights on providing instruction to African American and Hispanic students. The studies included the positive impact on teachers becoming more

aware of the perceptions they share during the instructional day. Self-reflection is vital in this regard. Khalifa focused more on school-level administration leading the charge to close academic achievement gaps by becoming self-reflective of their own perceptions. Kafele (2022) focused more on classroom teachers and explicitly all educators. As the authors shared some similarities and differences with their research, the overall message was that educators in general have a role of community and influence in shaping how students connect to the curriculum and push to excelling academically and socially.

Researchers have focused on qualitative studies on culturally relevant instructional strategies to close reading achievement gaps; however, a need remains to gather qualitative data to understand teachers' perceptions of these strategies and their need for support during implementation (Cruz et al., 2020; Donahue-Keegan et al., 2019). Kelly et al. (2021) concluded that culturally responsive instruction is difficult to implement. Teachers must know their students well, including student culture (Kelly & Djonko-Moore, 2021; Kelly et al., 2021). However, teachers also should consider critical consciousness and social change (Kelly et al., 2021). Such a critical approach can transform a reading curriculum to be more engaging for diverse students (Kelly & Djonko-Moore, 2021). While these researchers share insights on equitable instruction, there are various researchers that share what is going well in providing equitable instruction.

Equitable instruction is in the developing stages. However, some researchers shared what has been working thus far. J. W. Henderson et al. (2020), Cervetti and Wright (2020), Redding (2019), and Thomas and Dyches (2019) shared insights on

teachers having knowledge of their students' background and using that understanding to inventory resources used during classroom instruction. According to these researchers, African American and Hispanic students should have access to books and instructional text that contain ethnically diverse individuals.

Researchers have also shown using diverse material for instruction also supports students seeing themselves within the curriculum and reaching certain levels of success in school and society. Carey (2019) and Larson et al. (2020) shared that exposure to ethnically diverse reading resources propels students forward in other core content areas as well as preparing African American and Hispanic students for college and career options after graduation.

Researchers have also shared that the conversation for diversifying reading content does not just start in high school to prepare students for college and career readiness, but interventions start at an early age of preschool and elementary. DeBrey et al. (2019), Pittman et al. (2020), and Rambo-Hernandez et al. (2019) shared that elementary schools are reviewing the reading curriculum resources, implementing phonemic awareness, developing research-based decoding strategies, and also gaining support from students' families to further support reading and overall academic success. In addition, Fryer Jr. and Howard-Noveck (2020), Grace and Gerdes (2019), and Noguerón-Liu (2020) researched and shared the strong influence that family partnerships have on student academic and social success. They shared that strong bonds that teachers build with home positively impacted student engagement in the content and also gave the family a voice of representation as they collaborated with the school community.

Therefore, research findings have shown that early interventions, family collaboration, and selecting ethnically diverse materials increase student achievement in reading. In addition, building strong relationships between home and school builds relations to motivate students.

While building connections with students and their families, it has also been discovered through qualitative studies the positive effect of recognizing each students' diverse backgrounds and experiences. Randall (2021) and Troyer et al. (2019) both shared how connections with students and their families build an intrinsic support in students where they are extrinsically motivated to fully participate in reading classes and furthermore comprehend text better. This comprehension and motivation do not just positively effect reading success and scores on assessments, but also is positively correlated to other core content area success for students as well. With the interventions and support that are already known to be working with supporting African American and Hispanic students' reading achievement, educators should keep this in mind as we are addressing the learning loss during the COVID-19 pandemic.

There are various instances that educators know impact student learning and learning loss. For example, there is learning loss during extended breaks from school like during the summer. There are also reported effects to student learning loss due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Dorn et al., 2020; Kuhfeld et al., 2022). Dorn et al. (2020) and Kuhfeld et al. (2022) shared that learning among all student groups was heavily impacted during COVID-19. However, African American and Hispanic students suffered a greater loss due to access to curriculum materials that were aligned to state standards, engaging

to diverse groups of students, and included extra support that scaffolded instructional steps. In consideration of what educators know is working to support African American and Hispanic students reading achievement, there is also a need to also look at the interventions that are not working to support these students.

Reading interventions for students with diverse ethnic backgrounds, specifically African American and Hispanic students have been shown to positively effect student reading skill development if proven methods are utilized. However, there are some interventions and strategies that are not working. According to McFarland et al. (2019), with the positive reading interventions in place to support African American and Hispanic students, there are many more interventions needed that are proven to provide success with reading. McFarland et al. (2019), Merolla and Jackson (2019), and Willis (2019) shared that the current structure of RTI needs further emphasis on students of diverse cultural and ethnic backgrounds. Some interventions that have proven to not work are small group tutoring models (Fryer Jr. & Howard-Noveck, 2020). Dorn et al. (2020) stated that just focusing solely on reading scores and not the relationship-building strategies of the students is also something that is not working to support academic achievement. As a more natural approach to learning, educators should be focused on supporting academic, relationship-building, and social emotional success.

Likewise, some of the strategies commonly used in the classroom can further influence African American and Hispanic student reading scores in a negative way.

Dumont and Ready (2020) shared that specific strategies such as round robin reading, vocabulary searches, and unsupported independent reading does not address student

misconceptions and lacks a targeted approach to improving reading. Therefore, it is likely with strategies such as the ones noted, African American and Hispanic students that are already at a deficit will become disengaged from the content and curriculum.

Historical Perceptions on African American and Hispanic Achievement Gaps

Since the Supreme Court decision on equal education, the achievement gap in the reflects how African American and Hispanic communities have been at a continuous disadvantage of spoken and unspoken mechanisms in our education system that keep students below their European American and Asian American peers. Merolla and Jackson (2019) and Herring et al. (2022) described how differences in socioeconomic status, family cultural resources, school quality and racial demographics, and bias are linked to African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. Merolla and Jackson (2019) described the systems that prohibit African American and Hispanic students from achieving academic success, opportunity to earn post-secondary education, and societal success. Some of the systems are instructional resources, district feeder patterns, and parents not being able to have time to provide structures at home due to being at work. Furthermore, Morgan and Cieminski (2023) shared that not only do educators need to understand their own culture and the culture of others, they also need to make certain realizations to effectively interrupt the educational system and provide equitable opportunities for African American and Hispanic students. While teachers have a direct influence with students on a daily basis, there is an importance that educational leaders beyond the building level recognize these differences as well. Part of this realization is incorporating Mezirow's theory of transformative learning to understand how students

develop through stages of intercultural competence and sensitivity (Morgan & Cieminski, 2023). As educators reflect on the realization, it is imperative that they build purposeful learning experiences and welcoming environments to critically reflect on equity and building positive classroom communities.

Teacher Student Relationship and Classroom Community

When teachers build positive classroom communities and foster a positive relationship with their students, students have better academic and social outcomes. Mahoney et al. (2021) and Michael et al. (2023) both shared insights on how teachers can build a positive classroom environment by learning who their students were and meeting them where they are academically, showing care and compassion, and understanding equitable approaches all promote student achievement. This understanding from teachers also teaches students important skills about self-voice and character. Also, according to Wang et al. (2020), classroom climate plays a major role in student academic success. Students who have a positive connection with teachers in the classroom more consistently had positive social associations within the classroom and that built a sense of community thereby resulting in students feeling more comfortable to learn. In addition, Daily et al. (2019) also found that that middle and high school students had higher rates of academic achievement due to a positive classroom and positive school climate. Just as important as a positive classroom and positive school environment, students must also have a sense of belonging and a sense of understanding in their school community to promote academic success. Hussain and Jones (2021) researched the experiences students of color had in various academic environments. Their research findings were that positive perceptions

and connections with diverse peer groups gave students a sense of belonging and encouraged them to engage with the content and school community, therefore promoting student academic success.

The teacher-student relationship and a sense of community is important for student learning. Researchers have established that a student's academic mindset is key to a student feeling they belong in a learning community (Keyes, 2019). Belonging is a primary need for humans and feeling accepted and classroom belonging, or sense of community at both the school and classroom levels; seminal literature has established the importance of meaningful relationships and a sense of belonging for student learning (Goodenow 1993; Keyes, 2019; Ostermann, 2000). Belonging is important for student engagement and engagement is critical to student learning and achievement. In a qualitative study exploring the perceptions of 31 high school students regarding that specific teacher actions contribute to students' belonging and engagement, the researchers found (a) fostering relationships between students and (b) employing teaching practices that encouraged students to participate in the assignments and class activities (Keyes, 2019). The study findings were that students reported not feeling a sense of belonging or trust with teachers who provided few opportunities for connection with other students, strictly enforced rules, were disorganized, and who did not dispense discipline equitably. Students often described these teachers as new teachers or teachers who did not display a sense of excitement and passion about the topic they were teaching (Keyes, 2019). The quality of the relationship is particularly important during the high school years as students often struggle with transition into high school, and high school

students who become disengaged may experience a decline in academic performance, absences, feelings of loneliness, and isolation (Keyes, 2019). Findings from this study raise the question of factors that may influence teachers to build a close and trusting student-teacher relationship thereby strengthening a sense of belonging, and engagement. Overall, there should also be a focus on not only academic success but for personal connections, and kinship bonds in the African American and Hispanic community that are relationships shaped by community, connection, relationship-building strategies, and social and emotional learning supports.

Building School Community

Building trust and a close teacher student partnership is important for African American and Hispanic students. Moreover, extending the development of a community partnership with African American and Hispanic students' families is also an important consideration for teachers who desire to strengthen reading skills and achievement for this population of students. In a case study conducted by Miller- Jones and Rubin (2020), restorative justice practices were used to address racial tensions and to build a sense of community with high school students of color. The leaders, students and community members initiated town hall meetings and focused on giving students the voice and tools to influence systemic change at their high schools. Augustine et al. (2018) argued that attitudes and treatment of students of color can contribute to the achievement gap. Discrepancies in school experiences, resulting in greater discipline infractions for students of color compared to European Americans results in reduced time in the classroom thereby leading to reduced academic time and result in lower achievement

(Morgan & Amerikaner, 2018). J. Jones and Vari (2019) and Castro-Alonso et al. (2021) created resource texts for all stakeholders in education. Castro-Alonso et al. (2021) and Henderson (2023) described the school as a living system. This living system needs all parts working collaboratively and explicitly to facilitate the transition to benefit society. Castro-Alonso et al. analyzed relationships among stakeholders, discussed the role of coaching instruction, and described coaching in the community to aim toward the same vision. The researchers explained everyone's mutual stake in the outcome of students, the schools, and the community. Furthermore, Osterman (2000) described the results of students having a sense of belonging in their school community. When teachers and other building-level stakeholders support students' development, they have a sense of belongingness in the school. Without students having a sense of belongingness from a positive school environment, feelings of rejection and alienation develop (Osterman, 2000). Rejection and alienation lead to behavioral problems, which results in missed instructional time, lower engagement in classroom activities, lower academic achievement, and possibly dropping out of school or other instances of social and emotional distress (Miller- Jones & Rubin, 2020; Osterman, 2000). These stakeholders must come together as a support for students in the community (home for students) and the world at large (beyond the community). Vatterott (2015) explained the transitional process of making teachers and students allies in the instructional journey.

Social and Emotional Learning and Relationship-Building Strategies

While positive classroom and school environments are a key focus of students' engagement and academic achievement to close learning and achievement gaps, social-

emotional learning (SEL) is also a substantial component to incorporate into the curriculum. SEL not only builds a positive classroom environment through positive connects, the use of SEL also creates a sense of belonging while addressing inequitable practices and microaggressions. Ackerman-Barger et al. (2020) shared that African American and Hispanic students shared their experiences with microaggressions and that affected their sense of belonging in the classroom and school. Even more so, J. Jones et al. (2020) shared that racial equity in academic success lies within the role of school climate and the implementation and practice of social and emotional learning. Likewise, Zhao et al. (2023) shared the result of positive and negative school climate on student achievement. Zhao et al. described an additional aspect of how building-level leaders can provide further support to teachers to improve academic achievement in marginalized student populations. Not only does the development and use of SEL improve the academic achievement and social growth, but the use of SEL has also been shown to have a net positive result for all students and also builds a support for diverse student groups, thereby preventing racial disparities from further widening. With a mindset to support all students with SEL resources and supports, and an explicit focus on the whole child, MTSS is a framework to support students' academic, behavioral, relationship-building, and social and emotional success.

MTSS

MTSS is a system of supports that focuses on the positive outcomes of student achievement that center around the whole child, but also builds on the foundation of systems, data, and practice. These foundations all circle equitable practice. Betters-Bubon

et al. (2023), Jackson (2021), and McMahon (2022) all shared how support staff members such as behavioral health consultants, school counselors, and social workers can further support MTSS practices to provide teachers with instructional supports and resources that can positively affect the academic success of students in the classroom. Therefore, as educators are preparing to provide instruction to students, MTSS practices should be implemented. In addition, the use of a multicultural pedagogy is important to incorporate in the MTSS practices as individual student needs are considered.

Preservice Teacher Training on Multicultural Pedagogy

As educators include a multicultural pedagogy into their instructional practices, it is equally or even more important to include resources and training to preservice teachers. Arsal (2019), Nganga (2020), Silva (2022), Subasi Singh and Akar (2021) all shared how training for preservice teachers to better understand cultural differences and various cultural components builds their multicultural pedagogy to better understand how to implement the pedagogy during instructional planning and in the selection of instructional resources for their classroom. These researchers agreed with the conclusions that preservice teachers must understand their own perceptions about the definition of culture and descriptors of culture. Just as similar, Delk (2019) and Oryan and Ravid (2019) shared that as student populations become more diverse, multicultural knowledge of students must increase to be better prepared to instruct culturally diverse students and prepared to acknowledge sociocultural resources and information that students bring to the classroom. Teachers also be comfortable facilitating conversations with their students about culture and diversity, while building a sense of community, respect, and a sense of

belonging with each student. As teachers build their own understanding of multicultural pedagogy through preservice practice and field-based experiences, they can use these opportunities to develop their culturally responsive strategies and to build on their own pedagogy, practices, and data-driven supports to promote academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students.

Culturally Responsive Strategies

Culturally responsive strategies prompt educators to respond to academic achievement gaps by developing instruction that recognizes and highlights the differences of each student. Civitillo et al. (2019), Kieran and Anderson (2019), and Muñiz (2019) shared how important it is for teachers to understand relationships between culturally responsive teaching and culturally responsive beliefs. For teachers to appropriately implement strategies, they have to engage in self-reflection on their own teaching and resources (Muñiz, 2019). While engaging in self-reflection, teachers can build and implement culturally responsive pedagogy that explicitly caters to their students' needs and also to the school community.

Culturally Responsive Pedagogy

Pedagogy is not just about instruction, but it includes the vision, community engagement, school leadership, and teacher instructional practices. Abacioglu et al. (2020), J. W. Henderson et al., (2020), Morrison et al. (2019), and Muñiz (2019) shared that culturally responsive teaching has been linked directly to student engagement, academic success, relationship-building, and social and emotional learning. Abacioglu et al. (2020) researched further to discuss teacher attitudes toward their PD and

et al. (2019), Jaber (2023), Morrison et al. (2019), and Tanase (2020) shared that there is a need for teachers to receive more PD on incorporating culturally relevant instructional pedagogy into their planning for instruction. Also, O'Leary et al. (2020) discussed how teacher attitude can and should be shifted to embraced diversity and see students as individuals to benefit all students learning. Once all students benefit from the learning experiences, they are able to see a future beyond their current social dynamics (Knight-Manuel et al., 2019). When teachers become more accepting of the diversity of their students and receive training to develop culturally responsive instructional practices, they are able to establish a classroom environment of acceptance with many resources that reflect the diversity of the students.

Culturally Responsive Texts

While teacher attitudes are shaped by analyzing data, participating in PD, and building positive classroom environments, they still work towards incorporating ethnically diverse references and texts that further build a sense of kinship among students. Muñiz (2019) and Nyachae (2021) both shared that teachers are gaining access to culturally diverse materials but are still working toward how to incorporate that into their teaching and other pedagogical practices as a way to build a positive classroom environment. Nyachae furthermore stated that teachers must also feel comfortable with having conversations about various culturally responsive material with diverse groups of students, so they are able to further reflect on the experiences of others and respect specific unique aspects about their students' diverse backgrounds. According to Kelly

and Djonko-Moore (2021), teachers should be focused on and address the influence of their own identity and understand themselves as well as building a connection with students and using a variety of approaches to transform their literacy curriculum. In addition, Zhu (2023) stated that culturally responsive references and conversations begin with understanding and a personal connection that educators must form with their students to achieve on an academic and social and emotional level. When students are led and supported by a teacher with care, connection and empathy, a supportive reciprocal rapport is built that fosters teacher implementation of asset, equity, and justice-oriented pedagogy (Zhu, 2023). Fowler et al. (2019) even researched the positive influence of teachers using culturally responsive resources when students are assigned homework and their communication with home. Fowler et al. stated that using culturally responsive texts and other resources gives families the opportunity to further engage with their child's education and to be supportive of their academic and social and emotional goals by building a kinship bond and connection beyond the school building. Therefore, engaging students of diverse ethnic backgrounds not only includes PD, and incorporating resources, but may also include forming bonds with students and their families. Some of these bonds are easier to make when the teacher has a similar ethnic background.

Diverse Student Demographics and Teacher Demographics

As student populations become more diverse, it is just as important to consider the bearing of teacher ethnicity and how they make connections with students. Redding (2019) shared that there are several areas affected by having a teacher of the same race or ethnicity. These factors include the teacher receiving more favorable ratings on classroom

behavior and academic performance, meeting or exceeding the standard on assessments, and having more positive behavioral outcomes when assigned to a teacher of the same ethnicity. Carothers et al. (2019) furthermore explained that education institutions' leaders should seek to recruit more teachers of various cultural backgrounds as a means to further support student academic achievement in addition to adopting initiatives that focus on underrepresented student groups. It is also important to analyze how organizations recruit teachers of diverse ethnic backgrounds. Carothers et al. and Redding explained that before students enter postsecondary education, there should be a plan to show students the positive impression they can make if they select a career in education. This is a recruitment effort that many high schools are taking on to further diversify their teacher population and recruit teachers with an understanding of the district educational system (Carothers et al., 2019). Also, Carter Andrews et al. (2019), described that there is a need to further identify ways to diversify the teacher workforce. However, Carter Andrews et al. shared that there are structural, institutional, programmatic, and environmental factors that limit or even push out ethnically diverse teachers. There is also an importance in analyzing policies and work with stakeholders such as district leaders, policymakers, and PD providers to see how to best support teachers of color. While reading research about the continuing change of student demographics, it is also important to understand that teacher demographics can be a contributing factor to the factors that limit teachers from implementing culturally responsive instruction.

Factors Keeping Teachers From Implementing Culturally Responsive Instruction

There are known and unknown factors that contribute to teachers implementing culturally responsive instruction. Some of those factors include teacher attitude, teacher support, and overall systematic changes. Abacioglu et al. (2020), Arsal (2019), and Muñiz (2019) shared that teachers who had a positive attitude about multicultural education, were more likely to engage in critical teacher training, instructional planning, and pedagogical practices to further support ethnically diverse students. Civitillo et al. (2019) and Cruz et al. (2020) further explored teacher attitudes and their bearing on implementing culturally responsive instruction. Civitillo et al. and Cruz et al. stated that when teachers participated in self-efficacy training or reflection activities as professional learning, they were more likely to build positive relationships with students and part of that is validating and celebrating the cultural contributions of each students' cultural and ethnic background. Self-efficacy is exploring and understanding with confidence one's own motivation, behavior, and social environment (Cruz et al., 2020). When teachers practice the action of self-efficacy, they are more inclined to reflect on and voice where they need more support in implementing culturally responsive instruction.

While some teachers may not reflect on where they need help with implementing culturally responsive instruction, some teachers are able to reflect on and voice the areas where they need more support. Hollie (2019) shared that teachers first need support in understanding the dynamics of culturally relevant instruction and create an identity for their classroom to support each one of their students. Hollie shared this preservice teacher training is a major support for teachers to properly embed and implement culturally

responsive instruction in their lessons and overall pedagogy. Ladson-Billings (2021a) further shared that while there have been major changes in culturally relevant instruction, there is still more needed in research and implementation. Therefore, there are additional areas that need development to further support teachers in implementing culturally relevant instruction there are some changes needed at the systemic level to provide teachers with supports to propel students forward further in academic success.

While teachers may have an attitude to shift their culturally relevant instruction, practice self-efficacy, participate in PD in their preservice years, there is still a dynamic of systems that prevent teachers from implementing culturally responsive instruction. Kieran and Anderson (2019) and Ladson-Billings (2021a) explained that with the cultural shifts and social justice issues with African American and Hispanic people in 2019 and 2020, student ethnic diversity is a considerable dynamic to implementing a universal design approach to culturally responsive instruction. Ladson-Billings (2021b) furthered this thought by stating that instructional practices need a hard reset to being more inclusive and build a partnership with students and teachers in the classroom. To build this partnership, teachers and educators in general need to move beyond their implicit biases. Darling-Hammond et al. (2020) shared that in the most recent years of education implicit bias impact major components to closing opportunity and achievement gaps in education. According to Darling-Hammond, policymakers and educators can make changes in education in efforts to closing the digital divide, strengthen blended learning, perform a needs-based assessment for students, ensure social and emotion supports, support schools in building stronger community relationships, emphasize the importance

of culturally responsive pedagogy, support extended and expanded learning time, establish wraparound services through support of community schools, preservice teacher training that shapes their mindset to a growth mindset, and advocate and leverage adequate and equitable funding for schools. With these 10 areas of focus for policymakers and educators, there are transformational shifts that can happen in a school environment (Brown, 2020; Darling-Hammond, 2020; & Ladson-Billings, 2021b). Therefore, as there are major gains in teachers implementing a culturally relevant instructional model, there is still more research and practice needed in these areas to further support African American and Hispanic students' academic growth.

Implications

Researching high school teachers' perceptions of how they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement can provide insight for improved instructional practices for high schools in a district in a northeastern state. The research may provide insight on the areas of growth and opportunity in closing academic achievement gaps related to African American and Hispanic students in comparison with their higher achieving peers. Students at the study high schools have shown academic performance gaps between African American and Hispanic students and their European American and Asian American peers on SAT reading scores and other standardized assessments. J. Knight (2018) explained educators must assess the efficacy of instructional supports and strategies provided as well as assess their implementation. Therefore, the results of the research could inform the study district high schools and the district on areas of need for PD or curriculum. A likely outcome

anticipated from the study findings was to create a project developing PD for high school teachers in the study district, although results could move the research in a different direction. The project is presented in Appendix A. Creating positive social change requires continual involvement and research to develop academic and social knowledge (J. Knight, 2018). On a broader scale, findings could inform society of ways to increase student-centered and culturally relevant instruction. Positive social change occurs when scholar-practitioners apply the methods and resources learned about to create change for society.

Summary

The problem addressed by the study is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. A literature review was provided as a foundation for the research. In the next section, I describe the methodology chosen for this study. Specifically, Section 2 includes a description of the study design, participants, data collection, data analysis procedures, coding, data analysis results and resulting project genre, a white paper with recommendations for study district stakeholders.

Section 2: The Methodology

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

In a northeastern state, in a rural, suburban community, the problem is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in a district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. The purpose of this qualitative study was to investigate high school teachers' perceptions of their implementation of the instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. For this qualitative study, semistructured interviews were used to gather teachers' perception of reading instruction and supports in place in the study district. The information from interviews provided a better understanding of the possible of changes to instructional styles and instructional supports to improve reading instruction for African American and Hispanic students. The RQ that guided this basic qualitative study was the following:

How do high school teachers perceive they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district?

When investigating perceptions of a population, a qualitative design is often used, as results are based on the words and voice of the participants (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019; Creswell & Poth, 2018). Selecting a methodology for research is aligned directly with the objective of what I aimed to achieve and the procedures I used to gather data. Part of the methodology process included addressing and assessing the design and approach, setting and sample, data collection strategies, and data analysis, which propels

the research forward (see Lambert, 2012). Selection of a basic qualitative study included interviewing participants who met the criteria of being a high school teacher in the study district and teaching a core content class. Weddle (2022) shared that interviews can provide insights to supports teachers need, such as PD.

The best research design for this study was a qualitative method. With the use of qualitative methods, I gathered qualitative data from the participants in the study to understand the perception of high school teachers teaching a core content area.

Qualitative research is the best way to gain information that cannot be quantified in numbers but is relevant to experiences and perceptions (Aspers & Corte, 2019). Aspers and Corte (2019) also shared that qualitative studies are best to understand relationships and to evaluate the themes and trends in relationships. For gaining teacher perceptions, I used qualitative research to understand the perception of teachers. Qualitative researchers contend that this approach enables the researcher to obtain insight of all participants on a personal level in a natural setting to better understand viewpoints on a concept or topic (Johnson et al., 2020),

Other types of qualitative research approach I could have used were grounded theory or phenomenology. Johnson et al. (2020) shared that grounded theory involves testing out a theory and redeveloping that theory over time. Grounded theory was not appropriate as the purpose of this study was not to build a theory from the data. Phenomenology focuses on the researcher describing experiences as they are lived and the individuality of each person's experiences. Johnson et al. described phenomenology as a more subjective approach as data analysis includes examining experiences that

cannot be fully communicated, as they are inner feelings. Therefore, after reflection on the various approaches in qualitative research, I chose and used the basic qualitative design to focus on one topic and use one collection tool, the interview.

For this qualitative study, I focused on the perceptions and experiences of 10 high school teachers implementing instructional strategies in reading for diverse learners in one district. Teachers may understand the need for diverse instructional strategies to close reading achievement gaps but feel unsure of the exact protocol or best use of strategies (Kelly et al., 2021; Kohar, 2022). The qualitative research method for this study supported the exploration and defining of what was currently being used by teachers by analyzing teacher perceptions of district curricular practices, including how students make real-life connections to the curriculum. Furthermore, this approach helped provide information to describe what current practices. Qualitative studies have focused on culturally relevant instructional strategies to close reading achievement gaps; however, basic qualitative data were needed to understand teachers' perceptions of these strategies and their need for support during implementation (see Freedson & Eastman, 2016; Kelly et al., 2021). The RQ posed provided clarity on teachers' current practices, subsequently leading to findings that may contribute to proposed solutions for stakeholders' consideration.

Participants

The target district for this study was a fast-growing district in the northeastern state with an enrollment of 12,466, according to the district's 2021–2022 annual report. According to the district website, as of 2023, the target district has five early childhood

centers for prekindergarten and kindergarten, nine elementary schools, four middle schools, and three high schools. Based on the College Board database of SAT scores, in the 2010–2020 school year, 49% of African American high school students in the district scored at the proficient or better level in reading on the SAT, as did 57% of Hispanic students. Students in the district have demonstrated a 94% graduation rate, according to the district's 2021–2022 annual report. According to the National Center for Education Statistics (2023), for the 2021–2022 school year, High School 1 enrolled 1,586 students, High School 2 enrolled 1,577 students, and High School 3 enrolled 592 students. High School 3 will not be a fully developed high school until 2024; as of 2021–2022, High School 3 only served Grades 9 and 10. High School 1 employs approximately 63 core content teachers, High School 2 employs approximately 61 core content teachers, and High School 3 employs approximately 38 core content teachers.

Criteria

The participants of this study included 10 classroom teachers at the high school level in the study school district in a northeastern state. In the basic qualitative study, participants were specific to the district high school sites in the study district, and I selected participants with a background in the phenomenon of study (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The criteria for participants were (a) high school teachers employed in the study district (b) who instructed a core content class and (c) had knowledge of the phenomenon, the academic achievement gap of African American and Hispanic students in reading. Fyer and Howard-Noveck (2020) shared because of lower reading success in middle and high school, interventions to improve reading skills not in just reading, but in

other content areas as well. Furthermore, Carey (2019) shared insights on reading skills improving success in other academic areas, but also bridging societal gaps. The participant selection criteria allowed me to think about the various core content areas where reading skills are essential to student comprehension and success. While examining the core classes such as English language arts, reading, social studies, and science, I noted that teachers had to teach reading skills during instruction to develop students' understanding of the content. Additionally, the district adopted a curriculum embedding reading in other content areas. Participants from the study district have also been involved in regular PLCs to further discuss reading instruction to diverse student groups. Table 4 includes the participant demographics.

Table 4

Participant Demographics

Participant	Role
P1	English language arts teacher
P2	English language arts teacher
P3	English language arts teacher
P4	Science teacher
P5	Social Studies teacher
P6	Science teacher
P7	Science teacher
P8	Mathematics teacher
P9	English language arts teacher
P10	English language arts teacher & Science teacher

Sample Size

Sample size is an important consideration in qualitative research. I interviewed 10 teacher participants who were knowledgeable about the phenomenon and consequently was able to reach saturation in findings. Saturation is achieved when additional

interviews do not produce new findings (Braun & Clarke, 2021). Saunders and Townsend (2016) explained that when interviewing participants from a workplace, 10 to 15 participants may produce saturation. A small number of participants can provide thick and rich data to help me understand the teachers' perception of how they provide instruction in their core content classes to better support reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students. In general, the fewer the participants, the deeper the inquiry per individual, so the data collected have breadth and depth to reach saturation for credibility (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Creswell and Creswell (2018) shared that a small number of participants provides the researcher with better insights to the interviewees' responses and increases the time that can be spent with each participant.

Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants

First, I gained Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval (approval # 09-01-23-0999717) as well as approval from the study district to recruit high school teachers for the study. I followed a set guide on gaining access to participants through the Walden IRB process. On July 3, 2023, I sent the director of data and assessment the Partner Organization Agreement for Low-Risk, Work-Related Interviews form. I spoke with the directors of assessment and data and inclusive education provided further information about my study, explaining that interviews would take place during noninstructional hours and would not involve students. Following that conversation, I gained approval from the district office and the director of inclusive education.

The school websites publicly list high school teachers who instruct core content classes as well as their email addresses. Thus, I used open public records. I sent an email

to all teachers who met the criteria of being a core content area teacher at high schools in the district. The email included my contact information, the purpose of the study, and the confidential nature of the interview, which lasted less than an hour. Once the invitation emails were sent, I waited for teachers to respond to provide informed consent forms and schedule interviews. I waited for their confirmation and consent through email, where they sent the response to my email with the words "I consent" After scheduling the interview for participants who self-selected into this study and conducting the interview, I shared with participants that they may share the invitation to participate with any potential participants who they thought may be interested in this study. A follow-up email was not necessary as I obtained 10 participants who met the inclusion criteria as specified for the study.

Researcher-Participant Working Relationship

With the basic qualitative design and interviews, building connection and trust with the participants is vital, in addition to establishing and maintaining a neutral stance throughout the study (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Aspers and Corte (2019) shared that positive relationships in addition to the participant being in their natural environment support the data reaching saturation. For this study, I contacted participants in their preferred communication method and shared some insights about the study such as the problem, purpose, and potentially gaining insights from them as high school core content teachers. As qualitative studies are centered on relationships between the researcher and participants, the researcher's responsibility is to frame relational considerations as ethical issues; the researcher has to uphold ethical obligations (Ravitch & Carl, 2016; Rubin &

Rubin, 2012). These relational issues should always be considered by the researcher to protect the participant, especially with sensitive topics explored in qualitative studies (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). While the use of a protocol is vital in any research, attention to procedures can ensure ethical practices and challenges are handled accordingly.

Protection of Participants' Rights

Participant rights are a constant consideration and a vital part of the validity of the study. Ravitch and Carl (2016) explained, "Qualitative research is multifaceted, complex, contextual, emergent, and relational; critically considering ethics requires attention to the procedural and transactional as well as the relational and sociopolitical" (p. 346). I remembered many ethical considerations to prevent ethical challenges, maintain confidentiality, and prevent harm. Ethical challenges in qualitative research can inhibit the study and diminish its credibility. To uphold the profession and trustworthiness of the study, the researcher has to also be aware of their ethical responsibility (Lodico et al., 2010).

Participants were not approached until the study received IRB approval. I followed all IRB processes to ensure protection of participants from harm as well as confidentiality. Teachers completed a Consent Form before interviews were conducted. The form served as a reminder to participants about the interview and study procedure, clarifying expectations for participating in the study, providing sample questions and noting that the interviews would be audio-recorded. I reminded the participants of the voluntary nature of the study and explained if they decided to join the study now, they could change their mind at any point.

I informed participants that I am required by my university to protect the identities of interviewees and their organizations. I explained that I am only allowed to share interviewee identity or contact info as needed with Walden University supervisors (who are also required to protect participant privacy). I further explained that in any reports, presentations, or publications related to this study, I will only share general patterns from the data, without sharing the identities of individual interviewees or their organizations and containing no identifiers.

I also explained the confidentiality process. I noted that participants would only be referred to by number (e.g., Teacher 1, Teacher 2), and that I would have a single document indicating the identity and code for each participant. All data are stored on a password protected personal computer. The collected information will not be used for any purpose outside of this study. All data will be secured in a locked drawer or password-protected computer in my home for 5 years, per Walden University rules. After 5 years, the data will be destroyed through deletion or shredding.

Data Collection

In this basic qualitative study, the individual interviews of participants were the basis of the study, centered around one phenomenon (see Percy et al., 2015). Interviews of participants in a basic qualitative study are an effective method of collecting data to gain insight into the perceptions of participants. Interviews provide personal reflections and an intimate view of participant experiences (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The qualitative research for this study included one qualitative measure as I sought to understand perceptions about their implementation of the instructional strategies in reading to

support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. The RQ remained at the center of my study to align the question and phenomenon with my interview questions (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Interview Protocol

Conducting interviews can provide an intimate view of the participants' experiences, ideas, and thoughts, if planned appropriately. Use of a semistructured interview protocol ensured consistency across interviews (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I used a researcher-created interview protocol to gather information to answer the RQ.

The first characteristic of a good qualitative interview is that the researcher looks for examples, narratives, stories, and detailed information from the participant as a part of purposeful sampling. Another characteristic of a good qualitative interview includes the interviewer asking open-ended questions that do not guide the participant to answer the question in a specific way. The interviewer asking open-ended questions may even result in the participant "elaborating on answers, disagreeing with the question, or raising a new issue" (Rubin & Rubin, 2012, p. 29). The interviewer should be flexible in how they ask questions, what questions they ask, and question wording (Yob & Brewer, 2016). I asked follow-up or probing questions to help glean more information from the participants.

Questions were designed to answer the study RQ: How do high school teachers perceive they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district? For example, one interview question asked about specific strategies teachers use for African American and Hispanic students. Another question asked how well reading instruction for African

American and Hispanic students is resourced and supported. One question focused on teachers' perceptions of the effectiveness of the multiple initiatives in the district.

Questions were aligned to the RQ and conceptual framework for the study.

The basic qualitative research also needs validity and credibility. According to Aspers and Corte (2019), qualitative studies need an expert in the field to ensure there is authenticity and reliability. Therefore, I called the expert in a neighboring school district. The characteristics of this district are closely aligned to the district used for my study. The expert serves at the director of diversity, equity, and inclusion for the neighboring district, and earned a doctoral degree from Wilmington University.

The background in diversity, equity, and inclusion in education provided the expert with the ability to recognize questions that would help me ask the most appropriate interview questions as my data collection tool. In addition to the expert reviewing my questions, my committee members also reviewed my interview questions and probes to ensure each one align to the RQs, avoided biases and demonstrate credibility. As a whole, the expert and my committee shared that I should focus on the following:

- alignment
- structured, open-ended questions
- probes that focus on getting the participant to go further into detail
- using questions that relate to reading instruction of African American and Hispanic students
- remaining neutral in wording

For this basic qualitative study, the 10 interview questions aligned to provide more insights into the RQ, how high school teachers perceive they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district. The questions were asked in a semistructured interview of participants who met the criteria of (a) being a high school teacher employed in the study district, (b) providing instruction in a core content class, and (c) having knowledge of the phenomenon, the academic achievement gap of African American and Hispanic students in reading. As expert and committee members validated the interview questions, I also collaborated with committee members about participant inclusion criteria and the interview protocol. In Appendix B, there is a table with the interview questions, and alignment with elements of Freire critical pedagogy theory.

Data Gathering

As a qualitative research study focuses on using interviews to collect qualitative data, the experience of participants makes a significant impact "to achieve fuller development of information within and across individuals and groups while keeping similar lines of questioning that help you to look within and across experiences in ways that help decipher meaning, experience, similarity, and difference" (Ravitch & Carl, 2016, p. 147). While watching video resources about interviewing techniques, the best practice for conducting interviews includes the researcher observing participant behavior, not interpreting their behavior. I established a rapport with participants and engaged them in conversation. For example, Liamputtong (2020) shared how the researcher should ask purposive questions that are open ended to engage the participant in self-reflection of

experiences. To establish that rapport with participants, I called participants or emailed them based on their preference to best communicate with them. I reviewed the participant form that reviewed the problem, purpose, and goal of the research. Participants were able to get a better understanding of the study and were more comfortable answering questions. I also gave participants an option for interviewing in person in a private space or on zoom. Seven participants chose to interview in person for no longer than 1 hour, while three participants chose to interview via Zoom. Another example from Liamputtong (2020) showed that an interviewer should make expectations clear ahead of the interview and remind the participant of the guidelines at the start of recording.

Interviews began with reiteration of the purpose of the research, informed consent procedures, that information shared was confidential, and that there were efforts to ensure participant protection from harm. After the initial explanation, I continued the interview with asking interview questions and using probes to better understand the teachers' perception of their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. The most effective interview strategies involve clear goals and explanations, open-ended questions, neutral delivery, and observation of participant body language (Liamputtong, 2020).

Semistructured interviews for this qualitative study involved planning how and when to contact the participant, scheduling the interview, conducting the interview, and coding the interview. I used the semistructured protocol I produced to collect data.

Liamputtong (2020) shared the importance of being organized in each process of

interviewing. Therefore, when communicating with participants, I followed an organized procedure to ensure data is captured and reported accurately.

In qualitative research, participants are typically observed or interviewed in their natural setting (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Despite precautions due to the Coronavirus 2019 virus, participants had the opportunity to be interviewed in person or via Zoom; in either case, the interview were audio recorded. Interviews of participants conducted face-to-face were one-on-one in a room that allowed confidential sharing of information. Locations varied and included seven participants interviewing in a private space in person, while three participants were more comfortable with interviewing via Zoom. Prior to the interviews, I expressed the need to be in a room alone so they can process the questions and feel comfortable sharing their private thoughts. After the interview, each participant received a \$25 Visa gift card. The interviews ranged from 31-60 minutes.

Data Tracking and Storage

I kept a data collection log describing dates and procedures for every step of the study. I developed and kept a single document indicating the identity and code for each participant, which I needed during the transcription phase. This document is password protected on my personal computer. I also kept a personal reflexive journal throughout the research. All data logs or transcripts were labeled with the participants' numerical IDs only. I used a spreadsheet to track data analysis and codes. All data are secured in a locked drawer or password-protected computer in my home for 5 years, per Walden University rules. After 5 years, the data will be destroyed through deletion or shredding.

Access to Participants

After gaining Walden University IRB approval as well as approval from the study district to recruit high school teachers for the study, I sent an email from my Walden University email address to all teachers who meet the criteria of being a content area teacher at high schools in the district. Content area teachers' emails are listed publicly on the high school websites. The email included my contact information, the purpose of the study, and the confidential nature of the interview, which should last less than an hour. Once the invitation emails are sent, I waited for teachers to respond to provide informed consent forms and schedule interviews. If fewer than 10 teachers had responded to the invitation letter, a follow-up email was sent to those who had not responded. There was no need to send a follow up email.

Role of the Researcher

Ravitch and Carl (2016) explained the positionality of a researcher is the individual's role in context to the study. Acknowledging the researcher's role is vital to identifying and mitigating against researcher bias in the analysis of data. I am an assistant principal at a middle school in the study district. I also served as an English language arts teacher in the district, acting as a teacher leader, providing instructional coaching, PD, and serving as a department chair, while working with district specialists. I do not serve as a supervisor to any potential participants. Within both of these roles, I have built trust and positive relationships where teachers and other professionals not only listen to what I have to say, but also are willing to openly share their perceptions with me and know that I am an advocate for students and equitable education. Teachers in the district who know

me will be confident that our conversations and interview will be confidential. As I do know many teachers, I will have to ensure that I stay on script with my interview to show a neutral position on the topic.

Once all my data were collected, I could then begin to form opinions with the support of the codes, categories, and themes from the interviews. Before analysis, I needed to acknowledge my personal bias with the phenomenon of the study. I have an experience-based bias in the district. I have had to search for diverse curriculum materials to ensure students felt connected to the content. Diverse material was not an expectation or anything that was even discussed in district meetings, curriculum planning, or PD. I also have advocated for having more culturally diverse resources in our curriculum warehouse at each grade level, and that effort is still not solid from elementary through high school.

Data Analysis Methods

Data collected during the interview process were recorded on the computer through an audio recorder called Otter. Once each interview was completed, the audio transcript was analyzed through coding and content data analysis on the perceptions of teachers about their reading instruction of African American and Hispanic students.

Coding

As the researcher in this basic qualitative study, my role was to remain neutral, maintain confidentiality, and establish trust throughout the process. Once I completed the interviews, I organized the transcripts, and field notes to begin the coding process.

Analysis begins with the specific codes, and then involves identifying categories and the

emerging broader themes (Saldaña, 2021). Coding cycles project an explanation, meaning, or thought from the data collected. I used qualitative content analysis employing both a Priori coding and open descriptive coding employing Yin's 5-step data analysis process to review the information collected.

I used qualitative content analysis to analyze information collected from participants. Content analysis is "A research technique for the objective, systematic, and quantitative description of the manifest content of communication" (Berelson, 1952, p. 18). Saldaña (2021) explained that researchers analyze language-based or visual data in qualitative inquiry to capture the essence or attribute of the data. I also used Yin's (2018) 5-step process, which included (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding. Additionally, data analysis included a Priori coding, a deductive coding approach, using the conceptual framework, Freire's theory of critical pedagogy and inductive, open coding, to analyze the information obtained from participants. Using inductive and deductive reasoning, I used predetermined deductive codes based on the conceptual framework, and open codes based on my analysis of the information shared by participants in the interview process. I immersed myself in the data to examine the content of the transcripts. I used a spreadsheet and pivot tables to examine coded text excerpts pasted them into the spreadsheet. Using content analysis, I examined the frequency and possible patterns between deductive and inductive codes assigned to the text excerpts (see Bengtsson, 2016).

Coding is taking a word or phrase that represents the analytic memo about the data for further analysis. Also, coding for qualitative data provides analytical and

reflective processes to support the research focusing on positive social change (Saldaña, 2021). Categories in qualitative research are different from codes and themes because they are defined as the groups of information that includes the organization of codes. Therefore, I combined multiple codes to create categories. According to Rubin and Rubin (2012), categories develop from content analysis, where similar pieces of information are placed together. Morse (2015) explained that finding themes in qualitative research is a higher level categorization of codes to elaborate on meaningful categories present in all data sets.

Themes are different from codes and categories because themes of the research emerge after coding is complete and categories are created. According to Ravitch and Carl (2016), themes in qualitative research tie the research and findings together to create a meaningful, analytic report of findings and solidify the phenomenon. Overall, codes, categories, and themes are all interdependent to present valid evidence and findings in qualitative research (Morse, 2015). In summary, recognizing a theme in data means involves coding data through several rounds or cycles and then creating categories from the rounds of coding and finally identifying the emerging themes in relation to the RQ and purpose of the study.

Evidence of Quality

In qualitative research, trustworthiness means there are no personal motivations in the findings, and the researcher has addressed any potential bias. For qualitative research, certain elements in a study set a solid foundation in building quality, trustworthiness, and credibility. According to Shenton (2004), four criteria ensure a trustworthy study: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

The first criterion outlined by Shenton (2004) is credibility, which is ensuring the measures for the study address the purpose of the study. Credibility develops through adopting well-established research methods when seeking information to support a study, such as employing specific procedures for interviews and using all the questioning types. Also, credibility is established through developing familiarity with participants, tactics to ensure the honesty of participants, iterative questioning, negative case analysis, frequent briefing sessions, peer scrutiny of the research project, reflective commentary, background and experience of the investigator, member checks, thick description of the phenomenon, and examination of previous research-based findings (Shenton, 2004). To establish credibility, I employed Shenton's recommended practices of ensuring confidentiality to ensure honest responses of interviewees, peer debriefing of the findings, systemic process, field journal notes, member checks, and examination of previous research. After data analysis, I emailed a copy of the draft findings to participants for their input, in a process called member checking (see Saldaña, 2021).

The second criterion examined by Shenton (2004) is transferability, which is the application of findings in other situations and other locations. As qualitative studies focus on smaller participant sizes, researchers want to establish that this study was suitable and applicable on a larger scale. Transferability includes assessing the number of organizations taking part in the study and their location. Restrictions of participants are also noted, along with assessing the number of participants involved in the fieldwork,

data collection methods, number and length of the data collection sessions, and the period over which the data collection took place (Shenton, 2004). The use of qualitative studies tends to reduce transferability. Rich description of context in a qualitative study allows readers to determine whether findings may be transferable to a similar setting (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Additionally, although a small sample size could be considered a limitation, the site-specific design was appropriate for this project study.

The next criterion shared by Shenton (2004) is dependability, that is the idea that replication of the study would yield similar results. In qualitative research, replication is difficult and imprecise (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). For dependability, however, the researcher can ensure that the work is consistent and that observations and other methods of data collection and reporting remain the same (Shenton, 2004). I used a semistructured interview protocol for dependability. Shenton also explained that the dependability of the research consists of readers of the research developing understanding of a topic by outlining sections devoted to the research design and implementation, the operational detail of gathering data, and reflective appraisal of the project. Overall, dependability consists of researchers using specific sections to their study to share their findings with those that are reading the study for comprehensibility. In this study, I specifically outlined methods and procedures to promote dependability.

The last criterion Shenton (2004) examined to ensure trustworthiness, credibility, and quality was confirmability, that is ensuring the findings capture the experiences and thoughts of the participants and do not include assumptions or biases of the researcher. I reflected on any personal biases I may have had toward the topic so as not to allow my

preconceptions to color data collection and analysis (see Yin, 2018). For this process, I used a reflexive journal to document my thoughts, personal feelings, and decisions during the study (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Confirmability also includes an audit trail, that involves the researcher providing specific information on decisions made and procedures followed throughout the study (Shenton, 2004). I kept an audit trail of all processes and data analysis decisions in the study. Discrepant cases were considered and are noted in the findings (Shenton, 2004).

In conclusion, although qualitative research is by nature subjective, I used established criteria to ensure trustworthiness, credibility, and quality, making solid arguments to support positive social change. Describing the limitations of a study makes findings more credible and transparent. The limitations in this study included using a small sample of participants from three schools in one district. Having a small number of interviews and using one study district does not allow for regional or national transferability; however, the objective of this project study was site specific.

Additionally, giving rich detail may allow readers to determine whether findings are applicable to other sites.

Data Analysis Results

By means of the five phases of data analysis outlined by Yin (2016), I conducted a qualitative analysis that consisted of (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding. In this section, I define the data analysis process along with illustrations of the coding and analysis to classify codes, categories, and themes. The illustrations of coding, categories and themes emerged from the focal point

of my RQ and problem of focus. The problem I sought to explore in this study was that African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in the study district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. In order to understand the impressions these initiatives and curricular platforms have had on student achievement in reading, I sought the perspective of teachers to understand how these initiatives and platforms have helped and what teachers perceive they still need to better support African American and Hispanic students. To achieve this, I identified individual perceptions of core content high school teachers within the study district about their perceptions related to instructional strategies, resources, and professional learning to support the achievement of African American and Hispanic students. The following RQ guided this study:

RQ: How do high school teachers perceive they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district?

Participants were explicitly selected from the study district. There were 10 participants (five English teachers, three science teachers, one social studies teacher, and one mathematics teacher). This study depended on data collected from individual interviews. All participants were available for individual interviews, while seven participants selected the private location, and three participants selected to participate via Zoom where the interviews were conducted. All participants had the opportunity to openly share their perspectives about their instructional strategies, resources, and

professional learning to support the achievement of African American and Hispanic students.

A systemic process was used to collect data. For example, there was an interview protocol established to use prior to the interviews, during the interview process and following my interviews with participants. Burck (2005) shared that systemic processes include recursive cycles built into a grounded theory and connections between research categories and framework concepts. In this study there was a connection between the study purpose, RQ, and interview question. I created a uniform recruitment procedure to access participants from publicly available school staff members' email addresses including their role in the study schools. From there, I emailed participants about the research purpose, RQ and requested their participation in individual interviews. Once participants emailed me to confirm their participation, I set a date and time to interview them individually in-person or on Zoom. Seven out of 10 participants were in-person interviews, and three out of 10 participants had interviews through the Zoom platform. During the interviews, I read background information about my study, asked if they had any questions, and then confirmed their participation once again. After participants confirmed their participation, I asked 11 interview questions and used probing questions over a 30 to 60-minute time frame during each semistructured interview. At the conclusion of the interview questions, I informed participants that I would share the data with them once all interviews were complete and transcripts were reviewed to see if there was anything they wanted to elaborate on. Interviews were audio recorded and

transcribed by the Otter application. Following interviews, I cleaned transcripts and began to take notes as part of a field journal and coded the data.

Compiling

I began the compiling process by organizing my audio recordings of individual interviews along with the interview transcripts. This information was organized on an Excel spreadsheet by participant for each round of coding. Participants were color coded and given a different number to keep each person's responses separate and to protect confidentiality. Organizing and reading through the participant interviews and playing the audio recording (recorded with Otter: Transcribe Voice Notes) assisted with evaluating the accuracy of the transcripts and to fully capture what the participants explained as they answered my questions. During the compiling process, it is also vital to record thoughts on data collection and potential analysis process (see Yin, 2016). Therefore, as I compiled the information from interviews, I also referred to my original data with notations.

I read transcripts multiple times by each participant, highlighting the key statements participants made that related to my RQ and problem of focus. According to Yin (2016), while compiling data, it is essential to become thoroughly familiar with the original data in qualitative research to grasp what the participant(s) are describing. After reviewing the transcripts, I copied and pasted the highlighted statements from each participant into the spreadsheet. The spreadsheet organization began with participant number in the first column and the participant statement by interview question in the

second column. Once I completed compiling the data, I moved to the disassembling phase of the process.

Disassembling

During the disassembling process, I sorted data into a Priori codes that were relevant to my RQ, purpose of the student, and Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy. The purpose of this round of data analysis was to review the alignment on reported information from participants in the district of study to the theory of critical pedagogy. The participants showed through their responses that Freire's theory of critical pedagogy attributes are a relevant factor in supporting African American and Hispanic students' success in reading. Participants shared specifically in their interview how students' success and mastery are promoted with making (a) collaboration, (b) culturally relevant, (c) discourse, (d) preteaching/background knowledge, (e) real world connections, (f) social justice/restorative practice/community building/allocation of resources, (g) student choice and voice, and (h) student engagement a priority when planning instruction and that all are imperative with students' motivation and success with academics. Examining the alignment of reported information from participants with Freire's theory allowed me to better see how teachers perceive what strategies they use, where they need support, and areas for further professional learning to support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students. I read and reread participant statements and included a third column in my Excel spreadsheet for the a Priori terms based on Freire's theory of critical pedagogy and the district instructional principles. The a Priori codes included (a) collaboration, (b) real world connections, (c)

culturally relevant, (d) student engagement, (e) discourse, (f) preteaching/background knowledge, (g) student choice/voice, and (h) social justice/restorative practice/community building/allocation of resources. Yin (2016) explained this stage of analyzing data is to record impressions, record thoughts on code development, and begin the coding guide. In the disassembling phase, I examined the text line-by-line using both inductive and deductive codes. Through this phase, disassembling is the time to develop code definitions, identify key ideas in relation to the RQ, and continuing to keep track of evidence (Yin, 2016). I examined the pivot table of the a Priori codes and analyzed the frequency of interview responses that aligned with each a Priori code. Appendix C reflects the a Priori codes along with a scholarly definition of the specific a Priori, or deductive code.

Next, I placed the text excerpts in the spreadsheet and reviewed the a priori codes assigned to the text using a pivot table. Appendix D reflects sample text excerpts for a Priori codes by participant. I used a pivot table to examine the breakdown of the a priori codes. I reviewed the data using the pivot tables in the spreadsheet. A total of 859 pieces of text were coded overall.

The next step of disassembling the data included conducting two rounds of open descriptive coding, an inductive coding process. During this process, I used Saldaña's (2021) process described as descriptive coding. In disassembling these data, I identified emerging ideas from the data through open coding. According to Saldaña, in open descriptive coding, exact words from the original interviews are used to capture the full ideas of participants. I immersed myself in the data again and created analytic memos to

help describe a broader understanding of the data and to make possible connections between the open codes and a Priori codes. For the Round 1 of open descriptive coding, I identified 16 codes. I coded the same 859 pieces of text excerpts using a different coding approach from the initial round of a Priori coding. I reviewed the transcripts, and assigned open descriptive codes based on what each participant was communicating regarding the posed interview questions. I conducted two Rounds of open descriptive coding.

After completing the Round 1 of open descriptive coding, I conducted Round 2 of open descriptive coding. In this round of coding, I continued to consider the connection between the textual information from participants in relation to the problem statement and RQ. In Round 2 of open descriptive coding, I examined the data for patterns and similarities to consider how the 16 Round 1 open descriptive codes could be collapsed or organized to represent participants' perspectives about instruction. The 16 Round 1 codes were collapsed into 11 Round 2 open descriptive codes. I created a pivot table to examine coding patterns and to ensure there was consistency in the coding of text excerpts. Once I completed Round 2 of open coding, I began reassembling the data. I collapsed the 16 Round 1 codes into 11 Round 2 open descriptive codes.

Reassembling

I continued my data analysis by reviewing my Round 2 codes and pivot table. From the disassembling phase, I then began to reassemble the data into textual categories. As I kept the RQ and problem as the focal point for this phase, I continued to review data for reoccurring concepts and ideas expressed by the participants. I looked at the

correlation between each round of coding using the Excel spreadsheet and pivot tables. Yin (2016) explained that reassembling data is a process of looking at the data with a different lens and making connections to your RQ, problem, or purpose of study. The identification of key ideas in relation to the RQ and problem statement supported five emerging categories such as (a) culturally relevant pedagogy and practice; (b) opportunity for student engagement in collaboration, discourse with teacher and peers, social and emotional development, social justice; (c) professional learning for teachers to develop instructional practices and selection of resources; (d) support from building and district administration in providing teachers with meaningful supplemental resources to promote equitable access, professional learning and instructional support; and (e) promoting school and community partnership: school to home partnership and school to community partners. Yin (2019) elaborated that categories derive from successful qualitative data analysis of inductive codes and that from there the researcher arrives at themes based on the meaningful constructs analyzed through coding. Reassembling allowed me to take broad data and filter it into more specific data to address the RQ and purpose of the study. Once I completed the reassembling process, I began interpreting the data. The 11 Round 2 Codes were further collapsed into five categories. Appendix E reflects the open descriptive codes for both Round 1 and 2 of open coding, the five categories that were identified from the open coding and four themes that emerged from the identified categories.

Interpreting

Interpreting data is a process of theme development. The function of this phase is to identify patterns further to develop themes, and create findings statements (Yin, 2016). The analysis and action steps in this process is a response to the research, identifying representative data, developing case summaries, and recording analytic decisions (Yin, 2016). The themes that emerged represented the perceptions of teachers and how they explained their current instructional practices, where they need support, and areas of professional learning that can improve their practices to support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students. Four themes emerged from the RQ and address overall teacher perceptions of instructional practices and areas of support in this study. Once I completed the interpreting process, I began my concluding analysis of the data as outlined in Yin's (2016) 5-step process. Table 5 reflects the themes and the count of coded text by each of the themes that emerged for the one RQ.

Table 5Theme Number, Description, and Count of Codes by Theme

Theme		
number	Theme description	Total
1	Teachers use of culturally relevant pedagogy and	
	differentiated practices.	106
2	Teachers emphasize the need for opportunities for student engagement.	358
3	Teachers need of support from district and campus stakeholders.	334
4	Teacher support needed in developing and promoting	
	family and community partnerships.	61
	Grand total	859

Concluding

In the last phase of qualitative data analysis, the concluding process involves a logical connection between the analysis and interpretation of data and the study's purpose. The function of this phase is to apply the conceptual framework and use it to later explain findings; situating the findings in literature (see Yin, 2016). As a restatement, I analyzed individual interview transcripts and listened to audio recordings for context. Next, I conducted a content analysis using one round of a Priori codes and two rounds of open descriptive coding. In addition, I used notes from the interview transcripts and created analytic memos that would support with the disassembling and reassembling process to assign codes to phrases. I continued to review and connect back to the study's RQ and purpose of the study in addition to the pivot tables during each stage of coding, categorizing, and theming. As a final stage, four themes emerged from the process to address this basic qualitative study.

The purpose of the study was to examine high school teachers' perceptions of how their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement. To address the RQ, the perspectives of educators include (a) what teachers focus on as a vital part of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, (b) areas where teachers feel they have support from district administration but would like increased provisions to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, and (c) opportunities for teachers to participate in professional learning to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement.

Field Journal

After each interview concluded, I typed notes next to the questions that I asked to help me keep the study purpose and RQ at the forefront of my data review. Sullivan and Sargeant (2011) explained that reflexive journals is a tool to use during qualitative research to support the interviewer with keeping active notes of the participant responses and a way to ensure there is no bias with asking questions. Janesick (1999) clarified that incorporating journal writing as a tool during the research process helps the researcher reflect on the action steps they take during research. While journal writing can support qualitative research in various ways, this reflective tool is for researchers to assess and reassess their procedures, protocols, and techniques during the data collection process (Janesick, 1999). For this qualitative study, I wrote short reflective notes as I was interviewed participants and reflected on how I could ensure the purpose and RQ remained at the forefront of my questioning. After interviews, I made notations next to participant responses in how I see trends emerging in the data, and connections from one participant to the next. The connections that participants had among responses were also highlighted for me to read and reflect before the coding process. The last tool used was member checking; this tool was another way to verify that I accurately conveyed the participants' perceptions in the draft findings of the study.

In review, the four themes emerged from the content data analysis. Themes 1 and 2 focus on the use of culturally relevant and differentiated practice, strategies that focus on opportunities for engagement, discourse, and collaboration to promote social emotional development and a sense of social justice to support African American and

Hispanic student learning. Themes 3 and 4 focus on the participants' needs related to support, materials, and community partnerships to support African American and Hispanic student learning. In the next section, I discuss the themes by RQ and provide interview excerpts by participant to exemplify support for each theme.

Findings Aligned With Research Problem and Questions

The problem addressed by the study was African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. In this basic qualitative study, the individual interview of participants is the basis of the study, as I sought to understand perceptions about teacher implementation of the instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. The RQ remained at the center of my study to align the question and phenomenon with my interview questions (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). There are four themes that emerged from the following RQ: How do high school teachers perceive they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district?

To answer the RQ, I created interview questions and an interview protocol that contained a script of 11 guiding interview questions aligned with the conceptual framework. I focused on analyzing, coding, categorizing, and theming the data in various rounds of reading rereading and analysis.

Theme 1: Teachers' Use of Culturally Relevant Pedagogy and Differentiated Practices

High School teachers described using culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices to support African American and Hispanic students. Participants reported using culturally relevant practices to support the instruction of African American and Hispanic students. All participants (P) described using resources to support cultural relevancy for the students they teach. In their responses, they described elements of the conceptual framework, Freire's theory, such as making real-world connections, intentional student engagement, and highlighting social justice.

I asked participants how they viewed culturally relevant instruction, resources, pedagogy, and differentiated practices to support the instruction of African American and Hispanic students. Most participants stated that they try to build their lessons to help students see themselves in the lesson. P1, P3, and P7 shared that they still modify the curriculum so all students can see themselves in it from a cultural standpoint. Teachers conveyed how they made concerted efforts to get to know each student and tried to build lessons to help students see themselves in the lessons by facilitating community-building activities and using student voices in their lesson planning. P5 and P10 elaborated further that the more students see themselves in the curriculum and examples used during instruction, the more they are engaged in the lesson concepts and can explain their level of understanding and mastery in their own words.

All participants shared the importance of using culturally relevant resources. However, P3 made a statement about the impact on students:

I think using culturally relevant resources lets the students be able to see themselves [or background] in that author and that we're not reading material from a bunch of people that no longer exist, and I hate to put it that way, but I don't think they see the relevance in it [the lesson]. Being able to see themselves in that author is huge for those students. I think it gives them a little bit more pride and I think they take it more seriously because it's someone that they can relate to [because of their ethnic background].

P4 and P6 pointed out that to increase culturally relevant pedagogy, more resources are needed as teachers share culturally relevant resources from their collections. Overall, teachers noted they do not feel like students read books that are culturally relevant from the library, and they sometimes need help finding resources. P8 also shared that there are initiatives by the state that are likely to influence the availability of resources that teachers use due to House Bill 198 (HB198). As a part of the district HB198 committee, P8 explained that

I'm a part of the HB 198 committee, and I am a part of a group of people that are reviewing, curriculum, to make sure it's inclusive, and to make sure that it's [curriculum and instructional resources] are not so far beyond it's also something that all students can access. Culturally relevant resources play a very big role because if they, [students], cannot see themselves in these positions that we want them to be in, they, [students], will not see it. Students have to read about themselves in resources. They have to understand that people of similar backgrounds have made contributions to what they are studying and what they

have accomplished. They have to know what's possible. It's one thing for us to tell students; it's another thing for us to show we learn about people that have made really significant contributions to every field of education, but there are a lot of people now that are still making significant contributions, and students don't know who these people are.

Being culturally relevant from the teacher's perspective also involves using examples from the student's knowledge base of celebrities or community members as a differentiated practice. Half of the participants stated that the examples they used during instruction included a specific curriculum in terms of reading. Teachers want to make reading comprehension easier, but they do not want to change the grade level of the content. All participants stated a continued need to differentiate by practicing culturally relevant pedagogy. They shared that they may differentiate by using culturally relevant content, such as favorite music artists students may know or well-known or famous African American or Hispanic intellects they may know, to make a lesson more relevant and exciting. Overall, teachers want students to identify with the material used to introduce content and to teach literacy. Participants also shared that they might even use reading materials that connect to the students' neighborhoods so that students can identify with familiar concepts or similarly shared perspectives. Participants also shared that they can change reading materials and texts based on student interest surveys. Teachers all reported the importance of differentiation using materials and resources that supported African American and Hispanic student engagement to keep relevance and interest in the instruction.

Participants all stated resources provided to students are more beneficial by engraining culturally relevant resources throughout their lesson activities. Some clarified that even more resources could be helpful by stating that some of these achievement gaps would be almost overcome, or if not overcome, at least lessened, if more culturally relevant texts were consistently used. All participants conveyed the importance of needing culturally relevant materials and resources for their students.

Eighty percent of participants also shared that they think culturally relevant resources and real-world connections help with reading because the point is to get students to engage with the reading and comprehend the text. They shared that what some students read or learn about can be motivating or demotivating. Including various cultures has a lot to do with the interests. Students come from various backgrounds; therefore, their interest is peaked when learning about a variety of text they can make connections with. Other participants explained how some teachers use supplemental resources to engage students in a culturally relevant way. P3 expounded that students have shown success with the curriculum resources when they can read passages that relate to their everyday experiences but also with the culture related to their neighborhood and their interests. Also, all participants shared that they generally have difficulty connecting to especially African Americans and Hispanics, when the experiences that students read about do not align with their personal experiences. The same group of participants also found that African American and Hispanic students struggle with vocabulary. Hence, participants also focused on the foundation of building vocabulary first. Then, when students develop their vocabulary skills, they reported that

they could more easily concentrate on inference skills and comprehension skills in terms of the main idea and continue using contextual clues to master understanding of course content.

P3, P4, and P6 shared that making sure that the reading is not directed towards one ethnic group or one class of people is essential as they want to ensure students have a variety of culturally diverse materials that they are accessing. Fifty percent of participants explained that other differentiation practices for African American and Hispanic students, especially for struggling readers, included using strategies like active reading organizers and chunking during an experiment or reading assignments. Active reading organizers and chunking allow for students to stop reading and process what they have just read, while also giving teachers an opportunity to check students' understanding of the text by asking scaffolded questions as another way to differentiate instruction to promote student engagement. P1, P2, P3, P5, and P10 shared that frequently checking for understanding with the students to ensure they meet their needs and confirm their knowledge of the course content and curriculum was essential to maintaining engagement.

Eighty percent of participants also stated that in checking for understanding, they would ask questions about the reading that students just read to better assess their comprehension. Checks for understanding could be the teacher asking students about vocabulary, connections they personally have with the text, or how the text connects to other literature they have read. Also, 50% of participants stated that word choice was a struggle for some Hispanic students, who may be English language learners (ELL), and understanding academic vocabulary was challenging as a part of the checks for

understanding. Thus, the same 50% of participants shared that differentiated practices such as previewing and preteaching those vocabulary words made students more successful and resulted in the students being more included in the class discussion because they felt more comfortable knowing the vocabulary and, therefore, were able to feel more ownership over that activity in class. P3, P6, and P9 reported that previewing vocabulary terms gives students the confidence to have conversations in small groups with their peers and participate in a whole group discussion because they need to figure out what that word means or what is part of the discussion.

Similarly, P4, P5, and P7 stated that allowing students to pull information from different sources again using guided notes, dissection of reading passes, and graphic organizers gives them additional support and increases their access to the information needed to apply the information to assignments. Also, assignments are the application of the content-based vocabulary, and all participants found that once students have a solid background in terms of the key vocabulary words and academic constructs, it is effortless for students to use the proper words in context and apply their vocabulary knowledge to their comprehension to reach academic success and mastery.

All participants reported using culturally relevant practices and materials. All participants underscored the importance of making efforts to get to know their students and to provide relevant materials for their students. In addition, P2, P5, and P10 reported that they supplemented the curriculum from a culturally relevant pedagogy perspective, meaning that they identified unique materials to capture the interests of the African American and Hispanic students regarding their background and culture. Participants all

shared connections with their students and their students' interest in music and sports.

They used general interests to embed and highlight their students' background knowledge and culture. Participants noted that they strove to stay within the curriculum but to make it more meaningful by identifying resources pertinent to students' cultural experiences and remaining congruent with the curriculum taught.

Teachers perceived the importance of using culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices to support African American and Hispanic students. All participants noted how critical it was to differentiate practices to meet the needs of their students and that also included using culturally relevant strategies and materials. In order to effectively use culturally relevant practices, Participants shared the importance of examining their own perceptions and biases, with P9 adding, "We all have biases." P2, P3, P4, and P5 noted the value of examining one's own perceptions of race and ethnicity in order to increase self-awareness and to design more individualized, culturally relevant practices for their students.

In order to discern personal biases, all participants noted how teacher dialogue supported their personal understanding of their assumptions, thereby enabling them to identify critical culturally relevant strategies, build meaningful relationships with their students, and establish a positive classroom community. As a component of building a positive classroom community, most participants explained that when they say we need to talk about teacher support and working with this population of students, educational leaders need to realize the time and effort required to build good working relationships

with their students, identify culturally relevant strategies and individualized culturally relevant materials.

Theme 2: Teachers Emphasize the Need for Opportunities for Student Engagement

Teachers emphasized the need for opportunities for student engagement. This theme emerged from the findings supporting the increased need for student engagement in collaboration, discourse with teachers and peers, social and emotional development, and social justice. This theme is connected to Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy as constructs in this theory are focused on collaboration, student voice and choice, using background knowledge as a foundation for instruction, and discourse around real-world connections to promote student engagement and social justice.

I asked participants how they perceived that they emphasized opportunities for student engagement through collaboration and discourse with teachers and peers to promote social/emotional development and social justice to support African American and Hispanic students. P4, P7, and P8 illustrated that to create collaborative groups, they put students in groups based on their learning styles and how they scored on tests. Ninety percent of participants reported that they mix students heterogeneously to create a sense of balance in student voice and to support each student in the classroom better.

Mixing students heterogeneously to created balance in student voice and to support each student in the classroom included structured collaboration. Also, P8 stated, "I think collaborative structures and collaborative activities are the most effective. With reading achievement. It inspires more confidence, and inspires a sense of civic duty, because they're holding each other accountable." Fifty percent of participants expounded

on the fact that they also used Kagan strategies, so students have a structured way to collaborate and share through strategies like think-pair-share, where they talk to their shoulder partner about the reading. Also, with their peer participation, P2, P3, P5, P7, and P8 noted that this helps with the overall instruction by keeping students focused on the concepts and engagement of the lesson and helps students better understand the material by hearing the voice of their peers.

Kagan's strategies and other structured collaboration prompt and encourage students to participate during instruction and collaborate with their peers to understand the material better. Eighty percent of participants described that small-group differentiated instruction supports African American and Hispanic students for collaborative purposes. P1, P2, P4, P5, P6, P7, P8, P10 also explained that, in their classrooms, some instructional strategies they have used are small group instruction for some African American and Hispanic students. Likewise, P2 and P10 explained their experience as being directed toward improving content-related reading and pulling the students into a group in the back of the room for small-group support. Meanwhile, P6 additionally stated, "They are going to learn from each other more than they learned from me." P7 specifically shared that collaborative discourse (where each student has an assigned conversation role) that promotes a connection between curricular topics strengthens student reading comprehension. Fifty percent of participants shared that they try to institute advancement via individual determination (AVID) strategies to encourage students to work and collaborate to strengthen their reading skills. AVID strategies are strategies for students to use in their academic or personal world to organize their

thoughts and actions. The same 50% of participants employed many different techniques and strategies to get students to be more comfortable with reading and doing project presentations, where they had to conduct research in the classroom to strengthen their comprehension.

P7, P8, and P10 then shared that they think there needs to be an AVID class and a space that teaches students just basic strategies that help support learning and organizing themselves in life. For example, P7 and P10 focused on not just providing reading strategies. However, they also described instructing students on organization of life activities and emphasized making the learning experiences more accessible and relatable as a means to promote student engagement.

All participants stressed the importance of collaboration in all aspects of their instruction. Seventy-five percent of participants reported perceiving collaborative structures and activities, such as timed pair share or mixed pair share as the most effective. Teachers observed that students gained more confidence and that the content area of reading, structured as a successful experience can be effectively used to inspire a sense of civic duty. P1, P3, P4, P5, P6, P7, and P9 explained that the more confidence students had within the classroom, the more likely they would engage with the material and participate in lesson activities. Students often hold each other accountable for mastering content, especially in collaborative group activities. P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, P7, and P9 stated that the reflection of student opportunities for collaboration, discourse, and SEL are more likely to promote student engagement through the selection of instructional strategies afforded to students. P9 stated, and P3 and P10 shared, "We also provide a

Saturday Academy that's a voluntary program for students, particularly Spanish and African American students to collaborate with one another." The Saturday Academy program allows students to participate in collaborative and SEL in smaller group settings such as; collaborative vocabulary activities, gallery walks, and community building. Collaborative and SEL also leads to magnifying student voice and choice. Half of the participants shared that they try to give students at least three to four choices for most of the assignments during the Saturday Academy or their regular classes they teach, but they may also have a fifth or sixth choice regarding how students may complete an assignment. For example, if they are assigned a project, they can present it by creating a PowerPoint or a camera activity for a concept explanation. Students may also want to select a video presentation, and then, out of those three, they may also want to have a choice to present the assignment differently. P2 shared, "They have a better understanding of how to advocate for themselves and are more confident with their speaking after participating in SEL activities and collaboration." P4 also shared, "Students can then take that article, research, and information to make some connections or themselves." P5 stated, "I am making one-on-one appointments to prepare students for their reading and research, reading and presentation of their senior project." P7 and P9 explained that they collaborate with students during instruction and assessment. P6, P7, P8, and P9 shared they always like to do is bring real-world examples to them to make further connections to the curriculum and enhance reading comprehension. P4, P6, and P10, all science teachers, shared that they perceived science is all around us, so they always like to bring real-world examples to their lessons and show that to students as a

part of engaged collaboration. For example, when talking about chemical reactions, they talk about it in a way of looking at relationships, so students are talking about how these elements and molecules combine to talk about relationships with people, to provide a direct connection to students.

Real world examples and direct connections to the content provide students engagement and excitement about the material, which promotes their discourse. P3 and P8 shared that there is a challenge with student discourse, stating that some challenges are how social some students are because they will talk about the work that will easily segue into everything else, anything else as a topic.

According to all participants, students also had the opportunity for social and emotional learning to make further connections with the content and one another and to build a sense of belonging in a positive classroom climate. This type of learning creates a more welcoming classroom to promote student collaboration and discourse. Half the participants explained that they believe students, no matter their level, would be willing to take academic and social risks and learn because if teachers build a culture of love, then they also build a culture of trust. In addition, P1, P3, P6, and P9 also shared the importance of student motivation through social and emotional learning activities. The participants conveyed that SEL type activities where they come to know the students by asking them survey questions including where they come from, their interests, favorite food, favorite activities, music, sports, gaming, and technology interests served to help the student connect with the teacher as they were demonstrating a culture of caring by inquiring about who they were and where their interests lay. All participants shared that

they try to get to know each student and build their lesson to help students see themselves in the lesson.

P3 and P6 shared that utilizing focused class-building or team-building activities structures student time to support a positive classroom community and SEL. Classbuilding and team-building activities promote a sense of collective community in the classroom for students to feel more confident in how they collaborate with one another, engage with the content, and participate in lesson activities. P3, P4, P5, P10 reviewed these activities, and they used content-based activities as they pulled out the meanings of the paragraphs, which helped students succeed by leaving them to their own devices and letting them read independently. These same participants also noticed they receive many students in their classes needing decoding support, and then they ask questions about what is going on and things like that. All participants explained that they ensure they go through and read together as a class and then select the code and unpack passages together. P2, P3, P7, and P10 stated that text annotation while reading supports success and mastery by explaining that students cannot connect with the word and the displayed content. Text annotation promotes student engagement, so they are making real-world connections with the text. Some students are shy about reading because they have that breakdown and comprehension. These participants shared how they have students read a paragraph or specific portion of the text and annotate it to show how to chunk their reading to comprehend the text better. P6 explained that sometimes differentiation involves modeling what reading activities and analysis may look like so students can practice independently.

P1, P3, and P10 also explained that having students say they want to be safe and accepted for who they are is massive in building community and that they must focus on their classroom activities. Safety and acceptance in the classroom is a point where students can let down their guard and participate openly in collaboration, dialogue, and engage with lesson activities and concepts. P2, P3, P4, and P9 shared that their conversations with students go well beyond the content area and how they connect with the content in their natural world. P1, P5, P6, and P8 that their conversations went very deep, and all the students shared, opened up, and then started holding themselves accountable and talked about how they needed to do better. P6 and P8 specified that this caring culture started with teachers sharing their experiences in life and how they make personal connections with the curriculum, showing that because they are teachers, they are not perfect and do not always have all the answers. They reported that they have shown students who they are as human beings by sharing their academic struggles and mistakes in life from a general viewpoint of lessons learned. P6 also said, "They need to know that successful people came from similar circumstances." P4 an P10 also explained that they develop excellent working relationships with students. P9 and P10 create a culture of asking students what they need consistently and regularly. Thus, students will tell their teachers and let them know when they are struggling with the content. With the established close and trusting student-teacher relationship, participants perceived that students let the teacher know when they could benefit from additional help. P3, P6, P9, and P10 also observed that some teachers are too scared to build trusting and deeper relationships with students. P1, P3, P4, P6, P7, and P10 conveyed that they perceived that some teachers need help understanding how to develop good working relationships with students effectively. They also shared how teachers have got to get other educators to a point where they understand that our students want their teachers' attention and other educators who regularly interact with them. They shared that it is vital to develop positive relationships with students because if they have a negative relationship with their teacher, they are less likely to learn from them.

Similarly, P8 and P10 elaborated on how connections to students happen because of the level of transparency and how they use candid phrases with students to support and communicate their development, such as, "Thank you for your honesty." P6 and P9 reported that these phrases benefit students because they generally want them to tell the truth versus telling a lie and sharing their academic growth and struggles. This transparency encourages students to engage with the lesson activities such as collaboration with their peers and teachers and sharing their voice about the concepts of the lessons. They try to show grace as much as possible when communicating with students.

In addition, most participants explained that to increase student engagement, they think the sense of community starts with on the first day of class to increase student engagement, including building those connections and relationships. P6, P7, and P10 shared that it is the key to building communication and trust. Creating a sense of community in the classroom is vitally important. P6 and P10 talked extensively with students about building, growth, and relational capacity. If teachers do not have the

relational capacity in their room, either between students or even between students and teachers, they will not learn what they need to learn.

Theme 3: Teachers' Need of Support From District and Campus Stakeholders

Teachers perceived they need support from district and campus stakeholders in providing teachers with data-driven professional learning, instructional support (technical support coaching ongoing and systematic just-in-time PD), and culturally relevant supplemental resources/materials to promote equitable access to support African American and Hispanic students. I asked participants about their perceptions of the support from district and campus stakeholders in providing teachers with data-driven professional learning. P9 stated that they had reading intervention programs after school and brought reading assistance from reading coaches to assist students during class. P1, P2, P4, P6, P7, and P10 also explained they meet with instructional coaches in PLCs, stating PLCs are a building expectation by campus and district leaders to meet to examine summative assessments and formative assessment data. P1, P2, P4, P9, and P10 reported that they take the time during PLCs to look at their students' STAR reading assessment scores or their PSAT and SAT school for their high school. They look at the PSAT data, and they also look at NWEA MAP assessment data. They reported using the MAP data, the benchmark given at the beginning, mid-year, and end of the year. Participants also assess the MTSS groups where students receive academic support so they can remain where they need the most support or transition to a new area where further support is needed.

All participants shared that they do have instructional coaches who are available for all teachers. Participants all invite them to a PLC or into their classroom during regular instruction to observe and support the planning and instruction process. P1, P3, and P9 noted that instructional coaches provided support using various instructional strategies, student voice and choice, and specific student collaboration techniques like Kagan structures to enhance student collaboration and engagement with the planned lessons and activities.

P 4 and P7 stated how they could improve their practices if there were an opportunity to look at resources and develop data-driven methods. They shared that their opportunities to review resources and analyze and develop data-driven instructional methods are limited to several times a year such as professional learning days once a marking period. More time to review and analyze resources and data-driven methods for instruction is more important to teachers as they are trying to evolve their lessons to meet the needs of each student. However, they all shared that training for various platforms takes more time than taking the time to review and analyze resources and data-driven methods for instruction.

P2, P3, P4, P5, P7, and P9 reported they would like more support from campus and district leaders more often on their data analysis. The participants shared that there is a need to review how to analyze student data and to dissect the trends in student achievement. They stated that the basis of student achievement in mathematics and ELA is on state testing such as the SATs, and they see where students fall in proficiency in school and district compared to the state average. P2, P3, and P5 also talked about having

in-depth data digs built into activities at the beginning of the year for planning purposes. Then, they can incorporate them towards the middle and end of the year. P2, P4, and P5 shared this more frequent analysis would give an idea of where their students are in terms of ELA reading, writing, and mathematics proficiency.

P4, P6, and P7 explained that there are some excellent resources provided by district leaders. Still, P3, P4, P6, and P7 would like specific training in certain strategies by sharing what they use and relying on implementing many of the AVID strategies, as teachers feel AVID strategies are excellent for the students to help them because they build confidence. P3, P4, P6, P7, P9, and P10 also shared that training for reading comprehension, reading strategies to use across all content areas, and support for all content teachers, not just English teachers may be a good resource. P2 and P7 also pointed out that they have all the suitable support. They feel that African American and Hispanic students need to be more engaged to generate lasting change through PD. There has also been a focus on professional learning and coaching with writing strategies that P3, P4, P6, P7, P9, and P10 found extremely helpful, in addition to reading professional learning; all these things are extra-curricular things that they can implement, and then there is no further conversation on the training taking place. These participants thought if stakeholders were comfortable revisiting professional learning calendars and topics, or if they spread out over time, they would see more success in the data with all students.

Regarding instructional support from campus and district stakeholders, P2, P4, and P7 shared perspectives on what is going well and how they need further support. P3 and P5 shared that there is a need for support required at the district level and that the

district needs to be conscientious and purposeful about frequent classroom trips. P5 shared, "I think the most beneficial thing for district leaders to do when selecting curriculum and resources is to visit the buildings often and not just interact with staff, but all with our kids." Also, it is essential to make frequent quick trips to PLCs or PLCs to get to know each classroom dynamic and see how students are learning and processing.

P3, P5, and P10 similarly resolved that there should not be one student who lacks resources as long as the state, district, and school can provide the resources for every single student and give them opportunities for student voice and choice, which will make an equitable process. In addition to this point, P2, P4, P5, and P10 explained that there is a need for bringing in more diverse speakers could be more relatable for our students and could better help teachers reach African American and Hispanic students. All participants also shared a need to get enough time to work with the curriculum to analyze how to best provide the content to their diverse groups of students, saying that the district cannot keep changing or trying to get the newest, best thing without data from districts with similar characteristics. They find there is more value in keeping a curricular platform for at least 5 years so they can master the curriculum and learn the elements of the curriculum that best impact and support their students. As a teacher, sometimes, new programs are implemented quickly and without consulting teachers, and they grow comfortable with one, and then there is a switch to a new curriculum. All participants shared that frequent switches in curriculum and expectations often make even the more experienced teachers feel like novice educators, and teachers need more data should be needed to show that the previous curriculum required student improvement. P3 and P9 explained that district

stakeholders were rushing to make things like data look perfect and to have highachieving students taking AP courses. P4 stated,

AP in my school.

They left out some of those important strategized reading and comprehension, and remedial reading programs that I think some of our kids could benefit from.

Campus leaders aim for the top and went straight to the other end offering only

P1, P2, P3, P5, P7, P8, and P9 shared that eliminated non-AP courses reduces course for students where they can get more instructional support. They omitted important strategy pieces like assessing student STAR testing and evaluating remedial reading programs that some students could benefit from.

P4 and P10 also shared that the teachers have to feel supported. They felt district stakeholders wanted them to go in front of students and smile and create a beautiful environment, and then they had to feel supported. The district would need to support teachers and students equally and understand the dynamics of the students they are working with. These same participants think a separation gap exists between our students and teachers and teacher and district leaders. The P3, P4, and P10 shared that the more active the district office is within the school buildings, the more they can understand the culture and make better decisions for students and staff. Therefore, there is a need for district office leaders to be present more frequently within the schools as they make decisions about curriculum and instructional practices.

Half of the participants shared as non-English teachers that they desire and need training in teaching reading during their professional learning days. They felt this type of

training would be helpful specifically in that area of reading and understand more of how they can support students through that training and getting access to resources. Lastly, all participants stated the following regarding the need to look at practices that have worked in the past. P1, P4, and P7 need to look at what moved them to be a top district in the state and lead the country in mathematics, reading, and science. Leaders need to look at some practices that have helped student achievement and success in the past. All participants shared that the pay for teachers is also inconsistent and that depending on their roles in education, such as special education or general education, the expectation increases for them and for the same pay rate as other teachers who only have to focus on curriculum planning and implementation. All participants also spoke about teacher turnover because some teachers find that there is no worth in how the educational system takes place and that significant changes must be made instead of switching from one initiative and curriculum to the next. P2, P3, P4, P5, P7, and P10 explained there is a need to look further into the efficacy of our education system and determine the factors that are affecting student learning and teacher retention. Some factors include teachers' pay for what they are asked to do, continuous initiatives, community conflicts, and students need to get closer to achieving a higher level of mastery. Fifty percent of participants have been teaching for decades, and they are burned out. They reported that they do not want to teach anymore because of all the curricular changes and initiatives that go far beyond academic and social growth for students.

When teachers discussed their need for continued support in culturally relevant practices, they shared the need for support from the instructional coaches and campus and

district leaders. P3 stated, "There is more need for bringing in more diverse speakers that could be more relatable for our students, so that it could better help teachers reach our students that are African America and Hispanic." P2, P5, and P6 clarified they think there needs to be a shift in administrative tasks for teachers to use their creativity to figure out how to implement these cultural sensitivities into their instructional design. P2, P5, and P6 believed there must be time to find these resources and PLC to determine the best ways to engage and motivate African American and Hispanic students. Overall, all participants perceived they need support from district and campus stakeholders in providing teachers with data-driven professional learning, instructional support (technical support coaching ongoing and systematic just-in-time PD), and culturally relevant supplemental resources/materials to promote equitable access to support African American and Hispanic students.

Theme 4: Teacher Support Needed in Developing and Promoting Family and Community Partnerships

I asked participants about their perception of how they encourage school and community partnership and their need for continued support with cultivating school-to-home and community partners to support African American and Hispanic students. Key attributes to developing family and community partnerships included teachers making personal connections with students' families with frequent contact and for them to collaborate with community partners for providing students with real world. Fifty percent of participants explained the importance of district leaders interacting with students by visiting the building to visit them in the classrooms and have individual conversations

with them. P1, P2, and P7 shared that teachers need to try to meet and greet with students, families, and community partners in school and outside of school and see them in church and at sporting events, games, or other community activities. P2 explained, "If I can get their family to buy in and 'realize that it's imperative because wherever they go, whatever they do, you have to know how to read, comprehend, and understand." The participant further elaborated that they always feel like home to school is a connection; we are not separated, and the parent is the student's first teacher. Fifty percent of participants justified the importance of family connections to school by stating that the parents share the importance of education, and there is high value in talking to parents about postsecondary options for students and how their academics can impact their experiences as tradesmen, business owners, or executives. Also, P6 and P9 shared that they opened up the school building for people in the district to observe their classrooms and the activities they created for families to participate in their child's education, P1, P3, P7, and P10 shared that they also invited stakeholders outside of the district to join activities in the school community for the day. Therefore, participants value increasing family engagement in the learning process and how families can promote student success at home. Overall, each participant shared how teachers have developed and promoted family partnerships to develop a better relationship between home and school.

When participants shared their perspectives on their efforts to develop and promote relationships between home and school, eighty percent of participants shared they have solid relationships with their students' families. P3 and P9 shared that initially developing a relationship with some parents as a support system for students is one of the

challenges they face. P4 also demonstrated that specific topics that they talk about conflict with family values and shared they offered the opportunity for families to voice their perspective on topics in the curriculum that may conflict with their familial beliefs. P4 said,

Let's understand that when we start talking about evolution, [I explain to the class] it's the science behind it [evolution], not talking about the religious concepts. Whatever you're being taught at home, that's fine. I'm not discussing my perspective on that [religion] here. But, even with that discussion, that's traditionally been the unit where I've gotten the most pushback and debate from students and families.

P4 shared that providing parents with concepts ahead of time and opening a dialogue with them about academic content allows them to collaborate with one another and develop individual supports for students. P1, P4, P5, and P10 also shared they typically like to see that students have the choice between AP and different higher levels of courses. Sharing course descriptions with families and community partners provides a better dialogue on what different students need when they graduate from high school. These participants stated they do not see too many minority students in those classes, and that shows some inequity. These educators shared that it is bothersome that there needs to be more diversity in these courses, and some of the diversity may be the effect of reading deficits among African American and Hispanic students.

P2, P3, and P7 then shared that another experience to add is field trips because field trips and guest speakers could also help students in their careers and see that that's a

potential achievement, they can reach by developing a dialogue with community partners. However, P2, P3, and P7 shared there is great difficulty in planning field trips and getting them approved so students can see their content area in the real world and connect with community stakeholders to see how they can apply what they have learned in school. P2, P3, P5, and P9 also explained there is difficulty in creating community connections, sharing that to inspire students, they need to see people who look like them who are achieving, and most things are done via networking; we need to create networking opportunities for students in school because some of them are not going to get it outside of the schoolhouse.

Lastly, P9 shared that the school has held a few events related to partnerships with families and community members but would like to see more collaboration with the community stakeholders in their building; they have also held a showcase, which is where they have opened up school doors to allow for other schools to come in and see how teachers and students are doing what they are doing how well we are implementing reading strategies.

P2 and P9 also shared that having strong community partnerships, such as guest speakers who support the importance of reading in school and how understanding basic concepts has helped them become more successful throughout their lives. The family and community partnerships also support students, seeing people from similar backgrounds reaching levels of success due to their academic success and mastery. Teachers also hosted events that included family and community partners called Lunch and Learn.

Lunch and Learn is where the teachers bring in community partners to speak with

students about their career field or college experiences. Students can connect with community partners and ask about their career and college aspirations. and, in the curriculum, introduced at every grade level.

As participants shared their views on family and community partnerships, they reported how they promoted school and community partnerships and needed continued support with cultivating school-to-home and community partners to support African American and Hispanic students. In this qualitative research study, I examined high school teachers' perceptions of how they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, which could influence instructional practices and reflection in the future at the study district. To address the RQ, the perspectives of educators included (a) use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices as a vital instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, (b) areas where teachers feel they have support from district administration, but would like increased provisions to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, (c) opportunities for teachers to participate in professional learning to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, and (d) support to develop and promote family and community partnerships.

Discrepant Cases

In qualitative data, there are sometimes instances of disconfirming or deviant cases or data. After reading and rereading my data, I looked at the commonalities in the data from the multiple rounds of coding, categorizing, and theming. Patton (1990)

explained that identification of disconfirming data is then recognizing examples of data that to not fit the emerging patterns. According to Yin (2016) discrepant data requires modification of the assertion or declarative statement of summative synthesis. During the data collection and process, I practiced objective thinking to reduce bias or direct participants to answer a specified way. Yin (2019) explained that rival thinking is a strategy to ensure credibility and researchers need to vigorously search their data for discrepant evidence. I found no evidence of disconfirming evidence through this process. All participant data had commonalities and fit into the four themes: (a) Theme 1: Teachers' use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices, (b) Theme 2: Teachers emphasize the need for opportunities for student engagement, (c) Theme 3: Teachers need of support from district and campus stakeholders, and (d) Theme 4: Teachers needed support in also developing and promoting family and community partnerships. As a result of using the rival thinking practice, there was no discrepant cases found; therefore, there is no required modification of the assertion or declarative statement of summative synthesis.

Evidence of Quality

In this basic qualitative study, there were various procedures to address and ensure accuracy of data. I used established criteria, to ensure trustworthiness, credibility, and quality to make solid arguments about my findings. According to Shenton (2004), four criteria ensure a trustworthy study: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. The quality of this study has evidence through its purpose, RQ, methodology, data collection, and data analysis. With this evidence and using the four

criteria, I have established trustworthiness. As Poucher et al. (2020) explained, coherence in methodology is a guiding principle in ensuring alignment between the research purpose, and RQ. The coherence of the study also shows that the findings are transferable to a wider, and more universal context. Ritchie et al. (2003) shared that findings in qualitative research can be generalized with the framework, but in an empirical sense, qualitative research findings may be not applied to settings beyond their context and sample study. Study findings may possibly be transferable to districts sharing a similar study site and participant demographics. The dependability of a study is the researcher's ability to replicate the study in similar conditions and without bias (Stenfors et al., 2020). For this study, the same research can be replicated with teachers across the state and on a national level due to asking about teacher perceptions on how they provide reading supports to African American and Hispanic students for academic success using the procedures and protocols described in detail in the methodology section. No matter where teachers are employed, the interview questions are questions they can relate to and answer. Regarding confirmability, the researcher examines the link between the data and the findings (Lumsden, 2022). The evidence of confirmability is using direct quotes or statements from the participants to validate the themes that emerged from the data based on the study purpose and RQ. Lastly, reflexivity is another criterion used in assessing the quality of research in a qualitative study. Guba and Lincoln (1989) described a reflexive approach as the researcher being aware of social, ethical, and overall impacts of the research, and creating a fluid relationship with the participants, gatekeepers, and study district stakeholders. In this study, reflexivity was important to assess in terms of how the study district and how participants' names would be kept confidential and how the findings could be used to set measurable, high yield goals to positively influence student achievement and a variety of other study district stakeholders. I used several tools to assess the quality of research that align with these criteria. I have also used member checking as a valid source related to evidence of quality (see Motulsky, 2021).

Member Checking

As a point of assessing the quality of the study, I shared data analysis with the participants to validate my findings and results. According to Long and Godfrey (2004), trustworthiness of research is built through the processes used for high quality qualitative research. Through the member checking process, I solicited feedback from my participants about the data and interpretations of their responses. Motulsky (2021) specified that validity checks by conferring with participants is regarded as a gold standard in establishing credibility of qualitative research. After each participant interview, I stated the following:

Once all interviews for this study conclude, I will notify you of their completion and offer you an opportunity to review the overall data of the participants, with their identity withheld. Once you review the overall data from participants responses, you will have an opportunity to share if I need to make any adjustments to what you have stated.

This process allowed participants to share if any adjustments needed to be made to their transcripts. I gave participants 7 days to provide feedback about the transcripts.

None of the participants suggested changes to the transcripts. Once all participants

responded or did not reply, the transcripts were used for the data analysis process of coding, categorizing, and theming. According to Motulsky (2021), member checking ensures an ethical, valid, and rigorous study in qualitative research. Finishing the member checking process supported me to move into further analyzing the transcripts for each participant. Therefore, using the tools to assess quality of my study, I was able to develop findings and goals that emerged from the four themes.

Summary of Findings

The problem addressed by the study was that African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. Guided by Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy, I investigated the perspective of high school teachers on they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district. Freire emphasized the use of instructional strategies teachers use to engage diverse learners in the theory of critical pedagogy.

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. Using Freire's theory of critical pedagogy, when teachers provide a collaborative approach to education, develop a sense of community, demonstrate understanding of students' experiences and background, employ real-world applications, and empower students to understand social justice, students become active in their own education and view concepts as a form of

self-development to make connections with the material. In this basic qualitative study, I interviewed 10 participants from the three high schools in the study district in one-on-one semistructured interviews using a self-developed interview protocol. Participants met the criteria of being (a) high school teacher employed in the study district who (b) provided instruction in a core content class and (c) had knowledge of the phenomenon, the academic achievement gap of African American and Hispanic students in reading. In this section, I summarize my findings and goals for each theme and as aligned to the study's problem, purpose, and RQ along with current literature, and conceptual framework. I describe the resulting project, a white paper that reflects suggestions of professional learning and community collaboration, that are coherent with the study findings.

RO

The study findings addressed one RQ that guided this study: How do high school teachers perceive they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district? Four themes emerged from this RQ based on the 11 questions and probes I asked 10 participants during their interviews. Theme 1 is teacher use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices. Theme 2 is teachers emphasize the need for opportunities for student engagement. Theme 3 is teachers need of support from district and campus stakeholders. Lastly, Theme 4 is teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships.

Theme 1 is teacher use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices. This theme is a focus on how educators implement culturally relevant practices

during their lessons and how important these practices are to teaching students with diverse backgrounds in order for them to reach academic mastery. Participants described using resources to support cultural relevancy for the students they teach. Participants described elements of the conceptual framework, Freire's theory, in their responses that such as making real world connections, intentional student engagement, and highlighting social justice. Culturally relevant resources and restorative practice along with preteaching students background information about a concept from Freire's theory of critical pedagogy align with students and teachers making connections with various activities and build a positive classroom environment (D. Thomas & Dyches, 2019). The findings indicate that teachers acknowledge the importance of supporting their instruction with a culturally relevant pedagogy. According to Ladson-Billings (2021b), it is imperative for educators to use student background knowledge and their diversity to develop higher order thinking and lead to better academic outcomes. Participants perceived their instructional strategies supported diverse learners in accessing content in a multicultural viewpoint. Ladson-Billings (2021a) also stated how Freire's (1970) theory on critical pedagogy addresses how multiculturalism in educational practices and instructional development creates unity and diversity in a social reconstructionist view. Moule (2012), in agreement with Ladson-Billings (2021a) and Freire (1970), explained that diversity in education requires educators to practice culturally competency. Educators must be aware of their inclusion of multicultural materials for instructional planning and to incorporate diverse materials and resources to support African American and Hispanic students (D. Thomas & Dyches, 2019). The study findings related to this

theme is for educators to continue to seek ways to practice culturally relevant practices and provide students with opportunities to engage with content and resources with a multicultural focus to engage students.

Theme 2 is teachers emphasized the need for opportunities for student engagement. This means that high school teachers perceive they emphasize opportunities for student engagement through collaboration and discourse with teacher and peers to promote social/emotional development and social justice to support African American and Hispanic students. This theme emerges from the opportunity for student engagement in collaboration, discourse with teacher and peers, social and emotional development, social justice category. In connection to the theme, Freire's (1970) elements of this theory, that served as the conceptual framework emerged that focused on collaboration, student voice and choice, using background knowledge as a foundation for instruction, and discourse around real world connections to promote student engagement, and social justice. Student discourse and collaboration align with the district instructional principles, so students are actively involved in the learning of concepts through explaining, questioning, reflecting, synthesizing, and debating. The findings indicate students' academic success is heavily increased by making connections with peers and with their teachers (Cherng & Davis, 2019; Keyes, 2019). Participants shared the importance of student collaboration, student discourse, and using student voice and choice when building instruction. Mahur et al. (2019) suggested ways educators could incorporate student engagement by using individual instructional practices to increase student achievement. Mahur et al. and Dukes et al. (2023) explored and reflected on using

collaboration as a format to encourage student participation and critical thinking.

Participants shared the importance of continuing to build on student collaboration and the positive results collaboration has on students not only academically but also from a social and emotional standpoint, and subsequently positively influences the school climate and student achievement (see Zhao et al., 2023). Accordingly, educators should continue to emphasize opportunities for student engagement through PD centered around student collaboration, student discourse, and educators using student voice and choice when providing instruction.

Theme 3 is teachers need of support from district and campus stakeholders. This is a focus on how high school teachers perceive they need support from district and campus stakeholders in providing teachers with data-driven professional learning, instructional support and culturally relevant supplemental resources/materials to promote equitable access to support African American and Hispanic students. Participants also shared how there is an expectation to regularly use PLCs, but participants reported they often need support from instructional leaders with fully utilizing their PLCs to support student success. Freire (1970) shared that teacher collaboration, with one another and with students, promotes students developing their own voice in making decisions about their academic and societal future. Participants shared that teachers would like more data-driven PD to support their efforts in utilizing culturally relevant pedagogy during PLCs. They would also like to have more supplemental resources focusing on culturally relevant aspects of the students they teach to provide equitable access to African American and Hispanic students. The findings indicate students' academic success would be better

supported from campus and district stakeholders by providing additional support in datadriven professional learning and accessing diverse supplemental materials as some educators struggle to find these resources to support African American and Hispanic students. Delk (2019) and Oryan and Ravid (2019) shared that as student populations become more diverse, teachers' multicultural knowledge of students must increase to be better prepared to instruct culturally diverse students and to be better prepared to acknowledge sociocultural resources and information that students bring to the classroom. Nyachae (2021) further stated that teachers must also feel comfortable with having conversations about various culturally responsive material with diverse groups of students, so they are able to further reflect on the experiences of others and respect specific unique aspects about their students' diverse backgrounds. Teachers shared that they welcome stakeholders into their classroom to see the diversity of students and to include students in on the conversation on what engages them with instruction. The findings related to this theme are for educators to participate in data-driven professional learning and to be given further access to diverse supplemental materials to provide more culturally relevant instruction to support African American and Hispanic students.

Theme 4 is teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships. In this theme, there is a focus on how high school teachers perceive they promote school and community partnership and need continued support with cultivating school to home and community partners to support African American and Hispanic students. Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy not only focused on teacher relationships with students, but with teachers building student relationships in

collaboration with families to their community so they are better prepared to positively contribute to their local community and society as a whole. I asked participants about their perception about how they promote school and community partnership and their need for continued support with cultivating school to home and community partners to support African American and Hispanic students. The findings indicated that while teachers work to build positive connects between home and school, the community partners and school, there is still room this area to grow with cultivating this partnership to create a positive school climate. Castro-Alonso et al. (2021) described the school as a living system. This living system needs all parts working collaboratively and explicitly to facilitate the transition to benefit society. Castro-Alonso et al. analyzed relationships among stakeholders, discussed the role of coaching instruction, and described coaching in the community to aim toward the same vision. The findings related to this theme are for educators to work more collaboratively with community partners and families through an advisory board to determine the best ways to build positive partnerships for the benefit of African American and Hispanic student success. In the next section, I describe the project deliverable, a white paper with recommendations for the study district stakeholders to address the findings of the study.

Project Deliverable

In Section 3, I discuss and describe a deliverable project that is based on the findings, conceptual framework, and current literature in alignment with the purpose and RQ of the study. The project for this qualitative study will be a white paper to suggest data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing

diverse content area supplemental materials, and creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

The project deliverable will be a white paper to focus on the findings and recommending possible solutions. The white paper will be presented to the school board, teaching and learning department, and high school core content teachers during respective meetings. The recommendations in the white paper are for the consideration of campus and district stakeholders:

- create an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students
- build teacher capacity by providing professional learning in culturally relevant
 pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms
- provide data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse
- complete an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board and all stakeholders to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students

The white paper presents a problem and crafted recommendations based on the findings of this research study. The white paper will illustrate the actions to delivering data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing

diverse content area supplemental materials, and creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

Conclusion

In conclusion, Section 2 included my review of the qualitative research design, methodology, participants, data collection, data analysis, summary of findings, and project deliverable. There are four themes that emerged from data analysis to answer the RQ. I connected the themes to participant responses and literature as well as to the conceptual framework. The conceptual framework was Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy. Freire shared in critical pedagogy theory the ideas of teachers and students both as learners, developing critical literacy to identify equity, and encouraging active inquiry. Freire influenced ways that teachers thought about and provided instruction to students. For example, Freire's critical pedagogy focused on concepts to build engagement of students; the educator and student collaborate to critically reflect on their environment to transform it. Furthermore, Freire shared that a positive learning environment includes care, equity, and trust. I used this framework to direct the recommendations leading to the resulting white paper project genre.

Section 3: The Project

The problem addressed by the study is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. Guided by Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy, this study investigated the perspective of high school teachers on they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district. I explored this problem by conducting a basic qualitative research study at the study district to gain perspective of high school teachers and how they implement instructional strategies to inform campus and district leaders about possible remedies to address some aspects of the problem. I conducted a Priori coding that correlated to the conceptual framework of Freire's theory of critical pedagogy attributes and the district instructional principles. Based on the findings in Section 2, I created a white paper to inform and persuade stakeholders at the district by sharing my recommendations about professional learning and development of an advisory board to support the improvement of reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students. When I analyzed the findings, four themes emerged from my individual interviews with high school core content teachers, and those themes focused on a need for (a) teachers' use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices, (b) teachers emphasizing the need for opportunities for student engagement, (c) teachers need of support from district and campus stakeholders, and (d) teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and

Hispanic students. Therefore, the analysis of the findings in alignment with the white paper development includes recommendations to support the findings of this study to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

In Section 3, I describe the goals for the white paper and describe the deliverable project of the white paper to inform and persuade stakeholders at the study district about needs to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. In addition, I share scholarly literature that supports the project and synthesizes my findings and recommendations. According to Van Mechelen et al. (2023), white papers are a point at which data findings are clustered to set a benchmark on policy recommendations. This project will be a benchmark of where the district can support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students.

Description and Goals of a White Paper Project

A white paper was created in response to the findings of this research study. The white paper is a product of research that presents readers with a focus on a complex topic, the problem, and in turn offers a remedy to solve the problem in action steps or for stakeholders to make an informed decision (Pelkmans & Robson, 1986). The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. Teachers interviewed as participants in this study expressed collective sentiments in regard to the four themes. The purpose of this white paper is to provide recommendations based on the findings of this study. A white paper is used to inform readers within the industry, illustrate in-depth knowledge and

research about the topic, and present a solution as actionable steps to remedy the problem (Pelkmans & Robson, 1986). The white paper presents a problem and the solution based on the findings of the research. The recommendations in the white paper include (a) creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students; (b) building teacher capacity by providing professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms; (c) providing data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse; and (d) completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board and all stakeholders to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework is grounded in Bourdieu's (1977) change theory of habitus. The findings of this study aligned with Bourdieu's theory explaining that teacher resources and parent and community connections support socially diverse student populations. According to Bourdieu's (1977) habitus theory, Bourdieu explained that people develop their thoughts, actions, and words slowly through socialization. The pedagogy from this theory is about social capital and openness to new experiences and readiness to sense and become knowledgeable about new ideas. With the incorporation of the change theory of habitus and theory of critical pedagogy, there is a tie-in to engaging the social dynamics of diverse student populations to support further academic and social development and cultural capital. Bourdieu (2017) stated that building data-driven

resources, and collaborative relationships builds a successful foundation to support students of diverse backgrounds. The goals in this white paper are designed to inform and persuade educational leaders to (a) build teacher capacity to develop more teacher leaders, (b) support further professional dialogue that is explicit to student voice and student data, (c) provide culturally relevant supplemental resources, and (d) gain stakeholder input about culturally relevant pedagogy and build strong community and family partnerships to support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students. Therefore, using this framework in alignment with the findings, I will share the rationale for using a white paper.

Rationale

In this section, I discuss the decision of writing a white paper to recommend changes at the study district to support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students. The purpose of the study was to examine high school teachers' perceptions of how they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement could impact instructional practices and reflection in the future at the study district. To address the RQ, the perspectives of educators include (a) what teachers focus on as a vital part of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, (b) areas where teachers feel they have support from district administration but would like increased provisions to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement, and (c) opportunities for teachers to participate in professional learning to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement.

Review of the Literature

The literature review is an overview of research in relation to the white paper project genre and peer-reviewed scholarly research related to the project genre. The project genre is addressing the study findings and therefore addressing the study problem. I determined the white paper genre would address the problem of the study, which is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. I will use the white paper to inform and persuade stakeholders at the district by sharing my recommendations about professional learning and development of an advisory board to support the improvement of reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students at the study district.

In the literature review, I analyze the white paper genre in education, and discuss the findings aligned with writing a white paper. Furthermore, I provide a research overview of the varied aspects of PD with data analysis, culturally relevant supplemental resources, and teaching reading in all core content areas. I also share a research overview of family to school collaboration and community partnerships.

The research overview for the literature review began with a search for peerreviewed literature published within the last 5 years. The review procedures included
using various electronic databases, such as Walden University library using the education
Thoreau Multi-Database Search, Google alert and RSS feed to receive up-to-date articles
about white papers in education, white paper genres, reading interventions and academic
achievement of diverse learners, and school collaboration with families and the

community. In addition, EBSCO, ERIC, and Sage Publications provided published academic articles and books based on the topics searched, such as reading achievement for diverse learners, curriculum resources to increase reading scores for diverse learners, increasing African American and Hispanic reading scores, increasing African American and Hispanic student engagement, instructional practices for cultural competency, and student collaboration, just to name a few. Keywords related to the phenomenon being studied were used and included white paper genre, white papers in education, position paper, policy recommendation, diverse student achievement, diverse student learning, reading skill development, African American students, Hispanic students, Latino students, self-esteem and belonging + diverse students, high school, gap in reading scores, students of color, equity, historical factors influencing African American achievement gap, teacher-student relationships, culturally responsive pedagogy/instruction, school and family connections, advisory board, and school partnerships with the community. In the next section, I review the topics identified in the literature that inform the state of the educational field related to the findings of the study.

White Papers in Education to Support Positive Change

The white paper is a project genre to analyze, engage, inform, and propose change. Rodler and Renbarger (2023) explained that white papers can promote positive change and shift mindsets to promote a positive culture. The white paper is a research-based, data-driven report, which offers the full description of a complex topic and presents solutions and suggests possible changes in policy and practice (Franzò et al., 2023). White papers should also provide solutions that are systemic and sustainable to

incorporate the perspective and voice of stakeholders (Franzò et al., 2023; Rodler & Renbarger, 2023). In addition, Franzò et al. (2023) and shared how a white paper can promote collaboration amongst a wider variety of stakeholders and provide not only a systemic change but promote innovation in practices. Karsgaard and Davidson (2023) also shared similar aspects of the usage of a white paper stating that white papers also share the perspectives of the most impacted stakeholder to promote a positive climate change in education that addresses justice, individualization, and emotionality. Castro-Alonso et al. (2021) analyzed relationships among stakeholders, discussed the role of using the white paper to provide solutions to coaching instruction, and described coaching in the community to aim toward the same vision. The researchers explained everyone's mutual stake in the outcome of students, the schools, and the community. In addition, Karsgaard and Davidson (2023) explained that white papers can address the systemic lag in education to promote a positive climate and positive social change. Therefore, a white paper project genre supports stakeholders to analyze, engage, inform, and propose policy and systemic change with the recommendations shared within the project that align with research findings.

Findings Aligned With Writing A White Paper

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. The purpose of this white paper is to provide recommendations based on the findings of this study. The findings of this study focused on a need for (a) teachers' use of culturally relevant

pedagogy and differentiated practices, (b) teachers' emphasis on the need for opportunities for student engagement, (c) teachers' need of support from district and campus stakeholders, and (d) teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. Helgetun and Menter (2022) explained that public and private sectors of education should focus on supports for teacher PD and enhance the current policies to include practices that teachers can feasibly take into their classroom to promote diverse student engagement and academic success. There is also a broader change in the education environment due to the proposed solutions in education for providing teachers with supplemental resources and with promoting their skill level on data-driven practices through data analysis professional learning (Helgetun & Menter, 2022; Lerman, 2022). Lerman (2022) furthermore substantiated that the proposed white paper aligns to providing equitable access to resources that is one aspect of Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy stating that when marginalized groups of students having access to supplemental resources and teachers providing diverse instructional materials promotes a structural change in education. Additionally, Delk (2019) and Oryan and Ravid (2019) shared that as student populations become more diverse, multicultural knowledge of students must increase to be better prepared to instruct culturally diverse students and prepared to acknowledge sociocultural resources and information that students bring to the classroom. White papers can guide educators in shifting accessibility to content and instructional resources (Lerman, 2022). Not only can the use of white papers be used to shift teachers professional learning to support accessibility and their data analysis of

student success, they can also be used to provide support in the school developing positive relationships with the school and the community.

Using the white paper genre to support the parental input so schools and parents collaborate with one another also has a positive effect to provide educators with an understanding that parents and the community should focus on the diversity of students and their success. According to Kretchmar (2023), parents are mostly invested in their own child's educational outcomes and mastery not the outcomes of other students. However, for the school environment to be successful, the schools must build parent insight to understand that each student and their diverse needs not being met can impact their child in a negative way (Kretchmar, 2023; Maranto et al., 2020). Maranto et al. (2020) also explained that since the COVID-19 pandemic parents are more invested in supporting their child's education, and there is a desire from parents to become more invested in the educational process and being present to support teachers with the home to school connection for all parents and all students. Just the same, Kern (2020) examined the success implementation of parent engagement to promote inclusive practices and student success among diverse populations. Therefore, the analysis of the findings in alignment with the white paper development includes recommendations to support the need for (a) teachers' use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices, (b) teachers' emphasis on the need for opportunities for student engagement, (c) teachers' need of support from district and campus stakeholders, and (d) teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

PLCs

PLC participation is a common format for educators to develop their professional insights and practices. Well-developed PLCs have a positive impact on teaching PD and practice as well as student learning (Weddle, 2022). Teachers in PLCs learn together and collaborate to determine the best strategies to improve student achievement (J. Jones & Vari, 2019). Castro-Alonso et al. (2021), J. Jones and Vari (2019), and Weddle (2022) examined how as educators participated in PLCs, they found more comfort in planning to incorporate more learner-centered strategies within their daily instruction and assessment. PLCs establish a mindset of collaboration and supporting student need regardless of ethnic background. Barber and Klauda (2020) stated collaboration can help teachers determine which principles of student engagement and motivation to apply for teachers' emphasis on the need for opportunities for student engagement to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

PLCs provide alignment among educators. Ciampa and Reisboard (2021), J. Jones and Vari (2019), and Weddle (2022) explained the importance of PD to support educators in implementing a learner-centered classroom. Instructional coaches can provide insight and feedback to educators on instructional activities and focus. As the researchers developed their ideas about PD supporting educators and their implementation of learner-centered instruction, methods of observation and informal interviews were a basis for their findings. With instructional coaching, support, and guidance, educators become more willing to experiment with learner-centered activities. PLCs establish a mindset of collaboration and supporting student need.

PLCs can also be useful for curriculum mapping after aligning resources. Weddle (2022) shared insight about cross-disciplinary curriculum mapping. The aims of this curriculum mapping include developing guidelines for the curriculum mapping process, developing a curriculum mapping process, creating a plan for dissemination and sustainability, and initiating student use of the curricular maps in academic experiences. Cross-disciplinary curriculum mapping provides instructional similarities across the content areas. The process can occur in cross-disciplinary PLCs to support PD in using differentiated practices.

Teacher PD: Differentiation

As the literature relates to learner-centered instructional practices and ideals, teacher PD is also a focus to explore the achievement gaps of African American and Hispanic students. Teacher PD is an essential element to academic success. Smets and Struyven (2020) shared that high school teachers that differentiated instruction in their classroom, found that there was a direct correlation between the use of differentiation and the academic success of diverse student populations. With continuous PD and collaborating with instructional leaders, teachers showed success with implementing various strategies associated with differentiated instruction (Smets & Struyven, 2020). When seeking to increase student connection to content and engage with the instructional materials, PD is key to finding better ways to increase students' academic growth. Barber and Klauda (2020) stated teachers should receive PD specific to principles of student engagement in reading instruction, particularly among diverse populations. Keyes (2019), Krawczyk (2019), and Wetzel et al. (2019) shared insights on preparing teachers to

deliver instruction that caters to the learner, regardless of background. The instructional delivery in providing differentiated strategies includes cooperative learning strategies to accommodate heterogeneity (Smets & Struyven, 2020). Keyes, Krawczyk, and Smets and Struyven (2020) all shared that teacher usage of collaborative grouping and strategies also supports students in participating during instruction and promotes academic and social development. Teachers' use of differentiated instruction not only supports student collaboration and building background knowledge, differentiated instruction also is a way to promote student engagement and motivation (Smets & Struyven, 2020). Students with diverse backgrounds and diverse needs in the classroom are able to better reach a level of academic success and academic mastery in a variety of areas (Smets & Struyven, 2020). Bremner et al. (2022) described differentiated strategies for teachers to use, such as grouping, using student voice and choice, diverse content, various assessment formats, strategic use of supplemental resources. Bremner et al. found that using differentiated practices provided an inclusive instructional model and more individualized opportunities for students to access, learn, and master content. Krawczyk and Wetzel et al. explained there are difference levels to differentiation in reading instruction. Similar to the MTSS process, Tier 1 supports are general differentiation strategies that support all students in the classroom that include grouping and teaching background knowledge (Krawczyk, 2019; Wetzel et al., 2019). Tier 2 supports differentiation includes supports for students such as vocabulary and reading comprehension supports like graphic organizers, while Tier 3 supports include small group instruction and modifications to assignments (Krawczyk, 2019; Wetzel et al., 2019). Wetzel et al. also explained that instructional

technology can be used by teachers to differentiate instruction to cater to students diverse and individualized needs. Using a differentiated approach to instruction provides students with a personal connection to the material and teachers use of differentiation can support students with various academic needs (Bremner et al., 2022). This instructional delivery also includes teachers making personal connections with their students and continually assessing their instructional practices to meet the needs of each student.

Teacher PD should include strategies for differentiated instruction. Bremner et al. (2022) and Ciampa and Reisboard (2021) used qualitative methods to gather information on incorporating instructional strategies to support the academic success of diverse students. Ciampa and Reisboard focused on differentiated instruction techniques. Using differentiated instruction and planning for collaborative learning experiences ultimately provides students with a more diverse viewpoint of the content and to see the authentic progression of logical thinking through those same collaborative discussion techniques. Bremner et al. linked differentiated instruction strategies to the following variables within teacher implementation: the teachers' self-efficacy in differentiated instruction, teaching beliefs, teaching experience, PD, teacher certification, and classroom size. The researchers found that differentiated instruction implementation has increased but is still below a critical benchmark in addressing students' diverse needs.

PD: Data Analysis

PD can provide a multitude of resources, strategies, and supports for educators.

However, there is a continued gap in evidence and practice among certain areas such as data analysis and teacher use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices

to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. According to Popova et al. (2022), the attributes of the most effective teacher PD is incentivizing the participation in professional learning, opportunities for teachers to practice new skills learned from PD, and follow up once teachers return to the classroom by instructional coaches and administration. With these attributes in mind, teachers found that training focused on regularly evaluating student data in literacy promoted a large-scale increase to student access to materials and student mastery on the concepts (Kerwin & Thornton, 2021; Popova et al., 2022). From the research shared in various studies, teachers benefit greatly from follow up as well on professional learning (Popova et al., 2022). Similarly, Sims and Fletcher-Wood (2021) examined weaknesses in PD for teachers they shared that more effective PD is when it is sustained, collaborative, subject specific, draws on external expertise, has buy-in from teachers, and is practice based. Sims and Fletcher-Wood argued that more progress can be made by educational leaders by putting more effort to identifying characteristics of effective PD by looking for alignment between evidence from basic research on human skill acquisition and features of rigorously evaluated PD interventions. In addition to these attributes to developing a data-driven professional learning experience in data analysis, Imants and Van der Wal (2020), stated that regular analysis of student data with campus and district stakeholders creates effective school reform and PD that addresses students individualized needs. As another point, Fischer et al. (2020) and Kerwin and Thornton (2021) shared that the emergence of data-driven approaches supports decision making and efforts to improve educational

effectiveness. Fischer et al. included another layer to data analysis PD by stating the following:

Digital traces of student behavior promise more scalable and finer-grained understanding and support of learning processes, which were previously too costly to obtain with traditional data sources and methodologies. This synthetic review describes the affordances and applications of microlevel (e.g., clickstream data), meso level (e.g., text data), and macrolevel (e.g., institutional data) big data. For instance, clickstream data are often used to operationalize and understand knowledge, cognitive strategies, and behavioral processes in order to personalize and enhance instruction and learning (p.135).

There was also recognition of the importance of not only accessing, analyzing, and using data, but there is also an importance to include data privacy and protection in the PD for staff. Fischer et al. (2020) and Kerwin and Thornton (2021) both explained that providing educators with a foundational understanding of balancing data privacy and protection with data sharing and research also promotes teachers having the power to access resources that better suit the needs of their students. Therefore, data-driven PD promotes the use of resources that are relevant to African American and Hispanic students' academic growth and achievement along with academic mastery.

PD: Culturally Relevant Supplemental Resources

While there is a push in the local area to increase culturally relevant supplemental resources, teachers benefit from having PD to learn more about their students' cultural diversity, but also how to access the resources to support diverse student groups. Ladson-

Billings (2023) and Silver (2022) both shared similar sentiments about PD in the area of culturally relevant supplemental resources stating that when educators without PD on using supplemental resources, their access and usage of these supplemental resources lacks cohesion and fails to capture all aspects of the phenomenon. Therefore, when teachers are incorporating supplemental resources, specifically culturally relevant supplemental resources, the most effective PD includes a consensus around the types of material, who is involved in the teacher-level curriculum supplementation, important dimensions of supplementation, and the overall educational value of supplementation (Silver, 2022). Furthermore, Silver suggested using a teacher curriculum supplemental framework as an analytical tool to understand the effects of using the supplemental curriculum on teachers and students. Likewise, Liu et al. (2021) researched inconsistent use of culturally relevant resources and inconsistent use of culturally relevant supplemental resources, and how a lack of theoretical clarity and consensus on the competence of attributes is a key hurdle in educator development. Arsal (2019), Nganga (2020), Silva (2022), Subasi Singh and Akar (2021) all shared PD for teachers is needed to better understand cultural differences and various cultural components builds their multicultural pedagogy to better understand how to implement the pedagogy during instructional planning and in the selection of instructional resources for their classroom. Muñiz (2019) and Nyachae (2021) both shared that teachers are able to access supplemental materials but need more support in incorporating them into their regular instructional strategies in order for them to not cause disjointed instruction. Fowler et al. (2019) stated in agreement that when students have more consistent culturally relevant

supplemental material, it engages them to further work toward academic success and mastery. Williams et al. (2021) explained that with the increase of students with diverse backgrounds, teachers, must enhance their practices and skillset to meet the needs of each student. The researchers showed that with consistent course review as a part of an annual need's assessment, in conjunction with using the supplemental materials to effectively support the individual needs of students, that teachers can build a culturally sustaining pedagogy with culturally relevant resources and supplemental resources (Cruz et al., 2023; Williams et al., 2021). Therefore, PD in accessing analyzing and using supplemental culturally relevant resources can support the academic needs of students and support their engagement in reading across all content areas.

PD: Teaching Reading in All Core Content Areas

PD for teachers that supports teaching reading in all core content areas also supports students of diverse backgrounds and experiences reach success and mastery in school. According to Svendsen (2020), McMaster et al. (2021), and Donegan and Wanzek (2021), many educators are unprepared to meet the needs of students with intensive to moderate reading needs. Svendsen (2020) also shared that collaboration among various content areas also has a major positive influence on teacher PD by discussing with peers the most beneficial practices and learning new strategies to support students with various reading abilities from a diverse ethnic background. With PD in reading strategies across the core content areas, educators are more consistent with their usage of strategies to support student academic success and mastery of basic reading skills (McMaster et al., 2021). Teachers in this study (see McMaster et al., 2021) shared

that PD for reading strategies should not just be for English teachers, but for teachers of all content areas because students have to read and comprehend their content as well. Furthermore, Smith et al. (2021) and McMaster et al. (2021) both stated that it is critical for teachers to participate in professional learning to understand how the influence of background knowledge has on reading comprehension in students, and how to incorporate background knowledge and student discourse into the pre-teaching aspect of lessons to engage students and support their academic success and mastery. T. E. Smith et al. (2020) further explained that students use background knowledge and their connection to content along with fluency and decoding to comprehend a passage. Additionally, Stark et al. (2023) examined that students in the secondary content area classrooms further benefit from evidence-based literacy practices and explicit instructional practices to enhance their literacy instruction. Stark et al. (2023) found that the most explicit instructional practices are infrequently utilized across all content areas; and some areas where students could benefit such as reading lengthier text, strategies were not used at all. Therefore, Capin et al. (2021), Stark et al. (2023), and T. E. Smith et al. (2020) shared the importance and positive effect that school-wide literacy models and related professional learning opportunities have on teachers' ability to support struggling readers. Correspondingly, Vaughn et al. (2022) and Capin et al. researched a distributed PD model emphasizing reading comprehension and vocabulary practices across core content areas, and they found that students were able to engage in the material, expand their content knowledge, and reach higher levels of mastery with supports the teacher learned during their PD. Lyon et al. (2021), and Wakeman et al. (2020) shared through

their research an instructional model to teach reading and enhance reading comprehension skills with the use of a station teaching model. In this model, students are grouped by need and rotate through various learning activities that the teacher organizes to engage students in targeted individualized instruction in small groups, so the teacher can provide students with opportunities to extend their learning with more challenging texts in a student-managed system (Lyon et al., 2021; Stark et al., 2023; Wakeman et al., 2020). Wexler et al. (2022) and Green, (2022) both researched student engagement in reading strategies and the use of various strategies impacting reading comprehension and high order thinking across content areas. Research findings were that teachers participating in professional learning to support their usage of reading instruction across the content areas engages students in reading for enjoyment and students making personal connections to the text they are reading (Green, 2022). There is a need from the study findings for increased teacher use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices, and teachers emphasized the need for opportunities for student engagement to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. Therefore, as teachers are employing reading across all content areas is important for them to participate regularly in professional learning to engage students in high yield strategies to support their academic success.

Stakeholder Advisory Boards

Advisory boards are one way that school leaders can use the expertise, experience, and perceptions of stakeholders to make more informed decisions. Courtney et al. (2021) shared that advisory boards consist of professionals with domains of

expertise relevant to the school setting. Advisory board leaders use frameworks that best fit their organization and the needs of students to best leverage the unique skills and interests of the members. In agreement with Courtney et al. (2021) and Garner et al. (2021) discussed a framework for establishing advisory boards that includes (a) model's consensus, (b) decision making emphasis on a linear process multi-phase process, and (c) situated perspectives to highlight dynamic relationships between individuals, contexts, and identities. The advisory board begins with a collective commitment to establishing a mission, vision, and core values. Garner et al. (2021) explained that the process of creating an advisory board is one of collective identity exploration that embodies complex dynamic systems. The identity of the advisory board is an exploration of the members' identity and board members' dialogue is incremental and transformational dialogue leading to an emergence of ideas, purpose, solutions and decisions (Baum, 2023; Garner et al., 2021; Ramos-Montañez & Pattison, 2023; Switalski, 2023). These advisory boards also guide the continuous improvement of the educational organization. According to Garner et al. (2021) and Ramos-Montañez and Pattison (2023), advisory boards not only are responsible for the maintenance of educational environment, but also the members propel the growth exponentially to foster innovation and a shared interest to support students. Advisory boards also represent under-researched, and unique and influential factors of student learning and education (Switalski, 2023). In addition, researchers have found that board members' effort and attention on the school and research-based practices guides school and district leaders to consider the content and approach of programs, gauging student learning, obstacles to student success, board

contributions, and emphasis on skills students are taught (Baum, 2023; Switalski, 2023). Likewise, Pack and Peek (2020) shared that effective advisory boards include their members having a solid knowledge and understanding of their role, have limitations in influencing curriculum, encourage engagement with students, have formal procedures for involvement, and are well coordinated with the larger educational institution. However, Fagrell et al. (2020) shared that some advisory boards remain to have uncertainties about the internal decision-making process and organization, therefore leading to a lack of understanding in their overall role and impact on the entire educational organization. Also, boards consist of members that include alumni, staff, families with students attending the school, students, high education leaders, and campus and district leaders. The members of the board are largely composed of members with a close connection to the institution as they are more engaged as program advocates and will contribute more financially (Switalski, 2023). Overall, Fagrell et al. explained that stakeholders on the advisory board influence professional learning for staff members, curriculum development, and curriculum implementation with fidelity. Plus, board members comment on the quality of education and the education students receive predominantly connected to the world and society (Fagrell et al., 2020). Therefore, while advisory boards have the possibility to have a positive effect on the overall educational system and its operations, it is vital to start with a shared vision, mission, and core values. As a reflection for the board members and all stakeholders, an annual needs assessment could provide beneficial information on how to address the most current needs of the educational community.

Annual Needs Assessment/ Program Evaluation

Needs assessments in education is a process for identifying and understanding the needs of the educational organization or the gaps in practices to achieve a specific goal. According to the Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation (2016) and Müller et al. (2020), annual needs assessments are an indicator of the competencies an organization has set forth as an educational focus. The annual needs assessment is a process that includes a variety of components. Müller et al. found that the majority of instruments rely on self-reported survey or inventory of data and very few tools collect data for across each area of focus. Jayaratne et al. (2021) added that a formal needs assessment identifies needs of students and the educational institution to promote student and educator success. Lemire et al. (2023) described evaluation approaches as the process of data collection used to assess a program, and two evaluators can find two different forms of data collection (quantitative or qualitative) valuable to assess the effectiveness of a program. Jayaratne et al. concluded that approaches to evaluation also consist of stakeholder consideration, input, and needs. While all program evaluation approaches consider the criteria itself and criteria assessment, there are some differences with each approach.

In the objectives-based approach, objectives are at the forefront of the evaluation, and benchmarks are set that includes data collection and assessment of meeting benchmarks. Masini et al. (2020) explained that the benefits of the approach include its simplicity in understanding and implementation as well as keeping the evaluator focus on key characteristics of a program. Lemire et al. (2023) also stated that this process

provides funders and reviewers with a step-by-step account of the program reflecting the goals, objectives, and outcomes. However, Masini et al. also explained that challenges included oversimplification of intricate details and the evaluator's cause to overlook program effects. Lemire et al. examined that the challenges with objectives-based approaches pertain to summative evaluation measures more than formative measures.

The decision-based approach focuses on questions about the data collected and the data collection process to meet the criteria. Lemire et al. (2023) explored this type of approach to a four-step model where program directors ask questions in each category of context, input, process, and product of a program. This approach also includes a combination of formative and summative measures. As Lemire et al. explained, this approach benefits from using a variety of data collection tools such as surveys, questionnaires, interviews, or analyses of records. This approach's challenges include asking the questions that align with each of the four steps of this approach and continued follow-up and communication with the program evaluation committee for review.

In participatory approaches, the criteria are based on stakeholders' perspectives and their perceptions of the program's purpose. Lemire et al. (2023) described some of the benefits: stakeholders that benefit from the program to assess data about the factors that would improve a program and encourage them to use their voice to contribute to program evaluation. The challenges of participatory approaches include that if used as the primary approach, funding sources may question how the criteria are met (Lemire et al., 2023; Müller et al., 2020).

Overall, as Müller et al. (2020) stated, that continuous needs assessment is an effective way to engage stakeholders and understanding their perceptions about the educational setting. Needs assessments serve as a way to connect the school stakeholders to families and community stakeholders.

School to Family Collaboration

School-to-family collaboration is a partnership between school stakeholders and student families. T. E. Smith et al. (2020) explained that school-to-family collaboration is an intervention to capitalize on the connections between families and schools so that teachers and parents have a shared collective commitment to promote developmental activities to promote academic success and bridge barriers for students. T. E. Smith et al. (2020) found that family-to-community connections were effective with all student age groups. However, they were more effective with older students in the P-12 school setting, and the interventions developed from school-to-family collaboration support academic and social-emotional success for students. Esteves and Almeida (2022) and Solone et al. (2020) shared similar outlooks in their research, stating that school-to-family collaboration is essential for inclusive education to be effective and reflective of research-based, data-driven approaches on best practices to support student academic and social-emotional achievement.

Building a solid school-to-family collaborative relationship takes establishing a trusting association. Solone et al. (2020) explained that collaborative partnerships are a trusting relationship between the school and families in delivering inclusive education. Solone et al. also shared that this bond for collaboration must include students and

families with diverse needs to better understand and advocate for support that will promote all students' academic and social-emotional success. Furthermore, Griffiths et al. (2021), in agreement with Solone et al., explained that effective collaboration is associated with positive student outcomes and is critical to providing equitable access and equitable educational opportunities. School-to-family collaboration incorporates sharing resources with families to increase their child's academic development (Griffiths et al., 2021). Solone et al. shared that literacy development in students is significantly dependent on home support. Therefore, teachers making connections with parents to support the home learning experience is a way for students to reach academic mastery further and for the school and home to build a positive relationship that benefits the student. Solone et al. further elaborated on the research, stating that early interventions for reading are a joint effort between the school and the family to promote word recognition, phonics, and decoding. However, school and family collaboration in secondary education includes sharing connections across content areas with families to promote reading comprehension and academic success. Griffiths et al. (2021) and Armstrong et al. (2021) examined barriers to having consistent collaboration between schools and families, and some of the barriers include family's personal negative experiences with schools, obligations to work, or needing more knowledge on collaborating with the school to promote their child's success. Griffiths et al. (2021) and Solone et al. described an iterative process of developing a foundational framework and standard definition and identifying action steps before and during the collaborative process. Castro-Alonso et al. (2021) described the school as a living system. This living

system needs all parts to work collaboratively and explicitly to facilitate the transition to benefit society. Castro-Alonso et al. analyzed relationships among stakeholders, discussed the role of coaching instruction, and described coaching in the community to aim toward the same vision.

Similarly, Armstrong et al. (2021) shared that school-to-family collaboration has pushed forward many policy initiatives that have promoted student success, teacher PD, resource allocation, and systemic educational change. Furthermore, Armstrong et al. found that while there is some research on school-to-home collaboration, there is still a need to continue to explore the positive aspects and the areas of needed improvement that lag in policy and practice. Connections from school to home furthermore promote not just the academic and social-emotional development and success of all students; this collaboration explicitly has a positive impact on African American and Hispanic students (Armstrong et al., 2021; Castro-Alonso et al., 2021). Van Hook and Glick (2020) researched the connections of immigrant families across the United States and their strong connections to having family relationships, relationships with their community, and children and families having a solid relationship with their education and schools in the P-12 setting. School and family collaboration should center their focus on establishing the next generation and preparing students for a productive future in society (Armstrong et al., 2021; Castro-Alonso et al., 2021; Van Hook & Glick, 2020). Even more so, Michael et al. (2023) shared that there are multiple strategies to engage family and community partners, and these strategies play an essential role in how students view and react to their experiences in school and the real world. The findings suggest that

utilizing strategies to maximize engagement creates robust support, resources, and expertise to promote healthy behaviors among students (Michael et al., 2023). The strategies include (a) communication with families and community members, (b) education classes and support for families, (c) volunteer opportunities for family and community members, (d) involvement of families and community members in decision making, (e) reinforcement and follow-up with knowledge and practices in the home environment, and (f) collaborations among school and community to support students and their families (Michael et al., 2023). Therefore, as family partnerships and collaboration grow to support student's academic success, a component also includes strong community partnerships to support student's academic and social-emotional success.

Community Partnerships

Community partnerships increase student engagement and community support of schools. According to Mohale (2023), Michael et al. (2023), Wallerstein et al. (2020), and Farrell et al. (2021), community partnership research has been valued for over 20 years on the approaches, efficacy, and provision of equitable access in education.

Wallerstein et al. and Omara (2020) explained that school and community environments offer a wealth of knowledge for students and it is vital for stakeholders in both settings to see and understanding the importance of their role in student development. There is an overlapping element that is explained from the researcher that examines secondary schools employing strategies to foster positive school to community partnerships for equitable and quality education (Omara, 2020). Stakeholders that represent the community include parent teacher organizations (PTO), school board, community groups

and organizations, and educators living within the school community. Collaboration with the school and community stakeholders is a key element to pull diverse community members and parents with diverse backgrounds together to assess how the school can better support student learning and preparedness for postsecondary goals (Omara, 2020). Mohale and Michael et al. both explained that school and community partnerships include stakeholders distinguishing among orientations in service learning, taking on direct expert and support roles, and analyzing the multiple benefits of service learning or project-based learning for students to make connections between what they are learning in school and how it relates to different aspects of society. A key factor in the community partnerships is for teachers dealing with diverse groups of students to allow them to experience the real-world problems that confront school and society through their collaboration with the community partners. M. Medina et al. (2020) shared that community partnerships have developed into community schools with the support of campus and district leaders. Community schools provide a partnership with the school that supports not just the student, but also their family and community goals. Community schools promote family engagement with school and establishes a strong foundation for a partnership between schools and community members (M. Medina et al., 2020). In the full-service community school model, M. Medina et al. (2020) explained that the goal is for improved learning by responding holistically to students' needs. There is also a positive association between teacher academic optimism and the focal features of professional practice which include trust in students and parents as educational partners (Galindo & Sanders, 2022). Community schools also have a responsibility to provide

additional resources to students, families, and communities. Galindo and Sanders (2022) described how community school are an extension of the traditional school setting and they develop similar to any organization, a mission, vision, core values, and goals of the programming offered. Another stakeholder to include in a community partnership would be college or university partners. Their partnership is a key role in stakeholders developing what skillsets students should have upon graduating from their school (M. Medina et al., 2020). Galindo and Sanders also shared this vital role by sharing that the biggest impact on post-secondary options are the partnerships and community experiences with community partnerships. M. Medina et al. (2020) shared that school counselors partnering with community groups and organizations also supports the college and career readiness of students graduating from high school and promotes their academic success by providing equitable access to community members, colleges, and business partners. Business partners provide further experience to students to give them insights to achieving career goals when making decisions about their postsecondary future. Establishing community partnerships does take time, however, and also includes school stakeholders on the campus and district level to support and facilitate those connections with community partners. In addition, Galindo and Sanders shared that community partnerships play a vital role in addressing community characteristics that may impact African American and Hispanic students, such as, parent involvement, crime, and poverty. The community partnerships for African American and Hispanic students provides a sense of resiliency and perseverance (Galindo & Sanders, 2022).

Overall, community partnerships foster an ongoing relationship between schools, families, and the community. M. Medina et al. (2020) shared that schools should seek to identify potential partners, define clear objectives, establish mutual benefits, communicate regularly, involve stakeholders, develop formal agreements, provide training and resources, evaluate efficacy, and plan for sustainability. The benefit of school partnerships with the community includes a foundational bond with the school, families, and the community to which student performance is enhanced, and the community has an opportunity to further develop (Michael et al., 2023; Omara, 2020). Therefore, as educational stakeholders seek to improve all student academic success, especially African American and Hispanic student success, they should consider the benefits of employing community partnerships.

Summary of Literature Review

In this literature review, I discussed the use of white papers in education to support positive change, and how the findings of my study align with creating a white paper project. The researchers use of white papers identified areas of education that needed reform and suggests solutions to the restructuring of education (Campbell et al., 2020; Crutchley, 2020). Through the creation of this white paper, I will provide solutions that include (a) campus and district leaders creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students; (b) campus and district stakeholders building teacher capacity to provide professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms; (c) campus and district leaders providing data-

driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse; and (d) completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. The literature review was provided as a foundation for the white paper deliverable and the solutions I recommend. In the project description, I discuss the recommendations in creating an advisory board to increase family and community collaboration and using the voice of the advisory board to increase data-driven professional learning opportunities for teachers at study district.

Project Description

The problem addressed by the study is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. An analysis of the data from the project study suggested that educators perceive there is a need for (a) teachers' use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices, (b) teachers' emphasis on the need for opportunities for student engagement, (c) teachers' need of support from district and campus stakeholders, and (d) teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships to support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students. Based on the data findings, I resolved that a white paper would be an appropriate project genre to provide possible solutions and recommendations to the study district's stakeholders. The four recommendations proposed in the white paper include the following:

- Campus and district leaders need to create an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.
- Campus and district stakeholders need to build teacher capacity to provide
 professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other
 learning platforms.
- Campus and district leaders need to provide data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse.
- An annual needs assessment needs to be completed to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

The stakeholder use of annual needs assessment should reflect what recommendations are working and what needs to be revised or changed. The annual needs assessment could also be used as a model for school with similar challenges.

After creating the white paper, I will submit to Walden University for review.

Upon obtaining approval to share the findings and recommendations to the study district stakeholders, I will meet with the director of teaching and learning, campus principals, the leadership team, and family and community stakeholders to present the study findings and recommendations of creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students and the advisory board creating plan about providing data-driven

professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. I will share steps to creating the advisory board and stakeholders that should be represented and support those action steps with the conceptual framework. Also, I will share the evidence-based practices to support reading success in African American and Hispanic students such as teachers using culturally relevant supplemental resources, promoting student discourse, and practicing instructional strategies such as collaboration and differentiation to meet the needs of each student but more specifically for African American and Hispanic students to increase their reading success.

Needed Resources and Supports

Resources and supports needed to support the success of the project includes time to meet with key stakeholders, which includes director of teaching and learning, campus principals, the leadership team consisting of teacher leaders and instructional coaches, and family and community stakeholders. To bring these stakeholders together, I will need to draft an email to invite various stakeholders to a meeting to discuss the research findings and present the white paper project genre. In the email, I include an overview of the research findings and the recommendations for change. During the presentation, I will share key aspects about the research findings and white paper, along with sharing a visual through PowerPoint and an infographic to show the plan for implementation.

Stakeholders present will also have access to the PowerPoint and receive a print copy of the infographic for further review. After the meeting with the stakeholders to share initial findings and recommendations, I will seek approval and support of following through

with the project. Upon approval of the project, I will request study district personnel at the high school to make copies of the white paper and share in the staff lounge and for district site administrators to share in their weekly staff newsletter.

Potential Barriers

A potential barrier would be enlisting an adequate number of staff members for the project. I have seen where some opportunities for staff have gone unnoticed when place in the staff lounge or placed in the weekly staff newsletter. A solution to this barrier would be the administration sharing this information at a staff meeting or for me to present a brief overview of the findings and study recommendations at a staff meeting. During the staff meeting, I can also provide print copies of my presentation and white paper, as well as having a sign up ready to collect teacher names, phone numbers, and emails that would be the best to communicate, if they are interested in participating. I also foresee some administrators being hesitant towards a new project since there are already multiple initiatives for student achievement across the study district. To gain administrative support, I will share through the project goals how this project could positively promote student engage all around, and that families and community partners will have the opportunity to build lasting working relationships with district stakeholders. I will also share the study findings and recommendations in the white paper with families and community stakeholders to enlist family and community partnerships to provide their perspectives and feedback on the project. Because the project is focused on African American and Hispanic students, I would also provide the overview of the project in Spanish to families.

Proposal for Implementation and Timeline

Upon the completion of the doctoral study, I will deliver the white paper to the study district central office administrators. Upon approval of white paper distribution, I will disseminate an overview of the white paper to central office and campus administrators as well as the superintendent. If asked to provide further details, I will have print copies of the white paper and infographic to share with study district leaders.

If the recommendations are approved, I will enlist campus administrators at the high school level to support with developing a planning committee that consists of campus administrators, teacher leaders and instructional coaches, and family and community stakeholders. The committee will develop a mission, vision, and core values that align with the district's strategic plan. The committee will also develop standard operating procedures that include protocols for action steps and norms for meeting conduct. Once the committee sets a foundation for their purpose and goals, they will convene once a week to discuss school disaggregated data by ethnicity. The committee will discuss factors that they perceive are contributors of the data as well as reviewing factors from the research study and white paper. In evaluation of the disaggregated data, the committee will evaluate the current PD content and will propose how that PD needs to change by sharing new topics around the recommendations in the white paper. The committee will decide when and how the professional learning will be delivered. The committee will also develop an annual needs assessment that evaluate the efficacy of the committee's goals and action steps, and what needs to change. Castro-Alonso et al. (2021) analyzed relationships among stakeholders, discussed the role of coaching reading instruction, and described coaching in the community to aim toward the same vision of increasing African American and Hispanic student success in reading. The researchers explained everyone's mutual stake in the outcome of students, the schools, and the community. The researchers explained everyone's mutual stake in the outcome of students, the schools, and the community (Castro-Alonso et al., 2021). The following steps include the instructional coaches developing and implementing professional learning opportunities with the support of building administrators to focus on data-driven practices in analyzing data, selecting culturally relevant supplemental materials for instruction and student discourse, and building positive relationships with families and the community.

Study district high school instructional coaches and the planning committee will develop and distribute learning resource packets for parents and include the packets on the study district's website and high school websites for how families and community members can support reading success and collaboration between the school, families, and the community to develop a stronger partnership. The committee will also host parent university nights once a month to provide parents instructional resources to support their child at home. I suggest parents are divided into groups of no more than 15 to 20 so they can interact with the materials and interact with one another on a more personalized level. The sessions parents participate in would include reading supports at home, making connections between home and school, community partnerships that support students, and opportunities for parents and students to volunteer in the school or participate in extracurricular activities.

I recommend the project begin implementation during the late weeks of summer break and start full implementation at the start of the school year. The committee will evaluate the pilot every marking period based on the developed evaluation plan. The project will conclude at the end of the third marking period, so the committee can fully analyze the program results and present the results and student achievement scores to the central office and campus administrators, and superintendent. Table 6 reflects the timeline for project implementation and includes the recommended action steps and time frame for each action step. The table reflects the recommendations for the project genre that is focused on (a) campus and district leaders creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students; (b) campus and district stakeholders building teacher capacity to provide professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms; (c) campus and district leaders providing datadriven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse; and (d) completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. Table 7 reflects the roles and responsibilities of each participant and all stakeholders involved in the recommended project.

Table 6Timeline for Implementation of Project

Recommendation	Time frame
Share white paper to the study district central office administrators	1 week
Disseminate an overview of the white paper to central office and campus administrators as well as the superintendent	1 week
Have print copies of the white paper and infographic to share with study district leaders	1 week
Enlist campus administrators at the high school level to support with developing a planning committee	2 weeks
The committee will develop a mission, vision, and core values that align with the district's strategic plan	2 weeks
The committee will also develop standard operating procedures that include protocols for action steps and norms for meeting conduct	2 weeks
Committee will meet weekly to discuss student data, factors contributing to data, professional develop for teachers and student resources	Duration of project
Committee will evaluate the current professional development content and will propose how professional development needs to change by sharing new topics around the recommendations in the white paper	1 week
Committee will decide when and how the professional learning will be delivered	1 week
Committee will also develop an annual needs assessment that evaluate the efficacy of the committee's goals and action steps, and what needs to change	1 week
Instructional coaches developing professional learning opportunities with the support of building administrators to focus on data-driven practices	1 week
Instructional coaches and the planning committee will develop learning resource packets for parents and include the packets on the study district's website and high school websites for how families and community members can support reading success and collaboration between the school, families, and the community to develop a stronger partnership	2 weeks
Instructional coaches implementing professional learning opportunities with the support of building administrators to focus on data-driven practices	Bi-monthly
Instructional coaches and the planning committee will be distributing learning resource packets for parents and include the packets on the study district's website and high school websites for how families and community members can support reading success and collaboration between the school, families, and the community to develop a stronger partnership	Bi-monthly
Committee will also host parent university nights once a month to provide parents instructional resources to support their child at home	Once a month
Committee program annual needs assessment	Quarterly

Table 7 *Roles and Responsibilities*

Participant	Role and responsibility
Researcher	Share white paper to the study district central office administrators
	Disseminate an overview of the white paper to central office and campus
	administrators as well as the superintendent
	Enlist campus administrators at the high school level to support with
	developing a planning committee
	Facilitate development of a committee mission, vision, and core values
	Facilitate development of standard operating procedures that include
	protocols for action steps and norms for meeting conduct
	Facilitate weekly meetings to discuss student data, factors contributing to
	data, professional develop for teachers and student resources
	Facilitate evaluation of current professional development content and will propose how that professional development needs to change by
	sharing new topics around the recommendations in the white paper
	Facilitate development of annual needs assessment that evaluate the
	efficacy of the committee's goals and action steps
District leaders	Development of a committee mission, vision, and core values
213011001000013	Development of standard operating procedures that include protocols for
Leadership team	action steps and norms for meeting conduct
core content	Participate in weekly meetings to discuss student data, factors
teachers	contributing to data, professional develop for teachers and student
	resources
Family and	Development of annual needs assessment that evaluate the efficacy of the
community	committee's goals and action steps
representatives	Developing and facilitating professional learning opportunities with the
	support of building administrators to focus on data-driven practices
Planning	Develop learning resource packets for parents and include the packets on
Committee and	the study district's website and high school websites for how families
core content	and community members can support reading success and collaboration
teachers	between the school, families, and the community to develop a stronger
	partnership Participating in professional learning opportunities with the support of
	building administrators to focus on data-driven practices
	Distributing learning resource packets for parents and include the packets
	on the study district's website and high school websites for how families
	and community members can support reading success and collaboration
	between the school, families, and the community to develop a stronger
	partnership
	Host parent university nights once a month to provide parents
	instructional resources to support their child at home
	Committee program annual needs assessment

Project Evaluation Plan

The white paper will be used to inform and persuade district and campus administration to act based on the study's findings. Recommendations were based on the study's findings and scholarly literature. The evaluation of the project described will be in the white paper is based on responses from staff surveys and student disaggregated data. The study district regularly uses Google Form to collect data from stakeholders about their experiences and their rating of various aspects of the school or district. The Google form will be sent at the conclusion of the project to staff members and will be analyzed by myself and the project committee. The advisory board will use a survey to ask staff members about the professional learning opportunities they participated, such as the likelihood they will use strategies shown to them, how equipped they feel to address the reading deficits of African American and Hispanic students, and support with family and community collaboration. There will be a second Google Form sent to families and community partners at the conclusion of the project. The survey will ask family and community partners their experience with learning about resources to use with their child at home and the efficacy of the parent university nights. The other evaluation of the project will be the analysis of student PSAT and SAT data disaggregated by ethnicity to see if the project was able to promote an increase in African American and Hispanic student success in reading.

The overall goal of the white paper is to present four recommendations from the study's findings, which includes (a) campus and district leaders creating an advisory

board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students; (b) campus and district stakeholders building teacher capacity to provide professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms; (c) campus and district leaders providing data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse; and (d) completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. The goals of the white paper is to inform and influence campus and district leaders to (a) build teacher capacity to develop more teacher leaders, (b) support further professional dialogue that is explicit to student voice and student data, (c) provide culturally relevant supplemental resources, and (d) gain stakeholder input about culturally relevant pedagogy and build strong community and family partnerships to support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students. The committee of evaluators will seek feedback and data that support the aims of the advisory board through advisory board meetings. These results are measured in short, intermediate, and long-term benefits. The short-term benefits include

- students participating in instruction that engages them
- students participating with their families in school-level activities
- partnerships being built within the community
- students receiving supports from school, family, and community collaboration
- examples of the intermediate benefits include

- students using instructional strategies and applying them to reading text in all classes
- parent university classes offering strategies that families and community partners can use to build reading supports for students and prepare them for postsecondary opportunities

As a result, the long-term benefit is for student reading success and developed rapport with community partners and the school.

Description of Key Stakeholders

The study district has a variety of stakeholders to include in the project implementation. For this initial study, key stakeholders include campus and district administrators, teacher leaders and instructional coaches, and family and community stakeholders. Including these stakeholders in the initial project implementation could provide a larger perspective of how the reading achievement and success of African American and Hispanic students could be further supported. The campus and district-based stakeholders could gain a better understanding of what families and the community partners need to support students when they are not in school. Student parents as stakeholders can gain insight to what strategies are used to provide reading instruction, and they can analyze how students reach academic success and mastery based on ethnicity. Community partners could gain a perspective similar to parents in understanding how students are prepared by the school stakeholders for their academic and social development. The stakeholder involvement in the initial project could inform educational practices and partnerships in the future.

Project Implications

Summary of Positive Social Change Implications

I determined the white paper genre would address the problem of the study, which is that African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. Factually, African American and Hispanic students have remained at the lowest achievement levels in reading at the study district and beyond. This study shares high school teachers' perceptions and how they implemented instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement. Teachers also shared in the study their perceptions about what they need to increase their usage of reading strategies to support African American and Hispanic students' achievement. J. Knight (2018) explained educators must assess the efficacy of instructional supports and strategies provided as well as assess their implementation. Therefore, the outcomes of this project include professional learning for teachers, academic supports for families, and the development of community partnerships through an advisory board developed consisting of various stakeholders connecting the school to families and the community partners.

Importance of Project to Local Stakeholders and in a Larger Context

The implications for this project in a larger context include possibly more than high school teachers encouraged to participate in professional learning opportunities to support the reading success of African American and Hispanic students. The implications also could be a project repeated not only at the elementary and middle school level but

also on other school communities with a similar problem. In addition, the project could provide families with a concise perspective on strategies educators use at different ages of development to provide reading supports to students. Parents could use the information provided in this project to reinforce instruction at home and possibly become more involved in school throughout their child's education in P-12 years. Beyond the school setting, African American and Hispanic student reading success can provide continue motivation to improve reading skills and community supports.

Conclusion

In Section 3, I discussed the goals for the white paper and describe the deliverable project of the white paper to inform and persuade stakeholders at the study district about needs to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students in reading. In addition, I shared scholarly literature that supports the project and synthesizes my findings and recommendations. I also provided a description of the project that included a timeline of action steps, stakeholders involved, and the project evaluation plan, along with project implications.

In Section 4, I discuss project strengths and limitations as a component of my conclusion. I also include recommendations for alternative approaches, what I learned about the process specific to the study I conducted, and a reflective analysis about my personal learning as a scholar practitioner as it relates to my study. Lastly, I provide a reflection on the importance of the work in the study, implications, applications, and directions for future research that includes a final conclusion to the study.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

In this section, I discuss strengths and limitations of the project, as well as recommendations for alternative approaches of the project based on the findings of this basic qualitative study. The problem addressed by the study is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. Guided by Freire's (1970) theory of critical pedagogy, this study investigated the perspective of high school teachers on they implement instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement at the study district. A gap in practice was described in Section 2. The gap in instructional practice displays a need to understand how teachers can better develop as professionals using culturally relevant pedagogy, participating in PLCs that support African American and Hispanic students and develop family and community partnerships. Teacher participants from the study district expressed specific views on a white paper was created in response to the findings of this research study. Teacher participants in the study district perceive there is a need for (a) teachers' use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices, (b) teachers' emphasis on the need for opportunities for student engagement, (c) teachers' need of support from district and campus stakeholders, and (d) teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. The white paper is a product of research that presents readers with a focus on a complex topic, the problem, and in turn offers a remedy to solve the problem in action steps or for

stakeholders to make an informed decision (Pelkmans & Robson, 1986). The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. Teachers interviewed as participants in this study expressed collective sentiments in regard to the four themes.

In this section, I discuss the study strengths and limitations, alternative approaches, and project development and evaluation. I also discuss reflections about the importance of the work, implications, and directions for future research, and I provide concluding thoughts as a scholar practitioner. Overall, this section provides further conclusion of the study and how future studies can provide further supporting information about the reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students.

Project Strengths and Limitations

This project has a few strengths and limitations. Strengths of the project is that it includes solely core classroom teacher perspective at the high school level. The data shared included teacher perspective from various core content areas such as English language arts, mathematics, science, and social studies to understand how they support African American and Hispanic student success in reading achievement. Qualitative research is the best way to gain information that cannot be quantified in numbers but is relevant to experiences and perceptions (Aspers & Corte, 2019). The second strength includes interviewing participants in one on one semistructured interviews. The researcher's findings from individual interviews provides a connection with the researcher and participant. Weddle (2022) shared that interviews can provide insights to

supports teachers need, such as PD. The third strength of the project study was sharing study findings and recommendations through a white paper with the study district. The researchers use of white papers identified areas of education that needed reform and suggests solutions to the restructuring of education (Campbell et al., 2020; Crutchley, 2020). Through the creation of this white paper, I will provide solutions that include (a) campus and district leaders creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students; (b) campus and district stakeholders building teacher capacity to provide professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms; (c) campus and district leaders providing data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse; and (d) advisory board completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. Therefore, as I sought to understand the teacher perspective about how the support students and how they can receive professional support, it is vital to interview teachers with an understanding of the phenomenon to better support their professional growth in the future.

Limitations of this project include the possibility of this study to gain perspectives from African American and Hispanic students in the study district, themselves to provide their experiences with reading supports and the instructional focuses in their classrooms. Provided this study was about teacher perspective, the findings are limited because there

can be other perspectives to research about the topic. A second limitation also includes the perspective of teachers that teacher related arts classes require reading various types of materials. Teacher perspective from noncore content teachers like career and technical education courses could provide some insights to how students are comprehending reading materials that are college and career focused. Lastly, another limitation is being an administrator at the middle school level in the study district. My connection in the district could have the potential for bias. However, I tracked my biases by recording and analyzing two practice interviews, took notes of my interactions by recording my interviews, kept interview notes on the transcripts, followed IRB recommendations, and worked closely with my committee to review interview recordings and transcripts after each interview.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

The problem of the study focused on African American and Hispanic students' reading support from teachers in their core classes. Alternative wording for students could be diverse students or ethnically diverse students. Alternative wording for reading could be literacy support or language arts support for African American and Hispanic students. Possible alternative approaches to the project includes (a) developing a PD series for teachers to support African American and Hispanic students in reading, (b) developing a support class for students scoring in a certain range on the PSAT or SAT, or (c) creating student focus groups with teachers piloting ethnically diverse curriculum in all core content areas that is research-based. These alternate approaches to the project study could provide the study district and future studies with more information about the

efficacy in reading instructional supports to promote academic success with African American and Hispanic students.

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

This basic qualitative study was an exploration and journey of the basic qualitative process. As a scholar practitioner, I learned about making positive changes in my local community and how changes in the local community can support change on a larger scale. The study goal was for me to make a positive social change by exploring a problem related to the reading and academic success of African American and Hispanic students. My study was guided by current scholarly literature, educational conceptual frameworks, and data from the study district. With the use of Walden University's IRB, professors, and academic advisors, I was able to research and gather information that not only supported my study but gave me the academic support to conduct my research, organize and collect data, and analyze interview data of teacher perspectives about the phenomenon.

In high school education, quantitative data is often reviewed in formats such as test scores and trends in scores of instructional strands to often guide the professional practices of educators. However, I learned that collecting qualitative data through individual interviews can provide information about experiences and perceptions of internal stakeholders responsible for instructional practices and strategies. The information I gained from interviews supported me with having a better understanding of what teachers do with instruction to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement in reading. This study provided an opportunity to obtain data

related to teachers providing culturally relevant instruction and their utilization of the study district's instructional principles that align with the conceptual framework of Freire (1970). The data from my interviews revealed from my individual interviews with high school core content teachers and those themes focused on a need for (a) creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community and (b) partnerships increasing data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. The analysis of peer-reviewed scholarly literature in the first literature review supported the instructional initiatives the study district implements and their importance in educating African American and Hispanic students. The analysis of peer-reviewed scholarly literature in the second literature review were based on interview findings and enveloped ways to support teacher PD and growth to support African American and Hispanic students. The exploration of teacher perspectives about professional learning and growth that supports African American and Hispanic students related to developing an advisory board of campus and community stakeholders that includes parents to analyze the best ways to support ethnically diverse students reading achievement.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

This qualitative study has an influence and importance beyond the study district. For various reasons, in similar districts, African American and Hispanic students have scored on average below their European American and Asian American peers. As a secondary-level educator, I have seen a gap in practice, and this study focused on

understanding the teacher's perspective. As stated previously, the school district could extend this study to include African American and Hispanic students' perspectives to understand better what they have experienced and need in our educational system. To delve into the study, I had to logically and systematically approach the research by extensively reviewing literature related to the topic and learning about different methodological approaches and data collection tools. The analysis and overall writing was an iterative process that caused me to reflect on the subject, the impacts and experiences of teachers, and what possible outcomes could develop for students and their academic success. My experience conducting this study has impacted me positively as an educator, scholar-practitioner, and person.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

The findings of this study prompted me to think and analyze the practices at the study district. The teacher participants as a collective shared experiences and perspectives that other teachers, and campus and building stakeholders could reflect on their instructional practices to support the reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students. These stakeholders can use the information provided through this study to develop culturally relevant instructional strategies and locate supplemental resources, as well as supporting partnerships with family and community allies. Based on the data, I recommend professional learning and PLC support for teachers that are focused on data-driven practices and supplemental resources to promote the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. I also recommend the development of a parent and community advisory board to work alongside teacher leaders and other

campus and district stakeholders to support further academic success of ethnically diverse students. Future research projects may involve qualitative data on all teacher perspective in the high school setting or could also involve the experiences and perspectives of students in the high school setting to further understand the more effective instructional strategies that promote African American and Hispanic student academic achievement in reading.

Conclusion

The problem addressed by the study is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. The research examined core classroom teacher perspectives at the study district to better understand their experiences and perspectives about instructional practices and strategies. An analysis of the data from the project study suggested that educators perceive there is a need for (a) teachers' use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices, (b) teachers' emphasis on the need for opportunities for student engagement, (c) teachers' need of support from district and campus stakeholders, and (d) teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. Based on the data findings, I resolved that a white paper would be an appropriate project genre to provide possible solutions and recommendations to the study district's stakeholders. The four recommendations proposed in the white paper include the following:

- Campus and district leaders need to create an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.
- Campus and district stakeholders need to build teacher capacity to provide
 professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other
 learning platforms.
- Campus and district leaders need to provide data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse.
- 4. An annual needs assessment needs to be completed to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

The stakeholder use of annual needs assessment should reflect what recommendations are working and what needs to be revised or changed. The annual needs assessment could also be used as a model for school with similar challenges.

The implications for this project in a larger context include possibly more than high school teachers encouraged to participate in professional learning opportunities to support the reading success of African American and Hispanic students. The implications also could be a project repeated not only at the elementary and middle school level but could possibly have positive impressions on school communities with a similar problem. In addition, the project could provide families with a concise perspective on strategies educators use at different ages of development to provide reading supports to students.

Parents could use the information provided in this project to reinforce instruction at home and possibly become more involved in school throughout their child's education in P-12 years. Beyond the school setting, African American and Hispanic student reading success can provide continue motivation to improve reading skills and community supports. Therefore, as this study concludes, there is also a need for further research to further understand what instructional strategies, resources, and partnerships positively impact and support African American and Hispanic students' achievement at the study district.

References

- Abacioglu, C. S., Volman, M., & Fischer, A. H. (2020). Teachers' multicultural attitudes and perspective taking abilities as factors in culturally responsive teaching. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(3), 736–752.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12328
- Aguilar, E. (2021). Coaching for equity: Conversations that change practice. Jossey-Bass.
- Armstrong, P. W., Brown, C., & Chapman, C. J. (2021). School-to-school collaboration in England: A configurative review of the empirical evidence. *Review of Education*, *9*(1), 319-351. https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3248
- Arsal, Z. (2019). Critical multicultural education and preservice teachers' multicultural attitudes. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, *13*(1), 106-118.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JME-10-2017-0059
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, 42(2), 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7
- Augustine, C., Engberg, J., Grimm, G., Lee, E., Wang, E., Christianson, K., & Joseph, A. (2018). Can restorative practices improve school climate and curb suspensions.

 An Evaluation of the Impact of Restorative Practices in A Mid-Sized Urban

- School District. RAND Corporation. https://doi.org/10.7249/RR2840
- Baldock, K., & Murphrey, T. P. (2020). Secondary students' perceptions of inquiry-based learning in the agriculture classroom. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 621(1), 235–246. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2020.01235
- Banditvilai, C. (2020). The effectiveness of reading strategies on reading comprehension.

 International Journal of Social Science and Humanity, 10(2), 46–50.

 https://doi.org/10.18178/ijssh.2020.v10.1012
- Banwo, B. O., Khalifa, M., & Seashore Louis, K. (2022)., Exploring trust: Culturally responsive and positive school leadership. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 60(3), 323–339. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-03-2021-0065
- Barber, A. T., & Klauda, S. L. (2020). How reading motivation and engagement enable reading achievement: Policy implications. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 7(1), 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732219893385
- Baum, D. (2023). Conflict resolution and community change. *The Routledge handbook of collective intelligence for democracy and governance* (pp. 354-362). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003215929
- Bauman, Z., & Tester, K. (2001). Conversations with Zygmunt Bauman. Polity Press.
- Bender, W. N. (2012). RTI in middle and high schools. Solution Tree Press.
- Berelson, B. (1952). Content analysis in communication research. Free Press.
- Betters-Bubon, J., Smith-Durkin, S., & Kortemeier, H. (2023). *Advocating for equity for every student*. The School Counselor's Guide to Multi-Tiered Systems of Support.
- Bourdieu, P. (1977). *Outline of a theory of practice*. Cambridge University Press.

- Bourdieu, P. (2017). Habitus. In *Habitus: A sense of place* (pp. 59-66). Routledge.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales.

 *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13(2), 201–216.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Bremner, N., Sakata, N., & Cameron, L. (2022). The outcomes of learner-centred pedagogy: A systematic review. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 94, Article 102649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2022.102649
- Brown, B. A., Boda, P., Lemmi, C., & Monroe, X. (2019). Moving culturally relevant pedagogy from theory to practice: Exploring teachers' application of culturally relevant education in science and mathematics. *Urban Education*, *54*(6), 775-803. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085918794802
- Burck, C. (2005). Comparing qualitative research methodologies for systemic research:

 The use of grounded theory, discourse analysis and narrative analysis. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 27(3), 237-262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6427.2005.00314.x
- Campbell, K. S., Naidoo, J. S., & Campbell, S. M. (2020). Hard or soft sell?

 Understanding white papers as content marketing. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, 63(1), 21–38.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/TPC.2019.2961000
- Capin, P., Stevens, E. A., Stewart, A. A., Swanson, E., & Vaughn, S. (2021). Examining vocabulary, reading comprehension, and content knowledge instruction during

- fourth grade social studies teaching. *Reading and Writing*, *34*(5), 1143-1170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-020-10106-5
- Carey, R. L. (2019). Am I smart enough? Will I make friends? And can I even afford it?

 Exploring the college-going dilemmas of Black and Latino adolescent boys. *American Journal of Education*, 125(3), 381-415.

 https://doi.org/10.1086/702740
- Carothers, D., Aydin, H., & Houdyshell, M. (2019). Teacher shortages and cultural mismatch: District and university collaboration for recruiting. *Journal of Social Studies Education Research*, 10(3), 39-63.

 https://www.learntechlib.org/p/216455/.
- Carter Andrews, D. J., Castro, E., Cho, C. L., Petchauer, E., Richmond, G., & Floden, R. (2019). Changing the narrative on diversifying the teaching workforce: A look at historical and contemporary factors that inform recruitment and retention of teachers of color. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 70(1), 6-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487118812418
- Castro-Alonso, J. C., de Koning, B. B., Fiorella, L., & Paas, F. (2021). Five strategies for optimizing instructional materials: Instructor- and learner-managed cognitive load. *Educational Psychology Review*, *33*(4), 1379–1407.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-021-09606-9
- Cegielski, O., Maida, K., Morales, D. L., & Mendez, S. L. (2023). Creating a classroom for social justice: secondary teacher perceptions of the environmental outcomes of culturally relevant education. *Educational Research: Theory and Practice*, 34(3),

- 103–116. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1403512
- Cervetti, G. N., & Wright, T. S. (2020). The role of knowledge in understanding and learning from text. *Handbook of reading research*, 5.

 https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315676302
- Cherng, H. S., & Davis, L. A. (2019). Multicultural Matters: An investigation of key assumptions of multicultural education reform in teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 70(3), 219-236. https://doi.org/10.117/0022487117742884
- Chiles, N. (2019). *Teaching to the student, not the test*. The Hechinger Report. https://hechingerreport.org/teaching-to-the-student-not-the-test/
- Ciampa, K., & Reisboard, D. (2021). Books like me: An investigation of urban elementary teachers' journey toward more culturally relevant pedagogy. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, 15(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1108/JME-09-2019-0069
- Civitillo, S., Juang, L. P., Badra, M., & Schachner, M. K. (2019). The interplay between culturally responsive teaching, cultural diversity beliefs, and self-reflection: A multiple case study. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 77, 341-351.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.11.002
- College Board. (2021). SAT Scores- SAT Suite: College Board. SAT suite of assessments: College board, 2 Dec. 2021,

 https://satsuite.collegeboard.org/sat/scores
- Colwell, J., Gregory, K., & Taylor, V. (2021). Examining preservice teachers' perceptions of planning for culturally relevant disciplinary literacy. *Journal of*

- Teacher Education, 72(2), 195–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487120913853
- Coss, R. G. (2019). Creative thinking in music: Student-centered strategies for implementing exploration into the music classroom. *Journal of General Music Education*, *33*(1), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/1048371319840654
- Courtney, W. T., Hartley, B. K., Rosswurm, M., LeBlanc, L. A., & Lund, C. J. (2021).

 Establishing and leveraging the expertise of advisory boards. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, *14*(1), 253-263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-020-00503-1
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). SAGE. https://doi.org/10.1002/nha3.20258
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (6th ed.).

 Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE.
- Crutchley, J. (2020). Morality and citizenship in English schools: secular approaches, 1897-1944, by Susannah Wright, *History of Education*, 49(5), 735-737, https://doi.org/10.1080/0046760X.2019.1678683
- Cruz, R. A., Firestone, A. R., & Love, M. (2023). Beyond a seat at the table: imagining educational equity through critical inclusion. *Educational Review*, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2023.2173726
- Cruz, R. A., Manchanda, S., Firestone, A. R., & Rodl, J. E. (2020). An examination of teachers' culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy. *Teacher Education and*

- Special Education, 43(3), 197–214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406419875194
- Daily, S. M., Mann, M. J., Kristjansson, A. L., Smith, M. L., & Zullig, K. J. (2019).

 School climate and academic achievement in middle and high school students. *Journal of school health*, 89(3), 173-180.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12726
- Darling-Hammond, L., Schachner, A., & Edgerton, A. K. (2020). Restarting and Reinventing School: Learning in the Time of COVID and Beyond. *Learning Policy Institute*. http://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/restarting-reinventing-school-covid.
- DeBrey, C., Musu, L., McFarland, J., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., Diliberti, M., Zhang, A., & Wang, X. (2019). Status and Trends in the Education of Racial and Ethnic Groups 2018. NCES 2019-038. *National Center for Education Statistics*.

 https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/.
- Decristan, J., Jansen, N. C., & Fauth, B. (2023). Student participation in whole-class discourse: individual conditions and consequences for student learning in primary and secondary school. Learning and Instruction, 86.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2023.101748
- Delk, T. D. (2019). Are teacher-credentialing programs providing enough training in multiculturalism for pre-service teachers? *Journal for Multicultural Education*, 13(3), 258-275. https://doi.org/10.1108/JME-01-2019-0003
- Dietrichson, J., Filges, T., Klokker, R. H., Viinholt, B. C., Bøg, M., & Jensen, U. H. (2020). Targeted school-based interventions for improving reading and

- mathematics for students with, or at risk of, academic difficulties in Grades 7–12: A systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *16*(2), Article e1081. https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1081
- Donahue-Keegan, D., Villegas-Reimers, E., & Cressey, J. M. (2019). Integrating social-emotional learning and culturally responsive teaching in teacher education preparation programs. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *46*(4), 150–168. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26841580
- Donegan, R. E., & Wanzek, J. (2021). Effects of reading interventions implemented for upper elementary struggling readers: A look at recent research. *Reading and Writing*, 34(8), 1943-1977. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-021-10123-y
- Dorn, E., Hancock, B., Sarakatsannis, J., & Viruleg, E. (2020). COVID-19 and learning loss—disparities grow and students need help. *McKinsey & Company*,

 **December, 8, 6-7. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-sector/our-insights/covid-19-and-learning-loss-disparities-grow-and-students-need-help
- Dukes, C., Ming, K., Finnegan, L., & Miller, K. (2023). Culturally responsive literacy instruction: How is it reflected in the literature? *Multicultural Learning and Teaching*, *18*(1), 7–31. https://doi.org/10.1515/mlt-2020-0002
- Dumont, H., & Ready, D. D. (2020). Do schools reduce or exacerbate inequality? How the associations between student achievement and achievement growth influence our understanding of the role of schooling. *American Educational Research Journal*, 57(2), 728-774. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219868182
- Erikson, E. H. (1963). Childhood and Society (Vol. 2). Norton.

- Esteves, S., & Almeida, A. P. (2022). Reading Aloud: Practices in School, Family, and Community–Reports from an Intervention Project. *In Modern Reading Practices and Collaboration Between Schools, Family, and Community* (pp. 1-24). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-9750-7.ch001
- Fagrell, P., Fahlgren, A., & Gunnarsson, S. (2020). Curriculum development and quality work in higher education in Sweden: The external stakeholder perspective. *Journal of Praxis in Higher Education*, 2(1), 28-45. https://doi.org/10.47989/kpdc62
- Farmer, T. W., Hamm, J. V., Dawes, M., Barko-Alva, K., & Cross, J. R. (2019).

 Promoting inclusive communities in diverse classrooms: Teacher attunement and social dynamics management. *Educational Psychologist*, *54*(4), 286–305.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1635020
- Farrell, C. C., Penuel, W. R., Coburn, C. E., Daniel, J., & Steup, L. (2021). Practice

 Partnerships in Education: The State of the Field. *William T. Grant Foundation*.
- Fischer, C., Pardos, Z. A., Baker, R. S., Williams, J. J., Smyth, P., Yu, R., & Warschauer, M. (2020). Mining big data in education: Affordances and challenges. *Review of Research in Education*, 44(1), 130-160.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X20903304
- Fowler, S. A., Coleman, M. R. B., & Bogdan, W. K. (2019). The state of the special education profession survey report. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *52*(1), 8-29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059919875703
- Franzò, S., Landoni, P., Colombo, G., & Verganti, R. (2023). The role of publicly funded

- collaborative projects in implementing open innovation. *Innovation: Organization & Management*, 25(3), 236–256. https://doi.org/10.1080/14479338.2022.2055040
- Freedson, M., & Eastman, W. (2016). The politics and practice of literacy pedagogy:

 Ideology and outcomes in two racially diverse settings. *Kappa Delta Pi*Record, 52(4), 162-167. https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2016.1223989
- Freire, P. (1970). Pedagogy of the oppressed. Sheed and Ward.
- Fryer, R. G., Jr., & Howard-Noveck, M. (2020). High-dosage tutoring and reading achievement: evidence from New York City. *Journal of Labor Economics*, *38*(2), 421-452. https://doi.org/10.1086/705882
- Galindo, C. L., & Sanders, M. G. (2022). Teachers' academic optimism and professional practice in an urban full-service community high school. *Journal of Educational Change*, 23(4), 521-548. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-021-09430-6
- Garner, J. K., Hathcock, S., Vasinda, S. V., & Brienen, R. B. (2021). Advisory board decision making as collective identity exploration. *International Journal of Complexity in Education*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.26262/ijce.v2i2.9473
- Gay, G. (2002). Preparing for culturally responsive teaching. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *53*(2), 106–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487102053002003
- Giles, A., & Yazan, B. (2023). The impact of teacher collaboration on ESL students' classroom participation: The Case of Leo. *Iranian Journal of Language Teaching Research*, 11(2), 75–93. doi: 10.30466/ijltr.2023.121331
- Giroux, H. A. (2010). Rethinking education as the practice of freedom: Paulo Freire and the promise of critical pedagogy. *Policy futures in education*, 8(6), 715-721.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2304/pfie.2010.8.6.715

- Goddard, R. D., Hoy, W. K., & Woolfolk-Hoy, A. (2000). Collective teacher efficacy: Its meaning, measure, and impact on student achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, *37*, 479–507. https://doi.org/10.2307/1163531
- Goodenow, C. (1993). The psychological sense of school membership among adolescents:

 Scale development and educational correlates. *Psychology in the Schools*, *30*(1),

 79-90. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6807(199301)30:1<79::AID-PITS2310300113>3.0.CO;2-X">https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6807(199301)30:1<79::AID-PITS2310300113>3.0.CO;2-X
- Grace, M., & Gerdes, A. C. (2019). Parent-teacher relationships and parental involvement in education in Latino families. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 23, 444-454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-018-00218-9
- Green, M. (2022). HARK! Hands up who really loves their classroom reading program?

 TRI this: three approaches to reading instruction. *The Australian journal of language and literacy*, 45(2), 233-252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s44020-022-00018-y
- Griffiths, A. J., Alsip, J., Hart, S. R., Round, R. L., & Brady, J. (2021). Together we can do so much: A systematic review and conceptual framework of collaboration in schools. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, *36*(1), 59-85.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573520915368
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (1989). Fourth Generation Evaluation. Sage.
- Helgetun, J. B., & Menter, I. (2022). From an age of measurement to an evidence era?

 Policy-making in teacher education in England. *Journal of Education*

- Policy, 37(1), 88–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2020.1748722
- Henderson, J. W., Warren, K., Whitmore, K. F., Flint, A. S., Laman, T. T., & Jaggers, W. (2020). Take a close look: Inventorying your classroom library for diverse books. *The Reading Teacher*, 73(6), 747-755. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1886
- Henderson, L. (2023). Intellectual curiosity in service to a stronger community. *Voices* from the Middle, 30(3), 26–28. https://doi.org/10.58680/vm202332441
- Herring, W. A., Bassok, D., McGinty, A. S., Miller, L. C., & Wyckoff, J. H. (2022).

 Racial and socioeconomic disparities in the relationship between children's early literacy skills and third-grade outcomes: Lessons from a kindergarten readiness assessment. *Educational Researcher*, *51*(7), 441–450.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X221091535
- Hite, S. A., & Donohoo, J. A. M. (2021). Leading collective efficacy: Powerful stories of achievement and equity. Corwin.
- Hollie, S. (2019). Branding culturally relevant teaching. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 46(4), 31-52. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26841575
- Hussain, M., & Jones, J. M. (2021). Discrimination, diversity, and sense of belonging:

 Experiences of students of color. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, *14*(1),
 63. https://doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000117
- Imants, J., & Van der Wal, M. M. (2020). A model of teacher agency in professional development and school reform. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 52(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1604809
- Jaber, S. (2023). From interrogation to action: Transformative equity in English

- classrooms. *English Leadership Quarterly*, 46(2), 10–16. https://doi.org/10.58680/elq202332655
- Jackson, D. (2021). Leveraging MTSS to ensure equitable outcomes. *American Institutes* of Research.
- Janesick, V. J. (1999). A journal about journal writing as a qualitative research technique: History, issues, and reflections. *Qualitative inquiry*, *5*(4), 505-524. https://doi.org/10.1177/107780049900500404
- Jayaratne, K. S., Collins, D. P., & McCollum, S. B. (2021). Early-career challenges of youth development extension educators and effective strategies. *Sustainability*, 13(16), 9017. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13169017
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). Qualitative research in pharmacy education: A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research.

 *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 84(1), 138–146.

 https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation. (2016). *Program evaluation*standards statements. http://www.jcsee.org/program-evaluation-standards-statements
- Jones, J., Thomas-El, S., & Vari, T. (2021). Retention for change: Motivate, inspire, and energize your school culture. Rowan & Littlefield.
- Jones, J., & Vari, T. (2019). Candid and compassionate feedback: Transforming everyday practice in schools. Routledge.
- Jones, T. M., Fleming, C., & Williford, A. (2020). Racial equity in academic success:

- The role of school climate and social emotional learning. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 119, 105623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105623
- Kafele, B. K. (2013). Closing the attitude gap: How to fire up your students to strive for success. ASCD.
- Kafele, B. K. (2022). Leaders can build community, even in a divided school. *The Learning Professional*, 43(1), 9–11. https://learningforward.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/voices-leaders-can-build-community-even-in-a-divided-school.pdf
- Kagan, S., & Kagan, M. (2015). Kagan cooperative learning. Kagan Publishing.
- Kaiser, J., Südkamp, A., & Möller, J. (2017). The effects of student characteristics on teachers' judgment accuracy: Disentangling ethnicity, minority status, and achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(6), 871–888.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000156
- Karan, E., & Brown, L. (2022). Enhancing student's problem-solving skills through project-based learning. *Journal of Problem-Based Learning in Higher Education*, 10(1), 74–87. https://doi.org/10.5278/ojs.jpblhe.v10i1.6887
- Karsgaard, C., & Davidson, D. (2023). Must we wait for youth to speak out before we listen? International youth perspectives and climate change education. *Educational Review*, 75(1), 74–92.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2021.1905611
- Kelly, L. B., & Djonko-Moore, C. (2021). What does culturally informed literacy instruction look like? *The Reading Teacher*, 75(5), 567–574.

https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.2068

- Kelly, L. B., Wakefield, W., Caires-Hurley, J., Kganetso, L. W., Moses, L., & Baca, E. (2021). What is culturally informed literacy instruction? A review of research in P–5 contexts. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 53(1), 75–99.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X20986602
- Kern, A. C. (2020). South African parents' understanding of inclusion and exclusion in education in primary schools. *Perspectives in Education*, *38*(2), 255–271. https://doi.org/10.18820/2519593X/pie.v38.i2.17
- Kerwin, J. T., & Thornton, R. L. (2021). Making the grade: The sensitivity of education program effectiveness to input choices and outcome measures. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 103(2), 251-264. https://doi.org/10.1162/rest_a_00911
- Keyes, T. S. (2019). A qualitative inquiry: Factors that promote classroom belonging and engagement among high school students. *School Community Journal*, 29(1), 171–200. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1219861.pdf
- Khalifa, M. (2018). *Culturally responsive school leadership*. Harvard Education Press.
- Kieran, L., & Anderson, C. (2019). Connecting universal design for learning with culturally responsive teaching. *Education and Urban Society*, 51(9), 1202–1216. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124518785012
- Knight, J. (2018). The impact cycle: What instructional coaches should do to foster powerful improvements in teaching. Corwin.
- Knight, M., & Cooper, R. (2019). Taking on a new grading system: The interconnected effects of standards-based grading on teaching, learning, assessment, and student

behavior. *NASSP Bulletin*, *103*(1), 65–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192636519826709

Knight-Manuel, M. G., Marciano, J. E., Wilson, M., Jackson, I., Vernikoff, L.,
Zuckerman, K. G., & Watson, V. W. (2019). "It's all possible": Urban educators'
perspectives on creating a culturally relevant, schoolwide, college-going culture
for Black and Latino male students. *Urban Education*, 54(1), 35-64.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916651320

- Kohar, D. (2022). Measuring the effectiveness of the brain-based learning model on the level of reading comprehension based on exposition reading structures in junior high school. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 22(1), 78–89.
 https://doi.org/10.12738/jestp.2022.1.0007
- Krawczyk, E. (2019). How can teachers increase discipline in their classrooms and deliver a linguistically and culturally adjusted education for diverse students? A message for pre-service and in-service teachers. *College Quarterly*, 22(2). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1221403.pdf
- Kretchmar, K. (2023). "Parents Care Deeply about Their Kids" Education, but Perhaps

 Not so Deeply about the Education of Other People's Kids." *Educational*Forum, 87(2), 4–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2022.2149912
- Kuhfeld, M., Soland, J., & Lewis, K. (2022). Test score patterns across three COVID-19-impacted school years. *Educational Researcher*, 51(7), 500-506.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X221109178
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2021a). I'm here for the hard re-set: Post pandemic pedagogy to

- preserve our culture. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, *54*(1), 68-78. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2020.1863883
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2021b). Three decades of culturally relevant, responsive, & sustaining pedagogy: What lies ahead? *The Education Forum*, 85(4), 351–354. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2021.1957632
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2023). "Yes, but how do we do it?": Practicing culturally relevant pedagogy. In *White teachers/diverse classrooms* (pp. 33-46). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003448709
- Lambert, M. (2012). A beginner's guide to doing your education research project.

 SAGE.
- Larson, A. L., Cycyk, L. M., Carta, J. J., Hammer, C. S., Baralt, M., Uchikoshi, Y., An, Z. G., & Wood, C. (2020). A systematic review of language-focused interventions for young children from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 50, 157-178.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.06.001
- Lee, J., Shapiro, V. B., & Kim, B. K. E. (2023). Universal school-based social and emotional learning (SEL) for diverse student subgroups: Implications for enhancing equity through SEL. *Prev Sci* (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-023-01552-y
- Lemire, C., Rousseau, M., & Dionne, C. (2023). A comparison of fidelity implementation frameworks used in the field of early intervention. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 44(2), 236-252. https://doi.org/10.1177/10982140211008978

- Lerman, M. (2022). The Ethics of Artificial Intelligence: How Educators Can Adapt to Close the Bias Gap. 2022 IEEE Integrated STEM Education Conference (ISEC), Integrated STEM Education Conference (ISEC), 2022 IEEE, 379.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/ISEC54952.2022.10025126
- Liamputtong, P. (2020). Qualitative Research Methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Liu, J., Gill, E., & Li, S. (2021). Revisiting cultural competence. *The Clinical Teacher*, 18(2), 191-197. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13269
- Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). *Methods in educational research: From theory to practice* (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Long, A. F., & Godfrey, M. (2004). An evaluation tool to assess the quality of qualitative research studies. *International Journal of social Research methodology*, 7(2), 181-196. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000045302
- Lumsden, K. (2022). Assessing the quality of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Researcher*. https://qualitativetraining.com/category/qualitative-research/
- Lyon, C., Hogan, E. K., & Kearns, D. M. (2021). Individualizing literacy instruction in co-taught classrooms through a station teaching model. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 56(4), 224-232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220944376
- Mahoney, J. L., Weissberg, R. P., Greenberg, M. T., Dusenbury, L., Jagers, R. J., Niemi,
 K., Schlinger, M., Schlund, J., Shriver, T. P., VanAusdal, K., & Yoder, N. (2021).
 Systemic social and emotional learning: Promoting educational success for all
 preschool to high school students. *American Psychologist*, 76(7), 1128.

https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000701

- Mahur, Y., Riyanto, Y., & Roesminingsih, E. (2019). Paulo Freire: Critical, humanist and liberating education (critical reflections on Indonesian education). *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Studies*, 1(8), 873–877.
 https://doi.org/10.29103/ijevs.v1i8.2242
- Mao, Y. (2023). Issues and strategies in inquiry-based learning evaluation. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 11, 422–440. https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2023.114030
- Maranto, R., Queiroz e Melo, R., & Glenn, C. (2020). Introduction to a special section on COVID-19 and schooling in the U.S.: Disruption, continuity, quality, and equity. *Journal of School Choice*, *14*(4), 527–533.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15582159.2020.1836800
- Marzano, R. J. (2004). Building background knowledge for academic achievement.

 ASCD.
- Masini, A., Marini, S., Gori, D., Leoni, E., Rochira, A., & Dallolio, L. (2020). Evaluation of school-based interventions of active breaks in primary schools: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, 23(4), 377-384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2019.10.008
- Maslow, A. H. (1970). *Motivation and personality* (2nd ed.) Harper & Row.
- McDermott, K. B. (2021). Practicing retrieval facilitates learning. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 72, 609-633. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-051019
- McFarland, J., Hussar, B., Zhang, J., Wang, X., Wang, K., Hein, S., Diliberti, M., Forrest Cataldi, E., Bullock Mann, F., & Barmer, A. (2019). *The Condition of Education*

2019 (NCES 2019-144). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC:National Center for Education Statistics.

https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2019144.

McMahon, M. (2022). *Middle school multi-tiered systems of support problem solving: An action research dissertation* (Doctoral dissertation). https://hdl.handle.net/2142/116074

McMaster, K. L., Baker, K., Donegan, R., Hugh, M., & Sargent, K. (2021). Professional development to support teachers' implementation of intensive reading intervention: A systematic review. *Remedial and Special Education*, 42(5), 329-342.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932520934099

- Medina, M. A., Cosby, G., & Grim, J. (2020). Community engagement through partnerships: Lessons learned from a decade of full-service community school implementation. *In Reviewing the Success of Full-Service Community Schools in the US* (pp. 128-146). Routledge, https://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2019.1615923
- Medina Coronado, D., & Nagamine Miyashiro, M. M. (2019). Autonomous learning strategies in the reading comprehension of high school students. *Journal of Educational Psychology: Propositos y Representaciones*, 7(2), 134–159. http://dx.doi.org/10.20511/pyr2019.v7n2.276
- Merolla, D. M., & Jackson, O. (2019). Structural racism as the fundamental cause of the academic achievement gap. *Sociology Compass*, *13*(6), e12696. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12696

- Merriam, S., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Michael, S. L., Barnes, S. P., & Wilkins, N. J. (2023). Scoping review of family and community engagement strategies used in school-based interventions to promote healthy behaviors. *Journal of School Health*, *93*(9), 828-841.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13367
- Miller- Jones, D., & Rubin, M. M. (2020). Achieving equity in education: A restorative justice approach. *Journal of Public Management & Social Policy*, 27(1), 23-44. https://digitalscholarship.tsu.edu/jpmsp/vol27/iss1/3
- Mohale, M. A. (2023). Community engagement in higher education: Developments after the first institutional audit cycle. *South African Journal of Higher Education*, *37*(1), 113–130. https://doi.org/10.20853/37-1-5675
- Morgan, I., & Amerikaner, A. (2018). Funding Gaps an Analysis of School Funding

 Equity Across the U. S. and Within Each State. The Education Trust.

 https://edtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/Equal-Is-Not-Good-Enough-December-2022.pdf
- Morgan, T. L., & Cieminski, A. B. (2023). Critical reflection to develop transformative consciousness of racial differences, *Professional Development in Education*, 49:4, 634-650. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2023.2178482
- Morrison, A., Rigney, L. I., Hattam, R., & Diplock, A. (2019). *Toward an Australian* culturally responsive pedagogy: A narrative review of the literature. University of South Australia.

- Morse, J. M. (2015). Analytic strategies and sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*. 25(10), 1317–1318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315602867
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Moule, J. (2012). *Cultural competence: A primer for educators* (2nd ed.). Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Müller, F., Denk, A., Lubaway, E., Sälzer, C., Kozina, A., Perše, T. V., Rasmusson, M., Jugović, I., Lund Nielsen, B., Rozman, M., Ojsteršek, M., & Jurko, S. (2020).
 Assessing social, emotional, and intercultural competences of students and school staff: A systematic literature review. *Educational research review*, 29, 100304.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019.100304
- Muñiz, J. (2019). Culturally Responsive Teaching: A 50-State Survey of Teaching Standards. *New America*.
- Nam, J. (2023, February 8). Average SAT Score: Full Statistics [web log].

 https://www.bestcolleges.com/research/average-sat-score-full-statistics/#sat-score-demographics.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2023). *Common Core of Data: Search for public schools* [Data set]. https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/index.asp
- Nganga, L. (2020). Analyzing children's literature for hidden bias helps preservice teachers gain pedagogical practices in critical multicultural education. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 34(1), 93-107.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2019.1692109

- Ngoc Diep, L. T., Gustina Zainal, A., Keezhatta, M. S., Imamutdinovna Gabidullina, F., Hassan, I., & Heydarnejad, T. (2022). Culture and language are inextricably linked: Surveying the effectiveness of culture-based instructional materials on enhancing reading comprehension (RC), inclination to reading, and reading attitude (RA) among EFL learners. *Education Research International*, 2022, Article 4474122. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/4474122
- Noguerón-Liu, S. (2020). Expanding the knowledge base in literacy instruction and assessment: Biliteracy and translanguaging perspectives from families, communities, and classrooms. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *55*, S307-S318. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.354
- Nyachae, T. M. (2021). Got diverse texts? Now what. *Literacy Today*, 37-39.

 https://www.academia.edu/48903603/Got_Diverse_Texts Now What Teachers

 as_Critical_Guides_in_the_Moment
- O'Leary, E. S., Shapiro, C., Toma, S., Sayson, H. W., Levis-Fitzgerald, M., Johnson, T., & Sork, V. L. (2020). Creating inclusive classrooms by engaging STEM faculty in culturally responsive teaching workshops. *International Journal of STEM education*, 7, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-020-00230-7
- Omara, P. (2020). Strengthening School-Community Partnership for Quality Education in Seed Secondary Schools in West Nile Region, Uganda. *African Journal of Education, Science and Technology*, 6(1), 72-81.

 https://doi.org/10.2022/ajest.v6i1.465
- Oryan, S., & Ravid, R. (2019). The experiences of pre-service teachers delivering a study

- unit on multiculturalism, racism and prejudice. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 86, 102911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102911
- Osterman, K. F. (2000). Students' need for belonging in the school community. *Review of Educational Research*, 70(3), 323–367. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543070003323
- Pack, S. M., & Peek, S. C. (2020). Engaging Students as Stakeholders through a Student Advisory Board. *J. Phys. Educ*, 7, 74-81.
- http://jpesm.com/journals/jpesm/Vol_7_No_1_June_2020/9.pdf

 Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. 2d ed. Sage.
- Pelkmans, J., & Robson, P. (1986). The aspirations of the White Paper. *J. Common Mkt. Stud.*, 25, 181. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.1987.tb00289.x
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), Article 7. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2097
- Peterson, E. R., Rubie-Davies, C., Osborne, D., & Sibley, C. (2016). Teachers' explicit expectations and implicit prejudiced attitudes to educational achievement:

 Relations with student achievement and the ethnic achievement gap. *Learning and Instruction*, 42, 123–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2016.01.010
- Pittman, R. T., Zhang, S., Binks-Cantrell, E., Hudson, A., & Joshi, R. M. (2020).

 Teachers' knowledge about language constructs related to literacy skills and student achievement in low socio-economic status schools. *Dyslexia*, 26(2), 200-219. https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.1628

Policastro, M. M., Mazeski, D., Wach, N., & Kerzman, H. (2020). Conversation Centers:

Giving Students Voice and Choice in the Balanced Literacy Classroom. Illinois

Reading Council Journal, 48(3), 39–48.

https://doi.org/10.33600/IRCJ.48.3.2020.39

Popova, A., Evans, D. K., Breeding, M. E., & Arancibia, V. (2022). Teacher professional development around the world: The gap between evidence and practice. *The World Bank Research Observer*, *37*(1), 107-136.

https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkab006

Poucher, Z. A., Tamminen, K. A., Caron, J. G., & Sweet, S. N. (2020). Thinking through and designing qualitative research studies: A focused mapping review of 30 years of qualitative research in sport psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *13*(1), 163-186.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984X.2019.1656276

Rambo-Hernandez, K. E., Peters, S. J., & Plucker, J. A. (2019). Quantifying and exploring elementary school excellence gaps across schools and time. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *30*(4), 383-415.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X19864116

Ramos-Montañez, S., & Pattison, S. (2023). How Activity Frames Shape Situated Identity Negotiation: Theoretical and Practical Insights from an Informal Engineering Education Program. In *Science Identities: Theory, method and research* (pp. 333-357). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17642-5_15

- Randall, J. (2021). "Color-neutral" is not a thing: Redefining construct definition and representation through a justice-oriented critical antiracist lens. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 40(4), 82-90.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/emip.12429
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological. SAGE.
- Redding, C. (2019). A teacher like me: A review of the effect of student–teacher racial/ethnic matching on teacher perceptions of students and student academic and behavioral outcomes. *Review of educational research*, 89(4), 499-535. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654319853545
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C. M., & Ormston, R. (2003). Qualitative research practice (Vol. 757). Sage.
- Rodler, L., & Renbarger, R. (2023). New White Paper Calls for Strengthening Climate

 Change Education. *Reports of the National Center for Science Education*, 43(4),

 5. https://climateandhealthalliance.org/initiatives/who-cs-wg-call-to-strengthen-climate-change-education/
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). SAGE.
- Saldaña, J. (2021). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (4th ed.). SAGE.
- Saunders, M. N. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27(4), 836–852. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182

- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Silva, D. (2022). Pre-service teachers' understanding of culture in multicultural education: A qualitative content analysis. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *110*, 103580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103580
- Silver, D. (2022). A theoretical framework for studying teachers' curriculum supplementation. *Review of Educational Research*, 92(3), 455-489. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543211063930
- Sims, S., & Fletcher-Wood, H. (2021). Identifying the characteristics of effective teacher professional development: a critical review. *School effectiveness and school improvement*, 32(1), 47-63. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2020.1772841
- Smets, W., & Struyven, K. (2020). A teachers' professional development programme to implement differentiated instruction in secondary education: How far do teachers reach? *Cogent Education*, 7(1), 1742273. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2020.1742273
- Smith, R., Snow, P., Serry, T., & Hammond, L. (2021). The role of background knowledge in reading comprehension: A critical review. *Reading**Psychology, 42(3), 214-240. https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2021.1888348
- Smith, T. E., Sheridan, S. M., Kim, E. M., Park, S., & Beretvas, S. N. (2020). The effects of family-school partnership interventions on academic and social-emotional functioning: A meta-analysis exploring what works for whom. *Educational*

- Psychology Review, 32, 511-544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09509-w
- Solone, C. J., Thornton, B. E., Chiappe, J. C., Perez, C., Rearick, M. K., & Falvey, M. A. (2020). Creating collaborative schools in the United States: A review of best practices. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 12(3), 283-292. https://doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2020358222
- Stark, K., Wexler, J., Shelton, A., Johnston, T. B., & Omohundro, K. (2023). Explicit and evidence-based literacy instruction in middle school: An observation study. *Reading and Writing*, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-023-10470-y
- Stenfors, T., Kajamaa, A., & Bennett, D. (2020). 'How to... Assess the Quality of Qualitative Research.' *The Clinical Teacher*, https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13242
- Storm, B. C., Bjork, R. A., & Storm, J. C. (2010). Optimizing retrieval as a learning event: When and why expanding retrieval practice enhances long-term retention. *Memory & Cognition*, *38*, 244-253. https://doi.org/10.3758/MC.38.2.244
- Subasi Singh, S., & Akar, H. (2021). Culturally responsive teaching: beliefs of preservice teachers in the Viennese context. *Intercultural Education*, *32*(1), 46-61. https://doi.org/10.1080/14675986.2020.1844533
- Sullivan, G. M., & Sargeant, J. (2011). Qualities of qualitative research: part I. *Journal of graduate medical education*, *3*(4), 449-452. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-11-00221.1
- Svendsen, B. (2020). Inquiries into teacher professional development—What matters? *Education*, *140*(3), 111-130. https://hdl.handle.net/11250/2673809

- Switalski, T. (2023). How New York State creatively shifted the paradigm from managing troubled kids to engaging them. *The Routledge Handbook of Collective Intelligence for Democracy and Governance*.

 https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003215929-20
- Tanase, M. (2020). Is good teaching culturally responsive? *Journal of Pedagogical Research*, 4(3), 187-202. http://dx.doi.org/10.33902/JPR.2020063333
- Texas Education Agency. (2021). *Multi-tiered systems of support*. https://www.esc11.net/Page/8512
- Thomas, C., Ruiz, E. A., van Beek, H., Furlow, J. D., & Sedell, J. (2019). Being honors worthy: Lessons in supporting transfer students. *Journal of the National Collegiate Honors Council*, 20(1), 79–105.

 https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/nchcjournal/625
- Thomas, D., & Dyches, J. (2019). The hidden curriculum of reading intervention: A critical content analysis of Fountas & Pinnell's leveled literacy intervention. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *51*(5), 601-618.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1616116
- Troyer, M., Kim, J. S., Hale, E., Wantchekon, K. A., & Armstrong, C. (2019). Relations among intrinsic and extrinsic reading motivation, reading amount, and comprehension: a conceptual replication. *Reading and Writing*, *32*, 1197-1218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-018-9907-9
- Truckenmiller, A. J., & Brehmer, J. S. (2021). Making the most of tier 2 intervention: What decisions are made in successful studies? *Reading & Writing Quarterly*,

- 37(3), 240–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2020.1768612
- Van Hook, J., & Glick, J. E. (2020). Spanning borders, cultures, and generations: A decade of research on immigrant families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(1), 224-243. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12621
- Van Mechelen, I., Boulesteix, A. L., Dangl, R., Dean, N., Hennig, C., Leisch, F., & Warrens, M. J. (2023). A white paper on good research practices in benchmarking: The case of cluster analysis. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews:

 Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 13(6), e1511.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/widm.1511
- Vatterott, C. (2015). Rethinking grading: Meaningful assessment for standards-based learning. ASCD.
- Vaughn, S., Swanson, E., Fall, A. M., Roberts, G., Capin, P., Stevens, E. A., & Stewart,
 A. A. (2022). The efficacy of comprehension and vocabulary focused professional development on English learners' literacy. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 114(2), 257. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000684
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society*. Harvard University Press.
- Wakeman, S. Y., Pennington, R., Cerrato, B., Saunders, A., & Ahlgrim-Delzell, L. (2020). Parent perceptions regarding literacy instruction for students with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 65(1): 86-98. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12795
- Wallerstein, N., Oetzel, J. G., Sanchez-Youngman, S., Boursaw, B., Dickson, E., Kastelic, S., Koegel, P., Lucero, J. E., Magarati, M., Ortiz, K., Parker, M., Peña,

- J., Richmond, A., & Duran, B. (2020). Engage for equity: A long-term study of community-based participatory research and community-engaged research practices and outcomes. *Health Education & Behavior*. *47*(3):380-390. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198119897075
- Wang, M. T., Degol, J. L., Amemiya, J., Parr, A., & Guo, J. (2020). Classroom climate and children's academic and psychological wellbeing: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Developmental Review*, 57, 100912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2020.100912
- Weddle, H. (2022). Approaches to studying teacher collaboration for instructional improvement: A review of literature. *Educational Research Review*, *35*, Article 100415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2021.100415
- Wetzel, M. M., Vlach, S. K., Svrcek, N. S., Steinitz, E., Omogun, L., Salmerón, C., Batista-Morales, N., Taylor, L. A., & Villarreal, D. (2019). Preparing teachers with sociocultural knowledge in literacy: A literature review. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 51(2), 138–157. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X19833575
- Wexler, J., Kearns, D. M., Lemons, C. J., Shelton, A., Pollack, M. S., Stapleton, L. M., Clancy, E., Hogan, E., & Lyon, C. (2022). Improving literacy instruction in cotaught middle school classrooms to support reading comprehension. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 68, 102040.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220944212
- Whitney, S. D., & Bergin, D. A. (2018). Students' motivation and engagement predict reading achievement differently by ethnic group. *The Journal of Genetic*

- Psychology, 179(6), 357–370. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.2018.1527754
- Williams, K. R., Weiss, M. P., & Baker, P. H. (2021). Using a culturally responsive lens in the revision of a core preparation course. *Journal of Special Education*Preparation, 1(2), 36-47. https://doi.org/10.33043/JOSEP.1.2.36-47
- Willis, A. I. (2019). Race, response to intervention, and reading research. *Journal of Literacy Research*, *51*(4), 394-419. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X19877463
- Yin, R. K. (2016). Case study research design and methods. Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Qualitative research from start to finish (2nd ed.). Guilford.
- Yob, I. M., & Brewer, P. (2016). Working toward the common good: A university community's perspectives on social change. Walden University.
- Zhao, K., Chen, N., Liu, G., Lun, Z., & Wang, X. (2023). School climate and left-behind children's achievement motivation: The mediating role of learning adaptability and the moderating role of teacher support. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *14*, 1040214. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1040214
- Zhu, G. (2023). "Educate your heart before your mind": The counter-narratives of one African American female teacher's asset-, equity-and justice-oriented pedagogy in one urban school. *Urban Education*, *58*(6), 1151-1179.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085920902244

Appendix A: The Project

High School Teacher Perceptions About Reading Strategies That Support African American and Hispanic Students: A White Paper

By

Sherrie J. Sudler

High School Teacher Perceptions About Reading Strategies That Support African

American and Hispanic Students: A White Paper

By

Sherrie J. Sudler

Introduction

Addressing the academic gaps in reading for African American and Hispanic high school students at the study district is imperative for several reasons. These reasons include (a) continuous academic achievement gaps compared to their European American and Asian American peers, (b) equitable access to tools and ethnically diverse supplemental resources, and (c) creating social change to close achievement gaps among ethnic demographics. Although the study district has implemented instructional principles, created initiatives, and shared the importance of students' exposure to culturally responsive pedagogy, there continues to be a gap in practice to support the reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students. Therefore, this project has the potential to increase reading success and mastery to support academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students.

The performance of African American and Hispanic students has been below the average or proficient performance expected on these literacy assessment measures, and this low performance affects the educational opportunities available to these groups, such as access to Advanced Placement courses and college admittance (Medina Coronado & Nagamine Miyashiro, 2019; Peterson et al., 2016). The problem is meaningful at the local study district. For example, campus educators (a) implemented campus-adopted instructional principles, (b) implemented a new curriculum with embedding reading in all content areas, (c) invested in additional assessment platforms to assess student areas for growth, (d) focused on the use of instructional strategies in professional learning communities (PLCs), (e) implemented response to intervention (RTI) and multitiered systems of support (MTSS) classes, (f) provided reading professional development opportunities focused on strategies for diverse populations, and (g) built a trauma-informed school team aimed at supporting the Hispanic and African American students' needs. The study district has seen the disparity in student scores between African American and Hispanic students compared to their European American and Asian American peers at the high school level.

This project has the potential to increase reading success and mastery to support academic

It is possible, that the gap in practice is also reflected in the lack of appropriate literacy strategies used in the high school classroom that would benefit African American and Hispanic students, despite literature that reflects the effectiveness of using culturally relevant pedagogy (J. Kaiser et al., 2017; Kelly et al., 2021; D. Thomas & Dyches, 2019). In addition, the gap in practice could reflect the absence of appropriate relationshipbuilding strategies that would benefit African American and Hispanic students, despite the literature that reflects the importance of building positive, trusting relationships to support student engagement, motivation and a sense of community (D. Thomas & Dyches, 2019). According to Wang et al. (2020), classroom climate plays a major role in student academic success. Students who have a positive connection with teachers in the classroom more consistently had positive social associations within the classroom and that built a sense of community thereby resulting in students feeling more comfortable to learn. In addition, Daily et al. (2019), also found that that middle and high school students had higher rates of academic achievement due to a positive classroom and positive school climate. Just as important as a positive classroom and positive school environment, students must also have a sense of belonging and a sense of understanding in their school community to promote academic success. Pedagogy is not just about instruction, but it

includes the vision, community engagement, school leadership, and teacher instructional practices. Abacioglu et al. (2020) and Muñiz (2019) both shared that culturally responsive teaching has been linked directly to student engagement, academic success, relationship-building, and social and emotional learning. Abacioglu et al. (2020) researched further to discuss teacher attitudes toward their professional development and implementation of culturally relevant instruction and practices. While furthermore Brown et al. (2019) and Tanase (2020) shared that there is a need for teachers to receive more professional development on incorporating culturally relevant instructional pedagogy into their planning for instruction. Muñiz (2019) and Nyachae (2021) both shared that teachers are gaining access to culturally diverse materials but are still working toward how to incorporate that into their teaching and other pedagogical practices as a way to build a positive classroom environment.

Teacher professional development should include strategies for differentiated instruction. Bremner et al. (2022) and Ciampa and Reisboard (2021) used qualitative methods to gather information on incorporating instructional strategies to support the academic success of diverse students. Ciampa and Reisboard (2021) focused on differentiated instruction techniques. Using differentiated instruction and planning for collaborative learning experiences ultimately provides students

with a more diverse viewpoint of the content and to see the authentic progression of logical thinking through those same collaborative discussion techniques. Bremner et al. linked differentiated instruction strategies to the following variables within teacher implementation: the teachers' selfefficacy in differentiated instruction, teaching beliefs, teaching experience, professional development, teacher certification, and classroom size. The researchers found that differentiated instruction implementation has increased but is still below a critical benchmark in addressing students' diverse needs. Professional development can provide a multitude of resources, strategies, and supports for educators. However, there is a continued gap in evidence and practice among certain areas such as data analysis. According to Popova et al. (2022) the attributes of the most effective teacher professional development is incentivizing the participation in professional learning, opportunities for teachers to practice new skills learned from professional development, and follow up once teachers return to the classroom by instructional coaches and administration. With these attributes in mind, teachers found that training focused on regularly evaluating student data in literacy promoted a large-scale increase to student access to materials and student mastery on the concepts (Popova et al., 2022; Kerwin & Thornton, 2021).

Creating a district-wide plan for high schools to engage campus and

community stakeholders, including parents could support academic success by (a) creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships, (b) campus stakeholders using advisory board information to develop increased datadriven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and (c) completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

This white paper is the result of a basic qualitative study conducted with high school teachers who teach core content classes at this district. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to investigate how high school teachers perceive their implementation of instructional strategies in reading to support African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement. Based on the findings, three recommendations are suggested to facilitate a district-wide advisory board and data-driven professional learning opportunities for teachers using culturally relevant supplemental resources to support the reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students.

Problem Defined

The problem addressed by the study is African American and Hispanic students' literacy scores have remained lowest of all ethnicities at high schools in one district, despite the implementation of numerous initiatives and curricular platforms. When I analyzed the findings, four themes emerged from my individual interviews with high school core content teachers, and those themes focused on a need for (a) creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships, (b) increased data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and (c) completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. The analysis of the findings in alignment with the white paper development includes recommendations to support the findings of this study to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. Therefore, this white paper is to inform and encourage stakeholders at the district by providing input about my recommendations about professional learning and development of an advisory board to support the improvement of reading achievement of African American and Hispanic students.

This white paper was developed to address the reading achievement needs of African American and Hispanic students at the high school level in an effort to close the academic gaps in reading. The recommendations from the study include, development of an

advisory board, data-driven professional learning, and an annual needs assessment on professional learning efficacy. The first recommendation is for this district to create an advisory board

Recommendation #1: Campus and district leaders creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students.

It is recommended that the district create an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships. The goal is for campus and district leaders building teacher capacity to develop more teacher leaders Based on the findings of the study and current scholarly literature, African American and Hispanic students benefit from the collective work between their parents and the school as well as collaboration between community stakeholders and the school. One effective way to create this collaboration and partnership between the school and parents and the school and community partners is by creating advisory boards that include various internal and external stakeholders.

Recommendation #1: Stakeholder Advisory Board:

- Maintenance of educational environment
- Representation of underresearched, unique, and

Advisory boards are one way that school leaders can utilize the expertise, experience, and perceptions of stakeholders to make more informed decisions. Courtney et al. (2021) shared that advisory boards consist of professionals with domains of expertise relevant to the school setting. Advisory board leaders use frameworks that best fit their organization and the needs of students to best leverage the unique skills and interests of the members. In agreement with Courtney et al. (2021), Garner et al. (2021) discussed a framework for establishing advisory boards that includes (a) model's consensus, (b) decision making emphasis on a linear process multi-phase process, (c) situated perspectives to highlight dynamic relationships between individuals, contexts, and identities. The advisory board begins with a collective commitment to establishing a mission, vision, and core values. Garner et al. (2021) explains that the process of creating an advisory board is one of collective identity exploration that embodies complex dynamic systems. The identity of the advisory board is an exploration of the members' identity and board members' dialogue is incremental and transformational dialogue leading to an emergence of ideas, purpose, solutions and decisions (Garner et al., 2021; Ramos-Montañez and Pattison, 2023; Baum, 2023; Switalski, 2023). These advisory boards also guide the continuous improvement of the educational organization. According to Garner et al. (2021) and Ramos-Montañez and Pattison (2023), advisory

boards not only are responsible for the maintenance of educational environment, but also the members propel the growth exponentially to foster innovation and a shared interest to support students. Advisory boards also represent under-researched, and unique and influential factors of student learning and education (Switalski, 2023). In addition, researchers have found that board members' effort and attention on the school and research-based practices guides school and district leaders to consider the content and approach of programs, gauging student learning, obstacles to student success, board contributions, and emphasis on skills students are taught (Baum, 2023; Switalski, 2023). Likewise, Pack and Peek (2020) shared that effective advisory boards include their members having a solid knowledge and understanding of their role, limitations in influencing curriculum, encourage engagement with students, have formal procedures for involvement, and are well coordinated with the larger educational institution. However, Fagrell et al. (2020) shared that some advisory boards remain to have uncertainties about the internal decision-making process and organization; therefore, leading to a lack of understanding in their overall role and impact on the entire educational organization. Also, boards consist of members that include alumni, staff, families with students attending the school, students, high education leaders, and campus and district leaders. The members of the board are largely composed of members with a close

connection to the institution as they are more engaged as program advocates and will contribute more financially (Switalski, 2023). Overall, Fagrell et al. (2020) explained that stakeholders on the advisory board influence professional learning for staff members, curriculum development, and curriculum implementation with fidelity. Plus, board members comment on the quality of education and the education students receive predominantly connected to the world and society (Fagrell et al., 2020). Therefore, while advisory boards have the possibility to have a positive impact on the overall educational system and its operations, it is vital to start with a shared vision, mission, and core values. As a reflection for the board members and all stakeholders, an annual needs assessment could provide beneficial information on how to address the most current needs of the educational community.

Recommendation #2: Campus and district stakeholders build teacher capacity to provide professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms.

It is also recommended that the district increases data-driven professional learning opportunities through professional learning communities (PLCs) and professional development focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials. The goals is for campus and district leaders supporting further professional dialogue that is

explicit to student voice and student data. The increase in these professional learning opportunities through collaboration and data-driven practices give educators and opportunity to analyze data directly related to their students, share experiences, provide perspectives and learn best practices to support the academic achievement of African American and Hispanic students. Professional learning also is an opportunity for teachers to further plan to engage students and support their academic success and mastery.

Recommendation #2: Build teacher capacity:

- Professional dialogue through PLCs
- Professional development in differentiation,

Professional learning communities (PLC)

PLC participation is a common format for educators to develop their professional insights and practices. Well-developed PLCs have a positive impact on teaching professional development and practice as well as student learning (Weddle, 2022). Teachers in PLCs learn together and collaborate to determine the best strategies to improve student achievement (Jones & Vari, 2019). Castro-Alonso et al. (2021), Jones and Vari (2019), and Weddle (2022) examined how as educators participated in PLCs, they found more comfort in planning to incorporate more learnercentered strategies within their daily instruction and assessment. PLCs establish a mindset of collaboration and supporting student need regardless of ethnic background. Barber and Klauda (2020) stated collaboration can help teachers determine which principals of student engagement and motivation to apply with certain students.

Professional Development: Differentiation

As the literature relates to learner-centered instructional practices and ideals, teacher professional development is also a focus to explore the achievement gaps of African American and Hispanic students. Teacher professional development is an essential element to academic success. Smets and Struyven (2020) shared that high school teachers that differentiated instruction in their classroom, found that there was a direct correlation between the use of differentiation and the academic success of diverse student populations. With continuous professional development and collaborating with instructional leaders, teachers showed success with implementing various strategies associated with differentiated instruction (Smets & Struyven, 2020). When seeking to increase student connection to content and engage with the instructional materials, professional development is key to finding better ways to increase students' academic growth. Barber and Klauda (2020) stated teachers should receive professional development specific to principles of student

engagement in reading instruction, particularly among diverse populations. Keyes (2019), Krawczyk (2019), and Wetzel et al. (2019) shared insights on preparing teachers to deliver instruction that caters to the learner, regardless of background. The instructional delivery in providing differentiated strategies includes cooperative learning strategies to accommodate heterogeneity (Smets and Struyven, 2020). Keyes (2019), Krawczyk (2019), and Smets and Struyven (2020) all shared that teacher usage of collaborative grouping and strategies also supports students in participating during instruction and promotes academic and social development. Teachers use of differentiated instruction not only supports student collaboration and building background knowledge, differentiated instruction also is a way to promote student engagement and motivation (Smets and Struyven, 2020). Students with diverse backgrounds and diverse needs in the classroom are able to better reach a level of academic success and academic mastery in a variety of areas (Smets and Struyven, 2020). Bremner et al. (2022) described differentiated strategies for teachers to use, such as grouping, using student voice and choice, diverse content, various assessment formats, strategic use of supplemental resources. Bremner et al. (2022) found that using differentiated practices provided an inclusive instructional model and more individualized opportunities for students to access, learn, and master content. Krawczyk (2019), and Wetzel et al.

(2019) explained there are difference levels to differentiation in reading instruction. Similar to the MTSS process, Tier 1 supports are general differentiation strategies that support all students in the classroom that include grouping and teaching background knowledge (Krawczyk, 2019; Wetzel et al., 2019). Tier 2 supports differentiation includes supports for students such as vocabulary and reading comprehension supports like graphic organizers, while Tier 3 supports include small group instruction and modifications to assignments (Krawczyk, 2019; Wetzel et al., 2019). Wetzel et al. (2019) also explains that instructional technology can be used by teachers to differentiate instruction to cater to students diverse and individualized needs. Using a differentiated approach to instruction provides students with a personal connection to the material and teachers use of differentiation can support students with various academic needs (Bremner et al., 2022). This instructional delivery also includes teachers making personal connections with their students and continually assessing their instructional practices to meet the needs of each student.

Teacher professional development should include strategies for differentiated instruction. Bremner et al. (2022) and Ciampa and Reisboard (2021) used qualitative methods to gather information on incorporating instructional strategies to support the academic success of diverse students. Ciampa and Reisboard (2021) focused

on differentiated instruction techniques. Using differentiated instruction and planning for collaborative learning experiences ultimately provides students with a more diverse viewpoint of the content and to see the authentic progression of logical thinking through those same collaborative discussion techniques. Bremner et al. linked differentiated instruction strategies to the following variables within teacher implementation: the teachers' selfefficacy in differentiated instruction, teaching beliefs, teaching experience, professional development, teacher certification, and classroom size. The researchers found that differentiated instruction implementation has increased but is still below a critical benchmark in addressing students' diverse needs.

Professional Development: Culturally Relevant Supplemental Resources

While there is a push in the local area to increase culturally relevant supplemental resources, teachers benefit from having professional development to learn more about their students' cultural diversity, but also how to access the resources to support diverse student groups. Ladson-Billings (2023) and Silver (2022) both shared similar sentiments about professional development in the area of culturally relevant supplemental resources stating that when educators without professional development on using supplemental resources, their access and usage of these supplemental resources lacks cohesion and fails to capture all aspects of the phenomenon. Therefore, when

teachers are incorporating supplemental resources, specifically culturally relevant supplemental resources, the most effective professional development includes a consensus around the types of material, who is involved in the teacherlevel curriculum supplementation, important dimensions of supplementation, and the overall educational value of supplementation (Silver, 2022). Furthermore, Silver (2022) suggested using a teacher curriculum supplemental framework as an analytical tool to understand the effects of using the supplemental curriculum on teachers and students. Likewise, Liu et al. (2021) researched inconsistent use of culturally relevant resources and inconsistent use of culturally relevant supplemental resources, and how a lack of theoretical clarity and consensus on the competence of attributes is a key hurdle in educator development. Arsal (2019), Nganga (2020), Silva (2022), Subasi Singh and Akar (2021) all shared professional development for teachers is needed to better understand cultural differences and various cultural components builds their multicultural pedagogy to better understand how to implement the pedagogy during instructional planning and in the selection of instructional resources for their classroom. While Muñiz (2019) and Nyachae (2021) both shared that teachers are able to access supplemental materials, but need more support in incorporating them into their regular instructional strategies in order for them to not cause disjointed instruction. Fowler et al. (2019) stated in

agreement that when students have more consistent culturally relevant supplemental material, it engages them to further work toward academic success and mastery. Williams et al. (2021) explained that with the increase of students with diverse backgrounds, teachers, must enhance their practices and skillset to meet the needs of each student. The researchers showed that with consistent course review as a part of an annual need's assessment, in conjunction with using the supplemental materials to effectively support the individual needs of students, that teachers can build a culturally sustaining pedagogy with culturally relevant resources and supplemental resources (Cruz et al., 2023; Williams et al., 2021). Therefore, professional development in accessing analyzing, and using supplemental culturally relevant resources can support the academic needs of students and support their engagement in reading across all content areas.

Professional Development: Teaching Reading in All Core Content Areas

Professional development for teachers that supports teaching reading in all core content areas also supports students of diverse backgrounds and experiences reach success and mastery in school. According to Svendsen (2020), McMaster et al. (2021) and Donegan and Wanzek (2021) through their research shared that many educators are unprepared to meet the needs of students with intensive to moderate reading needs. Svendsen

(2020) also shared that collaboration among various content areas also has a major positive influence on teacher professional development by discussing with peers the most beneficial practices and learning new strategies to support students with various reading abilities from a diverse ethnic background. With professional development in reading strategies across the core content areas, educators are more consistent with their usage of strategies to support student academic success and mastery of basic reading skills (McMaster et al., 2021). Teachers in this study (see McMaster et al., 2021) shared that professional development for reading strategies should not just be for English teachers, but for teachers of all content areas because students have to read and comprehend their content as well. Furthermore, Smith et al. (2021) and McMaster et al., 2021) both stated that it is critical for teachers to participate in professional learning to understand how the influence of background knowledge has on reading comprehension in students, and how to incorporate background knowledge and student discourse into the pre-teaching aspect of lessons to engage students and support their academic success and mastery. Smith et al. (2021) further explains that students use background knowledge and their connection to content along with fluency and decoding to comprehend a passage. Additionally, Stark et al. (2023) examined that students in the secondary content area classrooms further benefit from evidence-based literacy practices and explicit instructional practices to

enhance their literacy instruction. Stark et al. (2023) found that the most explicit instructional practices are infrequently utilized across all content areas; and some areas where students could benefit such as reading lengthier text, strategies were not used at all. Therefore, Capin et al. (2021), Stark et al. (2023) and Smith et al. (2021) shared the importance and positive impact that school-wide literacy models and related professional learning opportunities have on teachers' ability to support struggling readers. Correspondingly, Vaughn et al. (2022) and Capin et al. (2021) researched a distributed professional development model emphasizing reading comprehension and vocabulary practices across core content areas, and they found that students were able to engage in the material, expand their content knowledge, and reach higher levels of mastery with supports the teacher learned during their professional development. Lyon et al. (2021), and Wakeman et al. (2020) shared through their research an instructional model to teach reading and enhance reading comprehension skills with the use of a station teaching model. In this model, students are grouped by need and rotate through various learning activities that the teacher organizes to engage students in targeted individualized instruction in small groups, so the teacher can provide students with opportunities to extend their learning with more challenging texts in a student-managed system (Lyon et al., 2021; Stark et al., 2023; Wakeman et al., 2020). Wexler et al. (2022), Green, (2022) researched student

engagement in reading strategies and the use of various strategies impacting reading comprehension and high order thinking across content areas. Research findings are that teachers participating in professional learning to support their usage of reading instruction across the content areas engages students in reading for enjoyment and students making personal connections to the text they are reading (Green, 2022). Therefore, as teachers are employing reading across all content areas is important for them to participate regularly in professional learning to engage students in high yield strategies to support their academic success.

Recommendation #3: Campus and district leaders provide data-driven professional learning opportunities focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse.

The goal is for campus and district leaders providing culturally relevant supplemental resources. Professional development can provide a multitude of resources, strategies, and supports for educators. However, there is a continued gap in evidence and practice among certain areas such as data analysis. According to Popova et al. (2022) the attributes of the most effective teacher professional development is incentivizing the participation in professional learning, opportunities for teachers to practice new skills learned from professional development, and follow up once teachers return to the

classroom by instructional coaches and administration. With these attributes in mind, teachers found that training focused on regularly evaluating student data in literacy promoted a large-scale increase to student access to materials and student mastery on the concepts (Popova et al., 2022; Kerwin & Thornton, 2021). From the research shared in various studies teachers benefit greatly from follow up as well on professional learning Popova et al. (2022). Similarly, Sims and Fletcher-Wood (2021), examined weaknesses in professional development for teachers they shared that more effective professional development is when it is sustained, collaborative, subject specific, draws on external expertise, has buy-in from teachers, and is practice based. Sims and Fletcher-Wood (2021), argued that more progress can be made by educational leaders by putting more effort to identifying characteristics of effective professional development by looking for alignment between evidence from basic research on human skill acquisition and features of rigorously evaluated PD interventions. In addition to these attributes to developing a datadriven professional learning experience in data analysis Imants and Van der Wal (2020), stated that regular analysis of student data with campus and district stakeholders creates effective school reform and professional development that addresses students individualized needs. As another point, Fischer et al. (2020) and Kerwin and Thornton (2021) shared that the emergence of data-driven approaches supports decision making

and efforts to improve educational effectiveness. Fischer et al. (2020) included another layer to data analysis professional development by stating the following:

Digital traces of student behavior promise more scalable and finergrained understanding and support of learning processes, which were previously too costly to obtain with traditional data sources and methodologies. This synthetic review describes the affordances and applications of microlevel (e.g., clickstream data), meso level (e.g., text data), and macrolevel (e.g., institutional data) big data. For instance, clickstream data are often used to operationalize and understand knowledge, cognitive strategies, and behavioral processes in order to personalize and enhance instruction and learning.

Recommendation #3: Data-driven professional learning:

- Analyzing data
- Accessing diverse content
- Dramating student

There was also recognition of the importance of not only accessing, analyzing, and using data, but there is also an importance to include data privacy and protection in the professional development for staff. Fischer et al. (2020) and Kerwin and Thornton (2021) both explain that providing educators with a foundational

understanding of balancing data privacy and protection with data sharing and research also promotes teachers having the power to access resources that better suit the needs of their students. Therefore, data-driven professional development promotes the use of resources that are relevant to African American and Hispanic students' academic growth and achievement along with academic mastery.

Recommendation #4: Advisory board completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students

Last of all, I recommend development of an annual needs assessment by advisory board to ensure there is a level of efficacy with their recommendations to the school regarding teacher opportunities and student supports in reading. The goal is for campus and district leaders gaining stakeholder input about culturally relevant pedagogy and build strong community and family partnerships. Advisory board members would develop a survey that goes out to not only students, but to teachers and families. The survey would ask about professional learning opportunities for teachers, student engagement and motivation and also ask about resources provided to parents to support African American and Hispanic student reading success.

Recommendation #4: Annual Needs Assessment:

- Created and implemented by advisory board
- Continuous feedback to stakeholders

Needs Assessments in education is a process for identifying and understanding the needs of the educational organization or the gaps in practices to achieve a specific goal. According to Müller et al. (2020), annual needs assessments are an indicator of the competencies an organization has set forth as an educational focus. The annual needs assessment is a process that includes a variety of components. Müller et al. (2020) found that the majority of instruments rely on self-reported survey or inventory of data and very few tools collect data for across each area of focus. Jayaratne et al. (2021) added that a formal needs assessment identifies needs of students and the educational institution to promote student and educator success. Lemire et al. (2023) described evaluation approaches as the process of data collection used to assess a program, and two evaluators can find two different forms of data collection (quantitative or qualitative) valuable to assess the effectiveness of a program. Jayaratne et al. (2021) concluded that approaches to evaluation also consist of stakeholder consideration, input, and needs. While all program evaluation approaches consider the criteria itself

and criteria assessment, there are some differences with each approach.

In the objectives-based approach, objectives are at the forefront of the evaluation, and benchmarks are set that includes data collection and assessment of meeting benchmarks. Masini et al. (2020) explained that the benefits of the approach include its simplicity in understanding and implementation as well as keeping the evaluator focus on key characteristics of a program. Lemire et al. (2023) also stated that this process provides funders and reviewers with a step by step account of the program reflecting the goals, objectives, and outcomes. However, Masini et al. (2020) also explained that challenges included oversimplification of intricate details and the evaluator's cause to overlook program effects. Lemire et al. (2023) examined that the challenges with objectives-based approaches pertain to summative evaluation measures more than formative measures.

The decision-based approach focuses on questions about the data collected and the data collection process to meet the criteria. Lemire et al. (2023) explored this type of approach to a fourstep model where program directors ask questions in each category of context, input, process, and product of a program. This approach also includes a combination of formative and summative measures. As Lemire et al. (2023) explained, this approach benefits from using a variety of data collection tools such as surveys, questionnaires, interviews, or analyses of records. This

approach's challenges include asking the questions that align with each of the four steps of this approach and continued follow-up and communication with the program evaluation committee for review.

In participatory approaches, the criteria are based on stakeholders' perspectives and their perceptions of the program's purpose. Lemire et al. (2023) described some of the benefits: stakeholders that benefit from the program to assess data about the factors that would improve a program and encourage them to use their voice to contribute to program evaluation. The challenges of participatory approaches include that if used as the primary approach, funding sources may question how the criteria are met (Lemire et al., 2023; Müller et al., 2020).

Overall, as Müller et al. (2020) stated, that continuous needs assessment is an effective way to engage stakeholders and understanding their perceptions about the educational setting. Needs assessments serve as a way to connect the school stakeholders to families and community stakeholders.

Educational Benefits of the Recommendations

Using the recommendations from this study will directly benefit not just African American and Hispanic students' academic achievement, but they will benefit all students' academic achievement by providing teachers with professional learning opportunities, parents and community partners with

resources to support student success and mastery, and create a stronger collective commitment among internal and external stakeholders. Furthermore, stakeholders will gain insight to how to close the gaps in practice to support ethnically diverse students.

Goals of the Project for Campus and Building Leaders:

- Building teacher capacity to develop more teacher leaders
- Supporting further professional dialogue that is explicit to student voice and student data
- Providing culturally relevant supplemental resources
- Gaining stakeholder input about culturally relevant pedagogy and build strong community and family

Summary

The recommendations from this white paper are based on research findings from a basic qualitative study. The recommendations are: (a) campus and district leaders creating an advisory board to increase school to family and school to community partnerships to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students, (b) campus and district stakeholders build teacher capacity to provide professional learning in culturally relevant pedagogy using TeachFX or other learning platforms, (c) campus and district leaders provide data-driven professional learning opportunities

focused on analyzing data, accessing diverse content area supplemental materials, and promoting student discourse, and (d) advisory board completing an annual needs assessment to provide continuous feedback to the advisory board to support the academic success of African American and Hispanic students. Stakeholders at this district need to know about this gap in practice, understand the recommendations, and develop an action plan based on the recommendations to create positive academic and social change. Ultimately, it is campus and district leader's responsibility to use these recommendations as a guide to

develop their action steps to implement change in supporting the academic success and mastery of African American and Hispanic students. The benefits of following these recommendations included closing the gap in reading achievement among African American and Hispanic students compared to their European American and Asian American peers, increasing data-driven professional learning opportunities among teachers, and creating a positive social change in the collaboration and partnerships between the school and families and the school and community.

References

- Abacioglu, C. S., Volman, M., & Fischer, A. H. (2020). Teachers' multicultural attitudes and perspective taking abilities as factors in culturally responsive teaching. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(3), 736–752.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12328
- Barber, A. T., & Klauda, S. L. (2020). How reading motivation and engagement enable reading achievement: Policy implications. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 7(1), 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732219893385
- Baum, D. (2023). Conflict resolution and community change. In the Routledge *Handbook* of Collective Intelligence for Democracy and Governance (pp. 354-362).

 Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003215929
- Bremner, N., Sakata, N., & Cameron, L. (2022). The outcomes of learner-centered pedagogy: A systematic review. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 94, Article 102649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2022.102649
- Brown, B. A., Boda, P., Lemmi, C., & Monroe, X. (2019). Moving culturally relevant pedagogy from theory to practice: Exploring teachers' application of culturally relevant education in science and mathematics. *Urban Education*, *54*(6), 775-803. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085918794802
- Capin, P., Stevens, E. A., Stewart, A. A., Swanson, E., & Vaughn, S. (2021). Examining vocabulary, reading comprehension, and content knowledge instruction during fourth grade social studies teaching. *Reading and Writing*, *34*(5), 1143-1170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-020-10106-5

- Ciampa, K., & Reisboard, D. (2021). Books like me: An investigation of urban elementary teachers' journey toward more culturally relevant pedagogy. *Journal for Multicultural*, *13*(2), 128-147.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2005615X.2021.1919960
- Courtney, W. T., Hartley, B. K., Rosswurm, M., LeBlanc, L. A., & Lund, C. J. (2021).

 Establishing and leveraging the expertise of advisory boards. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, *14*(1), 253-263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-020-00503-1
- Cruz, R. A., Manchanda, S., Firestone, A. R., & Rodl, J. E. (2020). An examination of teachers' culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 43(3), 197–214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406419875194
- Daily, S. M., Mann, M. J., Kristjansson, A. L., Smith, M. L., & Zullig, K. J. (2019).
 School climate and academic achievement in middle and high school students.
 Journal of school Health, 89(3), 173-180. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12726
- Donegan, R. E., & Wanzek, J. (2021). Effects of reading interventions implemented for upper elementary struggling readers: A look at recent research. *Reading and Writing*, *34*(8), 1943-1977. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-021-10123-y
- Garner, J. K., Hathcock, S., Vasinda, S. V., & Brienen, R. B. (2021). Advisory board decision making as collective identity exploration. *International Journal of Complexity in Education*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.26262/ijce.v2i2.9473
- Green, M. (2022). HARK! Hands up who really loves their classroom reading program?

 TRI this: three approaches to reading instruction. *The Australian journal of language and literacy*, 45(2), 233-252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s44020-022-

00018-y

- Fagrell, P., Fahlgren, A., & Gunnarsson, S. (2020). Curriculum development and quality work in higher education in Sweden: The external stakeholder perspective.

 **Journal of Praxis in Higher Education, 2(1), 28-45.*

 https://doi.org/10.47989/kpdc62
- Fischer, C., Pardos, Z. A., Baker, R. S., Williams, J. J., Smyth, P., Yu, R., & Warschauer, M. (2020). Mining big data in education: Affordances and challenges. *Review of Research in Education*, 44(1), 130-160.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X20903304
- Fowler, S. A., Coleman, M. R. B., & Bogdan, W. K. (2019). The state of the special education profession survey report. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 52(1), 8-29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059919875703
- Imants, J., & Van der Wal, M. M. (2020). A model of teacher agency in professional development and school reform. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 52(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1604809
- Jayaratne, K. S., Collins, D. P., & McCollum, S. B. (2021). Early-career challenges of youth development extension educators and effective strategies. *Sustainability*, *13*(16), 9017. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13169017
- Jones, J., & Vari, T. (2019). Candid and compassionate feedback: Transforming everyday practice in schools. Routledge.
- Kaiser, J., Südkamp, A., & Möller, J. (2017). The effects of student characteristics on teachers' judgment accuracy: Disentangling ethnicity, minority status, and

- achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *109*(6), 871–888. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000156
- Kelly, L. B., Wakefield, W., Caires-Hurley, J., Kganetso, L. W., Moses, L., & Baca, E.
 (2021). What is culturally informed literacy instruction? A review of research in
 P–5 contexts. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 53(1), 75–99.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X20986602
- Kerwin, J. T., & Thornton, R. L. (2021). Making the grade: The sensitivity of education program effectiveness to input choices and outcome measures. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 103(2), 251-264. https://doi.org/10.1162/rest_a_00911
- Krawczyk, E. (2019). How can teachers increase discipline in their classrooms and deliver a linguistically and culturally adjusted education for diverse students? A message for pre-service and in-service teachers. *College Quarterly*, 22(2). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1221403.pdf
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2023). "Yes, but how do we do it?": Practicing culturally relevant pedagogy. *In White teachers/diverse classrooms* (pp. 33-46). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003448709
- Lemire, C., Rousseau, M., & Dionne, C. (2023). A comparison of fidelity implementation frameworks used in the field of early intervention. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 44(2), 236-252. https://doi.org/10.1177/10982140211008978
- Liu, J., Gill, E., & Li, S. (2021). Revisiting cultural competence. *The Clinical Teacher*, 18(2), 191-197. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13269
- Lyon, C., Hogan, E. K., & Kearns, D. M. (2021). Individualizing literacy instruction in

- co-taught classrooms through a station teaching model. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *56*(4), 224-232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220944376
- Masini, A., Marini, S., Gori, D., Leoni, E., Rochira, A., & Dallolio, L. (2020). Evaluation of school-based interventions of active breaks in primary schools: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, 23(4), 377-384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2019.10.008
- McMaster, K. L., Baker, K., Donegan, R., Hugh, M., & Sargent, K. (2021). Professional development to support teachers' implementation of intensive reading intervention: A systematic review. *Remedial and Special Education*, 42(5), 329-342. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932520934099
- Medina Coronado, D., & Nagamine Miyashiro, M. M. (2019). Autonomous learning strategies in the reading comprehension of high school students. *Journal of Educational Psychology: Propositos y Representaciones*, 7(2), 134–159. https://doi.org/10.20511/pyr2019.v7n2.276
- Medina, M. A., Cosby, G., & Grim, J. (2020). Community engagement through partnerships: Lessons learned from a decade of full-service community school implementation. In *Reviewing the Success of Full-Service Community Schools in the US* (pp. 128-146). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003010388
- Müller, F., Denk, A., Lubaway, E., Sälzer, C., Kozina, A., Perše, T. V., Rasmusson, M., Jugović, I., Lund Nielsen, B., Rozman, M., Ojsteršek, M., & Jurko, S. (2020).

 Assessing social, emotional, and intercultural competences of students and school staff: A systematic literature review. *Educational research review*, 29, 100304.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019.100304

- Muñiz, J. (2019). Culturally Responsive Teaching: A 50-State Survey of Teaching Standards. New America.
- Nyachae, T. M. (2021). Got diverse texts? Now what. Literacy Today, 37-39.
- Pack, S. M., & Peek, S. C. (2020). Engaging Students as Stakeholders through a Student Advisory Board. J. Phys. Educ, 7, 74-81.
 - https://www.academia.edu/48903603/Got_Diverse_Texts_Now_What_Teachers_as_Critical_Guides_in_the_Moment
- Peterson, E. R., Rubie-Davies, C., Osborne, D., & Sibley, C. (2016). Teachers' explicit expectations and implicit prejudiced attitudes to educational achievement:

 Relations with student achievement and the ethnic achievement gap. *Learning*and Instruction, 42, 123–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2016.01.010
- Popova, A., Evans, D. K., Breeding, M. E., & Arancibia, V. (2022). Teacher professional development around the world: The gap between evidence and practice. *The World Bank Research Observer*, *37*(1), 107-136.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkab006
- Ramos-Montañez, S., & Pattison, S. (2023). How Activity Frames Shape Situated Identity Negotiation: Theoretical and Practical Insights from an Informal Engineering Education Program. *In Science Identities: Theory, method and research* (pp. 333-357). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-17642-5_15
- Silver, D. (2022). A theoretical framework for studying teachers' curriculum

- supplementation. *Review of Educational Research*, 92(3), 455-489. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543211063930
- Sims, S., & Fletcher-Wood, H. (2021). Identifying the characteristics of effective teacher professional development: a critical review. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 32(1), 47-63. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2020.1772841
- Smets, W., & Struyven, K. (2020). A teachers' professional development programme to implement differentiated instruction in secondary education: How far do teachers reach? *Cogent Education*, 7(1), 1742273. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2020.1742273
- Smith, R., Snow, P., Serry, T., & Hammond, L. (2021). The role of background knowledge in reading comprehension: A critical review. *Reading Psychology*, 42(3), 214-240. https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2021.1888348
- Stark, K., Wexler, J., Shelton, A., Johnston, T. B., & Omohundro, K. (2023). Explicit and evidence-based literacy instruction in middle school: an observation study. *Reading and Writing*, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-023-10470-y
- Svendsen, B. (2020). Inquiries into Teacher Professional Development—What Matters? *Education*, 140(3), 111-130. https://hdl.handle.net/11250/2673809
- Switalski, T. (2023). How New York State creatively shifted the paradigm from managing troubled kids to engaging them. The Routledge Handbook of Collective Intelligence for Democracy and Governance.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003215929

Tanase, M. (2020). Is good teaching culturally responsive? *Journal of Pedagogical*

- Research, 4(3), 187-202. http://dx.doi.org/10.33902/JPR.2020063333
- Thomas, D., & Dyches, J. (2019). The hidden curriculum of reading intervention: A critical content analysis of Fountas & Pinnell's leveled literacy intervention.

 Journal of Curriculum Studies, 51(5), 601-618.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1616116
- Vaughn, S., Swanson, E., Fall, A. M., Roberts, G., Capin, P., Stevens, E. A., & Stewart,
 A. A. (2022). The efficacy of comprehension and vocabulary focused professional development on English learners' literacy. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 114(2), 257. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000684
- Wakeman, S. Y., Pennington, R., Cerrato, B., Saunders, A., & Ahlgrim-Delzell, L. (2020). Parent perceptions regarding literacy instruction for students with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 65(1): 86-98. https://doi.org/10.1111/jir.12795
- Wetzel, M. M., Vlach, S. K., Svrcek, N. S., Steinitz, E., Omogun, L., Salmerón, C.,
 Batista-Morales, N., Taylor, L. A., & Villarreal, D. (2019). Preparing teachers
 with sociocultural knowledge in literacy: A literature review. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 51(2), 138–157. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086296X19833575
- Wexler, J., Kearns, D. M., Lemons, C. J., Shelton, A., Pollack, M. S., Stapleton, L. M., Clancy, E., Hogan, E., & Lyon, C. (2022). Improving literacy instruction in cotaught middle school classrooms to support reading comprehension. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 68, 102040. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220944212

Williams, K. R., Weiss, M. P., & Baker, P. H. (2021). Using a culturally responsive lens in the revision of a core preparation course. *Journal of Special Education*Preparation, 1(2), 36-47. https://doi.org/10.33043/JOSEP.1.2.36-47

Appendix B: Interview Questions

Interview Questions and Correlation to Conceptual Framework -Freire's Critical Pedagogy Theory

Freire's critical pedagogy theory	
Freire critical pedagogy theory – exploring experiences of using attributes related to Freire	
Exploring understanding and perceptions of participants and phenomenon	
Freire critical pedagogy theory – exploring strategies to discern attributes related to Freire	
Freire critical pedagogy theory – exploring strategies to discern attributes related to Freire (each attribute is related to the conceptual framework)	
Freire critical pedagogy theory – exploring strategies to discern attributes related to Freire (sense of belonging and sense of community)	
Freire components of social and restorative justice	
Freire critical pedagogy theory – exploring strategies to discern attributes related to Freire (each attribute is related to the conceptual framework)	

Interview questions	Freire's critical pedagogy theory
 9. What other supports and resources are needed to support African American and Hispanic students? How would you describe the ideal supports and resources, if you could ask district and state leaders for anything to support African American and Hispanic students? 	Have you supplemented the curriculum to better support African American and Hispanic students?
10. What content or concepts do African American and Hispanic students have difficulty in connecting to or learning in the subject area of instruction?11. What recommendations do you have related to supporting the achievement of African American and Hispanic students?	Exploring understanding and perceptions of participants and phenomenon Understanding perceptions of needs to support gap in practice for African American and Hispanic students
 resources/materials reading curriculum teacher support professional development 	

Appendix C: A Priori Codes Connected to Freire's Theory and Scholarly Definition

a Priori code	Scholarly definition
Collaboration Real world connections	Students participating on their own learning outcomes to collaborate in discussions with peers and completing projects, while the teacher provides feedback and asks higher order questions (Giles & Yazan, 2023). Teachers should focus on the classroom being differentiated to address diverse learners and
Culturally relevant	support their connection to society (Henderson, 2023). Teachers recognize the importance and positive
·	impact to academic achievement of all students through culturally relevant practices in the classroom (Cegielski et al., 2023)
Student engagement	Whitney and Bergin (2018) found that there are various factors that contribute to student engagement and motivation, such as ethnicity, socio-economic status, and family support.
Discourse	Students have various motivating factors that promote their engagement in discourse within the classroom to further support their academic achievement and mastery (Decristan et al., 2023).
Preteaching/background knowledge	Smets and Struyven (2018) described how educational equity can be achieved by catering to the instructional needs of each student through making connections with previous lessons or units
Student choice/voice	and building academic language skills. Through conversation centers and collaboration with teachers and peers, students engage with text and rigorous conversation with other students (. et al., 2020).
Social justice/restorative practice/community building/allocation of resources	Jaber (2023) shares that texts with varied perspectives in society help students reflect on their own viewpoints and develop a consciousness of their voice and other viewpoints within the world.

Appendix D: Sample of Text Excerpts and a Priori Codes

Participant	Interview text excerpt	a Priori code
P1	We put students in groups based on their learning styles, but also based on how they scored on the test. That means our low-level students made high level collaborative groups so they can be in the collaboration pool to continue to communicate their learning processes.	Collaboration
P2	We've got to make sure that the materials, the textbooks, the things that we're talking about, represent their culture as well.	Culturally relevant
Р3	One strategy would be using a round robin, the students each take a turn on, if after we have read something, each of them taking on and sharing, something that struck them in the reading and each student taking a turn and sharing. Also, each student gets an opportunity to speak and share maybe something that stuck out to them reading that maybe someone else didn't think of.	Discourse
P4	I have a way to make it, relevant to them, I'm going to do that but there are going to be times where you're like, I'm just going have to teach you the vocabulary that goes with this concept.	Pre-teaching/ background knowledge
P5	I think culturally relevant resources and real-world connections help when it came to reading because the point is, is to get them to read. Selecting what to read as is that can be motivating or demotivating.	Real world connections
P6	Asking those real-world probing questions is important, but in addition it's very important to have a sense of community through community building activities in the classroom.	Social justice/ restorative practice/ community building/ allocation of resources
P7	I would love to and I wish that we could do more field trips. Students can see what's taking place go to a company, maybe a pharmaceutical company, or somewhere where they're actually doing chemistry, and they can see these things taking place. Also, field trips and guest speakers could help them to, you know, their terms of career as well and see that that's a potential you know, so I would say field trips if we could do that. But it's so difficult to do that, you know, it's so difficult to plan those things and do those things in science due to various reasons.	Social justice/ restorative practice/ community building/ allocation of resources
P8	For student voice, there is plenty of room for student voice, but not as much for student voice. During COVID I forced them to engage with feedback that forced them to engage with their experiences with the content like that's just a norm. Everything was discourse driven in my class.	Student choice and voice
P9	Student voice and choice, I think is very, very important. I know in my classroom in terms of student voice and choice is that when we do various problems, I give them maybe three ways to maybe solve a problem to you and of course to get to a solution, but I also give my students the autonomy, the to express themselves in their ways.	Student choice and voice
P10	So, there are times where I may drop one past or personal experiences in order to do some pre teaching. There are times where I may give a reading or a text. In order for them to do that a pre read in order for them to build vocabulary. Sometimes it's even just to pull out or provide background information about something that we're getting ready to do to build their engagement. Other times I may ask a thought-provoking question. Which will get them intrigued and start to sometimes dig into or go research themselves or in the material.	Student engagement

Appendix E: Coding Table

Themes	Categories	Examples of codes
(1) Teachers use of culturally relevant pedagogy and differentiated practices	Culturally relevant pedagogy and practice, Professional learning for teachers to develop instructional practices and selection of resources	Culturally relevant, culturally relevant practices, collaboration, academic success/ mastery, feedback, instructional strategies: culturally relevant instruction, social emotional,
(2) Teachers emphasize the need for opportunities for student engagement	Opportunity for student engagement in collaboration, discourse with teacher and peers, social and emotional development, social justice	Discourse, pre-teaching/background knowledge, real world connections, student choice and voice, student engagement, academic success/mastery classroom community cross curricular connection feedback, instructional strategies: grouping, instructional strategies: tools, scaffolding, social emotional, student needs
(3) Teachers need of support from district and campus stakeholders	Support from building and district administration in providing teachers with meaningful supplemental resources to promote equitable access, Professional learning and instructional support	Resources, administrative support, classroom community, feedback, instructional strategies: coaching, professional development: data analysis
(4) Teacher support needed in developing and promoting family and community partnerships	Promoting school and community partnership: school to home partnership and school to community partners	Classroom community, social justice/ restorative practice/ community building/ allocation of resources, cross curricular connection, family & community connection, feedback, instructional strategies: coaching, instructional strategies: culturally relevant instruction